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PUBLISHERS' PREFACE.

The History of the Louisiana Purchase Exposition is the
result of an effort, extending over more than two years, to
prepare a volume that should adequately describe and illus-
trate the greatest of all great Universal Expositions. Nothing
exactly similar had been attempted in connection with pre-
vious World’'s Fairs. There were no rules or precedents to
guide the publishers of the History. Only a deep-rooted
faith that the Saint Louis Exposition would prove to be
greater than any of its predecessors, and that public interest
in its lessons and achievements would not wane at once,
justified the undertaki
founded was demonst
couragement which tl
received from For
State Commissioners
itors, Concessionaires,
tion Officials and th
public, as soon as it
before them. To thc
moral and financial sug
made the publication
History possible, the
of the publishers are
extended.

The publishers desi
here publicly their co:
of the earnest endeavo
not properly be inclu
volume, but whose
supreme importance in the preparation and production of
the History. First among these should be mentioned the
members of the Woodward & Tiernan Printing Company of
Saint Louis, and the heads of tlie various departments of
their establishment, into whose hands was committed the
entire mechanical production of the largest book ever
published west of the Mississippi River and, as the pub-
lishers believe, the most profusely illustrated volume ever

published anywhere. Only a perfectly-equipped and per-
fectly-organized house could have accomplished the gigantic
task of making the engravings, setting the type, printing
and binding so large a book, and doing all in the highest
possible style of the printer's art, within the brief space
of four months, the time actually occupied in the printing
of the History. Without the most enthusiastic co-operation
from such a source, the work of the many months of col-
lecting and preparing material would have gone for naught.
Among others whose efforts proved invaluable, the pub-
ess their appreciation of the
Ir. Arthur Buchanan, Mr.
o A. Sontag and Mr. Thomas
Sturges, to whose efforts are
much of the interest in and
port of the enterprise by
reign and State Commis-
1ers and others.
The result of these labors
ffered to those who visited
World’s Fair as something
more than a mere memento
of a pleasant holiday. To
the less fortunate, who failed
to see the Exposition, it is
offered as something besides
ity. In the belief that the
i something more than a nine-
lucation and an inspiration,
the effects and influences of which will be permanent, far-
reaching and ever-increasing; that it was an embodiment of
ideas and ideals worthy of preservation and perpetuation; an
epoch-marking incident in the forward march of mankind and,
as such, entitled to record in the archives of humanity, the
History of the Louisiana Purchase Exposition is offered to
the public as a brief epitome of the world’s progress and
achievement, by the publishers, the

UNIVERSAL EXPOSITION PUBLISHING COMPANY,

Saint Louis, May 1, 1905.

FrRaNK PARKER STOCKBRIDGE,
General Manager.
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INTRODUCTION.

3v WALTER B. STEVENS,

SECRETARY oF THE EXrosiTioN aAND DIRECTOR OF EXPLOITATION.

Wit PERSONAL SKETCHES BY SAMUEL WILLIAMS.

AN a Universal Exposition be measured before the
palaces of plaster have begun to crumble? A genera-
tion was necessary to see the impetus to manufacturing
industries in America given by the Centennial Exposition. In
the last half of the decade following the Columbian Exposition
came the earliest realization of what stimulus to the artistic
sense in the Middle West that Exposition had been. DBefore
the substance fades, the Louisiana Purchase Exposition is
being judged.

It was great—in length and width of area twice that of
the World’s Fair of 1893.

It had fifty per cent more acreage under roof. It cost
twice as much.

Expansion of the United States found expression in par-
ticipation by forty-three States, five Territories and all the
territorial possessions save Hawaii. This participation cost
$9,346,677. Ten years ago forty-one States and two Terri-
tories expended on a World’s Fair $5,539.428, and the United
States was proud of the showing.

Respect for a world power showed itself in the presence at
this Exposition of sixty-two foreign nations and colonies and
in the expenditure of $8,134.500. This expenditure does not
take into consideration that of private exhibitors from foreign
countries, but only the amounts expended by the foreign
governments, At Chicago, in 1893, were represented forty-
five foreign nations and colonies by expenditures aggregating
$5,082,894. Paris in 1900 had no approach to this degree of
universality. Foreign participation there was limited to fifty
countries. :

Financial results of this Universal Exposition were satis-
iactory. It has come to be the accepted condition of these
enterprises that they do not return dividends in cash. Expo-
sitions are ‘‘time-keepers of progress,” ‘‘milestones of civil-
ization,” not money-makers. The capital invested looks to
indirect, but not to inadequate, returns. If an exposition pays
its way in operation, makes to the greatest good of the greatest
number, then the individual, the corporation, the government,
the municipality, consider the trial balance satisfactory. So
judged, the Universal Exposition of 1go4 passes into history
as having been eminently successful.

The capital was $15,000,000, contributed in thirds by the
United States Government, by the municipality of Saint Louis
and by individual and corporation stockholders forming the
Louisiana Purchase Exposition Company. This capital was
invested permanently. It was the endowment of a great
institution for the public benefit.

The revenue from various sources amounted to $11,500,000,
the chief of these yielding as follows:

Admission collections . . . . $6,250,000
Concession collections . . . . . . . . . 3,000,000
Intramural railroad fares. . . . . . . . 627,473
Service, power and light receipts . . . . 600,000

Interest on deposits. . . . . . . . . .$ 125,000
Transportation Department collections . . 165,000
Music Department receipts . . . . . . . 82,871
Premiums on souvenir coins . . . . . . 67,000
The expenditures of the management to the close of the
Exposition aggregated $25,000,000, leaving a surplus sufficient
to meet the necessities of the post-exposition period, econoni-
ically administered. The principal disbursements were clas-
sified as follows:
Construction, grounds and buildings . . $17,177.864
Maintenanceandrents . . . . . . . . 1,720,249

Division of Exhibits . . . . . . . . . 2,086,580
Division of Exploitation . . . . . . . 1,305,792
Protection, police, fire, insurance .. . . 1,014,220
Division Concessions and Admissions - 544,650
Executive and Administrative . . . . . 402,441
Division of Transportation . . . . , . 260,446

Four-fifths of the expenditure of the Exposition was for
the buildings and grounds. Of the $11,500,000 earned the
sum of $9,250,000 was from admissions and concessions. The
cost of the collection of this revenue barely exceeded $500,000.
The handling of the revenues was a model in methods of
economy and exactness for all expositions to come.

This financial showing does not take into consideration
one of the largest items of receipts and of corresponding
outgo. To the investment should be added a loan of $4,600,-
000 by the United States Government, advanced in addition
to the original $5.000,000 appropriated. To the disburse-
ments must be added the return of this exact amount to the
Government from the revenues of the Exposition period in
strict compliance with the letter and spirit of the Act of
Congress. No previous World's Fair has shown such fault-
less financial conduct.

The years will tell how deeply have been made the
impressions of the Universal Exposition of 1904. There are
some surface conclusions and deductions which can be drawn
now. A second time in a generation the world has come into
the interior of this country, a thousand miles from the sea-
board, to a Universal Exposition. It has come with skepticism;
it has remained to marvel; it has gone away to praise.

In the early spring a writer came across the water to send
back to the Old World belittling accounts of what he saw.
He wrote of Saint Louis and of the opening of the World's
Fair as one might who had remained at the Atlantic seaboard
feeding his imagination with “American Notes™ and ‘“Martin
Chuzzlewit.”” This was one discordant note. There came
afterwards the representatives of newspapers in every capital
of Europe. From leading cities on both hemispheres flocke
the members of the press. :

The treatment of the IExposition by fifty-two thousand
seven hundred and six writers who came and saw has been that
which will inure to its lasting glory. It neither boomed nor
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X HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE EXTOSITION.

discredited. It was fair, discriminating, just. Itcametardily eve. Not merely progress in industrial art since the World’s “:ertt
for effect upon attendance. The Exposition was three months Fair of 1893 was marked, but advance since 19oo was shown L“\krA
old before it was accepted three hundred miles away at face in comparisons with the Palace of Industries at Paris. pmg-r;
value, The heart of the Mississippi Valley was not exactly From “Old Ironsides” to “‘Saint Louis,” the history of b“nm
Nazareth out of which no good thing could come, but it was the steam locomotive in this country was told in the exhibits perréi‘
an unknown land, and the ability of its people to produce of the Transportation Department. Its first successful chapter baﬂ‘IS.
such an Exposition was doubted long after the gates were wastlie crude and clumsy product of 1831, This was strik- o
opened. The ripples from this center of interest grew larger, ingly similar to the ’lanet which George Stephenson invented I;;;M
spread farther and farther, gradually shocking apathy and in England a year or two earlier, a model of which was r;;
overwhelming incredulity. It was not until the waning days shown. In the group of earlier inventions was a model ;}p;
of late autumn that wise ones journeyed numerously from the of the locomotive which Napoleon’s engineer, Cugnot, fash- .
Far East to exclaim that the ioned in 1792, and which Fond
half had not been told then. upon its initial trial on the e
The Exposition grew upon streets of Paris became un- e
the world as a discovery, a manageable, butted into the .
matter of marvel. It passed church La Madeleine and ) éi;
into history with a practi- was condemned as a device of der
cally unanimous verdict by Satan. ‘“The Spirit of the -
writers as the greatest of Twentieth Century,” weigh- 04
Expositions, as better en- ing two hundred thousand S
titled to be called a Univer- pounds, turning slowly upon -
sal Exposition than was any a great steel tumtable, with an
of its predecessors. drivewheels revolving, with The
electric headlight penetrating "
the remotest recesses of the oz
Under far-spreading roofs great building, with mechan- wr

of the Palaces of Manufac- ism running noiselessly,

tures and Varied Industries completed the history. But

nine hundredindustries found
expression. Miles of aisles
were bordered by exhibits
utilitarian and exhibits artis-
tic. The House Beautiful,
the Home Comfortable, the
Thing Useful and the Person
Adorned were exemplified.
Two lessons were taught to
the thousands of visitors
who daily wandered over
the twenty-eight acres em-
braced within these two
buildings. The luxuries of
life for the few in the Nine-
teenth Century may become
the utilities of life for the
many in the Twentieth. The
artistic and the beautiful are
no longer beyond the reach
of those moderately circum-
stanced.

New wants were born in
millions of minds as the
means to meet them passed
in countless review, Dis-
criminating judges consid-
ered the displays in the two
hundred and thirty classes

of exhibits of this depart-
ment, When their work was
completed more than seven
thousand grand prizes and

WILLIAM McKINLEY.
Twenty-fifth President of the United States. Born January 29, 1843. Died September 14, 1901.

A PROCLAMATION,

Whereas, notice has been given me by the Louisiana Purchase Exposition Commission,
in accordance with the provisions of Section 9 of the Act of Congress, approved March 3,
1901, entitied " An Act To provide for celebrating the one hundredth anmiversary of the
Purchase of the Loussiana Territory by the United States by hoiding am international
exhibition of arts, induslries, manwfactures, and the products of the soil, mine, forest
and sea 1w the City of Sasnt Louis, in the Stateof Missouri," that provision has been made
for grounds and buildings for the uses provided for in the satd Act of Congress:

Now, therefore, [, William McKinley, President of the United States, by virtue of the
authoritly vestedin me by sasd Act,do heredy declare and prociaim that such [ntermational
Evhidition will be opened tn the City of Saint Louis, tn the Stateof Missours, not later
than the first day of May, nineteen hundred and three, and will beclosed not later than the
Sirst day of December thereafter. Andinthenameof the Government and of the people of
the United Siates, I do hereby invite all the nations of the earth to take part in the com-
memoration of the Purchaseof the Louisiana Territory, an event of greaf swterest to the
United Stales and of abiding effect on their development, by appoinling represeniatives
and sending such exhibils to the loursiana Purchase Exposition as will most fitly and fully
Tllustrate their vesources, thesr smdusiries, and their progress in crvilization.

In testimony whereof, I have hereunlo set my hand and caused the seal of the United
States to be affirved.

Done at the City of Washinglon, this twenlieth day of August,in theyear one thousand
nine hundred and one, and of the Independence of the United States, the one hundred and
twenty-sixth, .

[SEAL.) WILLIAM McKINLEY,

By the President:

JOHN HAY, Secretary of State.

the record was not without
forecast. Week after week,
month after month, from the
opening to the closing of the
Exposition, the latest prod-
ucts of the locomotive
builders of this and other
countries were submitted to
tests, scientific and practical.
Coal was weighed. Ash was
measured. Steam was
gauged. Speed and power
were recorded. The iron
horse has reached his maxi-
mum growth. His future
development is the refining
and perfecting process. The
locomotive tests of the Uni-
versal Exposition, conducted
under the most perfect con-
ditions and under the closest

technical supervision, willbe

the standards to guide the
builders for years to come.

Wherein will this Expo-
sition stand for lasting influ-
ence and practical benefit ?
In the tests and competitions
of various kinds conducted
publicly and by unbiased
experts. In the Mining

medals had been awarded for the superior excellence of Gulch were carried on throughout the Exposition tests of coal.
things which contribute to comfort of body and to pleasure of The products of the fields North and South, East and West
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INTRODUCTION. xi

were brought in carload lots. Day and night the fire burned.
Under the supervision of the United States Government the
progress of consumption was studied in all of its stages and
bearings. Results of the coal tests will constitute a record of
permanent value for many years to come.

Six months before the Exposition opened model dairy
bams built upon the most approved plans for such construc-
tion and with the latest improved devices were occupied.
Besides them were silos filled with milk-producing forage
crops. The dairy tests, according to closely defined conditions
and under rigid rules, began in December, 1go3. They con-
tinued throughmany months.

Food was measured. Tem-
perature and appearance of
the cows were noted day by
day. Milk product was
weighed. Cream, butter and
cheese came under critical
examination by experts as
to quantity and guality.
Successively the barns were
occupied by representative
animals of various breeds.
The findings were based
upon perhaps the most
elaborate dairy tests ever
conducted in this country.

Under scientific auspices
balloons containing delicate
instruments were sent up to
obtain records of tempera-
ture, of currents and of
other upper air conditions

which will add to the knowl-
edge of ®rostatics. Associ-
ated with these ascensions
were kiteflying experiments
and ®roplane trials. While
no navigator of the air was
able to meet the conditions
for the $r100,000 airship
prize, a new world's record,
well in advance of what had
been done, was made in
dirigible ballooning.
Processes rather than

of power-makers. The heaviest single exhibit required one
hundred cars, hauled by .three engines. It weighed three
thousand three hundred and twenty-five tons. In thesixteen
boilers of this exhibit were fourteen miles of four-inch tubes,
presenting two acres of heating surface. Yet this exhibit was
ouly one and a small part of the power plant required to make
the innumerable wheels go round. Steam was generated in a
building of fireproof material about three hundred feet square.
It reached the engines, occupying a space six hundred feet
long in another building, being carried in great pipes through a
tunnel. The power created represented the combined strength
of forty thousand horses. It
was needed. A single process
in the Department of Manu-
factures was a coniplete cot-
ton mill, eighty-one feet long
and sixty-nine feet wide.
Marvelous performances of
the machinery were shown
in weaving, in shoemaking
and in scores of mechanisms.
Twice the power provided at
Paris in 1900 and threetimes
that required at Chicago,
1893, proved to be none too
much in the Universal Expo-
sition of 190o4. The value
of the exhibits in the Depart-
ment of Machinery exceeded
$8,000,000. They demon-
strated the wonderful pro-
gress in creation of power.
The prime movers of half a
dozen countries worked side
by side in competition.

If travel is educational
how shall be estimated the
benefits afforded the almost
twenty millions of visitors
by the Philippine Exposi-
tion, occupying thirty-five
acres and including in epit-
ome, the resources, the in-
dustries, the government

Copyrighuea 3000, by ¢ % it oot o anid the life of the Archi-

products, which it was pro-
claimed should distinguish
the plan and scope of this
Universal Exposition, were
conspicuous in every depart-

PRESIDENT THEODORE ROOSEVELT.

From the death of President McKinley, September 14, 1001, his successor, President
Roosevelt, was as pronounced and earnest as President McKinley had been in commending
the Louisiana Purchase Exposition to public favor, and in lending all proper official aid to
insureits success. Heimproved every opportunity in his messagces to Congress to aid the
enterprise and, by executive measures and diplomatic efforts, to manifest to other countries
the great intercst taken by the United States Government in making this Exposition the
greatest of World’s Fairs.” This unflagging interest was shown in the Government’s great

pelago; by Jerusalem with
its reproduction of the sacred
and historic structures of
the Holy City ; by the Tyrol
with its Alpine scenery; by

ment. Wireless telegraphy rules adopte

and splendid participation—in adding a 1oan of $4.600,000 to a gift of $5.000.000 in the liberal .
tfto facilitate the use of this money, and in President Roosevelt's personal the Kraal from S outh

. . participation in the dedication exercises. His dedication address was worthy of the occa- .
was illustrated by dail y sion and of a Chief Magistrate of the Great Republic. Hesenthischildren and afterwards A frica: by the Cliff Dwelling
. . came with Mrs. Roosevelt to see the Exposition, and every word from his lips during these ’
operation of the mechanism visits evinced bis appreciation of the great public scwdercd by the men who made it. commumty : by the Bazaars

in the Department of Elec-
tricity. Under the observation of judges officially appointed
messages were transmitted three hundred miles. The suc-
cessful sending of &rograms short distances, from one to ten
miles, was demonstrated in countless instances. Transmis-
sion of sound without wire was shown to be possible. Rays of
light for medicinal purposes were produced in several forms.
It was this policy of processes which filled to overflowing
the great palaces and which demanded such an assembling

of Stamboul; by the Streets

of Cairo; by India; by Fair Japan; by the Chinese Village!
If the proper study of mankind is man what shall be said

of the opportunities afforded by object lessons such as the
Pygmies of Central Africa; the massive Patagonians; the
polite Ainus, original people of Japan; the Vancouver
Islanders with their wealth of folk lore; the Igorrotes; the
Negritos; the Visayans; the Moros; the Esquimaux; the Cliff
Dwellers; the representatives of seventy tribes of Indians!
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xii HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE

If there is satisfaction ‘in-close acquaintance with historic
and typical national architecture, among the benefits of the
Exposition must be taken into account the Castle of Char-
lottenberg, reproduced by Germany; the Grand Trianon,
reconstructed in the midst of a French Garden ; the palace of

EXPOSITION.

grounds having hundreds of employes and thousands of guests
was one of the unusual features. The collection of Filipino
villages and camps housed a permanent community equal
to a small city. The colonies of primitive people spread
over many acres and numbered several hundreds of persons.

a prince of the royal family of China:
quaint surroundings after the landscape methods of two cen-
the Villa of Italy:
the temple of Ceylon; the chilet of Switzerland; the Imperial
the home of Holland;
mansion of Sweden; the sacred edifice of Siam;

turies ago;
structures of Japan:

acteristic structures of Span-
ish America, If there is
inspiration in the lowly
homes of some of the
world’s greatest men, then
among the cherished mem-
ories of the Louisiana ur-
chase Exposition will be the
cottage of Robert Bums;
the cabin in whicli Abraham
Lincoln, a boy of ten, lived;
the log house erected by
General Grant, built in his
earlier manhood; the ranch
cabin of Theodore Roosevelt
during his wild western
health-seeking experiences.
If historic sentiment is
worthy of cultivation in
these later days, let it be
recalled that the Exposition
included in its construction
many buildings which helped
to familiarize this genera-
tion with the past. Notable
were the New Jersey tavern

wlere Washington had his’

headquarters during one of
the memorable campaigns
of the Revolution ; the honie
of Swedenborg, founder of a
religious philosophy; the
. Hermitage, associated with
Jackson; Monticello, the
pride of Thomas Jefferson;
the Beauvoir, of Jefferson
Davis; the colonial man-
sions of Connecticut, Rhode
Island and Massachusetts.

During the one hundred
and eighty-four days of the
Exposition’s existence there
passed through the turn-
stiles and were counted nine-
teen million six hundred and

ninety-four thousand eight

hundred and fifty-five per-
sons. These figures do not

comprise. the census of the Exposition's population,
far exceeding any preceding World’s Fair encouraged condi-
tions which were without .precedent,

the Orangery with its
the Town Hall of Belgium;

the country
the char-

DAVID ROWLAND FRANCIS.

The President of the Louisiana Purchase Exposition Company was born at Richmond,
Madison County, Kentucky, October 1, 1850, son of John B. and Eliza Caldwell [Rowland]
Francis. His father was descended from the carly Kentucky settlers and his mother from
David Irvine, one of the Scomsh colonists of Virginia. His grandfather, Thomas Francis,
was a soldier in the war of 1812, lle received his early education in the Richmond
Academy, and after removing to Saint Louis, Missouri, in 1866, entered Washington Univer-
sity, where he was graduated in 1870. lHe entered commercial life as a clerk in the
commission and wholesale grocery house of Shryock & Rowland, the junior partner being
his uncle, and gradually ascended until he was given an intercst in the business. In 1877
he established an independent commission business, and seven years latér founded the
firm of D. R. Francis & Brother, entering into the exportation of grain. Though one of the
youngest members of the Smnt Louis Merchants’ Exchange, Mr. Francis was made Pres-
ident of that body in 1884. He is identified with many important business institutions of
Saint Louis, being a Director of the Mississippi Valley Trust Company, and Vice.Pres-
ident ot the Merchants’-Laclede National Bank. With many charities he is also closely
identified, In 1885, Mr, Francis was the Democratic candidate for Mayor of Saint Louis,
and in spite of an adverse majority of fourteen thousand at the preceding election, he was
successfully seated by a majority of twelve hundred. In 1888, he was elected by the Dem-
ocratic party as Governor of Missotiri. In 1896, he was called to the Cabinet o{ President
Cleveland, as Secretary of the Interior, and discharged the duties of that position with
the same_ energy and thoughtfulness previously displayed. When the Saint Louis
World’s Fair was first considered, Governor Francis was called by common consent and
absolute unanimity to head this gigantic enterprise. Entirely without _compensation, he
devoted a very large part of his time to the work of the Saint lLouis Exposition: and so
thoroughly and systematically organized it that success was assured from the beginning.
Governor Francis was married at Saint Louis, January, 1876, to Jennie, daughter of John
D. Perry. of Saint Louis, aud has six sons.

A site

A hotel within -the

came from the four quarters of the globe.
exposition has passed with so few casualties.
to be added that a minimum criminal record was made.

Within their camps the British and Boers dwelt in harmony
by night as well as by day.
the Fire Department were intramural contingents, having
no occasion to pass the gates when off duty.
camps and barracks accommodated visiting bodies numbering,
at times, several thousand uniformed men.

The Jefferson Guard and
Military

The Pike was an
avenue of a mile on which
communities from all parts
of the world had their abid-
ing places for the Exposition
period. There were other
elements of this permanent
population. Many of the
buildings erected by Foreign
Governments, States and
Territories, had their sleep-
ing and living rooms as well
as the public accommoda-
tions. Commissioners,
officers and employes seldom
left the grounds.

When the music ceased,
when the lights went out,
when the Forest City rested,
it was still a community of
souls; many thousands re-
mained within the gates.
The functions of a munici-
pality did not lapse.

During the official hours
of the Exposition the popu-
lation averaged much more
than one hundred thousand
persons daily. When the
gates were closed the popu-
lation rarely fell below
twenty thousand. This resi-
dent population is to be
taken into consideration for
more than its relation to the
aggregate of attendance.
The presence gave to this
Exposition a character of
its own, The two square
miles of territory for seven
months was a city of one
hundred thousand and more
by day and of twenty thou-
sand after midnight. Some
wonderful facts of this
World's Fair community are
to be recorded. Not a case of
contagious disease of serious
character was reported, not-
withstanding the residents
No universal

It remains

An
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INTRODUCTION. xiii

intramural railroad of fifteen miles transported nearly six
million seven hundred and fiity thousand passengers without
serious accident to one of them. The utilities for a great
gathering never failed. The provisions for safety as well
as for comfort were adequate.

The morale of this World’s Fair community is worthy of
mention. On a balmy spring day, the last of April, the
invocation of the opening ceremonies ended with The Lord's
Prayer while one hundred and eighty-seven thousand people
stood reverent with bowed heads. At midnight of the first
day of December the lights died away for the last time while
a vast dark mass of humanity
in expressive silence filled the
Plaza of Saint Louis. From
the first to the last of those
scenes one reads the history
of this Universal Exposition
in vain if he seeks for un-
worthy demonstrations.
There have been great Expo-
sitions where fences were torn
down to gain entrance, where
riotous acts characterized the
closing hours; where panics
led to much suffering ; where
a holocaust or a shocking
crime has cast gloom over all,
The Universal Exposition of
1go4 was exceptionally, re-
markably free from disorders
and untoward incidents. The
seasons favored. DPeriods of
ideal weather with bright skies
and moderate temperature pre-
vailed far beyond the average
duration.

Analysis of the attendance
justifies several conclusions.
Two elements were especially
notable. No other exposi-
tion, universal, technical or
local drew such a large pro-
portion of its attendance from
students, school children and

not sustained at Saint Louis. A larger proportion of the
attendance than experience promised came from a consider-
able distance. A canvass by railroads and by communities
showed that many cities, towns and localities about the same
distance from Saint Louis and Chicago sent much larger
numbers of visitors to this Exposition than they did to the
Columbian.  Attendance from other countries was much
greater at Saint Louis than at Chicago. Pacific slope States
sent to this Exposition perhaps three times as many visitors
as they did to Chicago. New York attendance was better at
Chicago. Pennsylvania, Ohio and Indiana attendance was
better at Saint Louis.

Of the twenty-seven million
visitors to the Chicago Exposi-
tion it was estimated that
sixty-five per cent was local.

Of the twenty million visit-
ors at Saint Louis, the railroad
statistics showed that about
forty per cent was local. That
is to say, Chicago furnished
more than seventeen million
five hundred thousand visitors
to the Columbian Exposition,
while Saint Louis gave but
eight millions to her Exposi-
tion. It is not improbable
that the percentages of local
attendance at the two exposi-
tions were even wider apart
than the estimates given.

The rules of Exposition
attendance were broken at
Saint Louis in other respects
than on local percentages. In
May and the first half of June,
the attendance, which was
almost wholly local, fell short
of what it should have been
when compared with August
and September figures. The
October attendance was not
what it should have been,
applying exposition experience

teachers. No other Exposi-
tion has been studied as this
by bodies of students, by
schools and by classes in
company with instructors.
From the middle of June to
the Thanksgiving holidays the
presence of the student and of
the teacher was a marked
feature of the attendance.
Next to schools of all kinds,

WILLIAN I1. THOMPSON.

Mr. W, 1{. Thompson, President of the Natiogml Bank of Commerce, a man of long
established reputation and personal influence in Saint Louis business circles, was the
Samson of the preliminary work of raising $5.000,000 _hy popular subscription and
securing a municipal subseription of $5.000,000 niore, The further prosecution of the
Exposition enterprise depended absolutely on the raising of a responsible local sub.
scription of $10,000,000, which most Saint J.ouisans considered impossible until it was
done. Thenceforward to the end, as Treasurer of the Company, Chairman of its
Grounds and Buildings Conunittee and Vice-Chairman of its Executive Committee,
Mr. Thompson continued to be a power in its councils, with 2 comprehensive grasp
of the details and trend of its affairs, a clear-sighted, broad-minded_and trusted adviser
in all emergencies. e drove the center stake at the ceremonial beginning of the
grounds and buildinks operations September 3, 1901, and when the Exposition was
brought to a grandly triumphant closiny on December 1, 1904, President Francis and
his other colleagues secmed eaer to accord a wiant’s share of the credit to him. Mr.
Thompson was born in lluntingdon, Pennsylvania, October 13, 1830, and began as a
plumber in Saint Louis in 1853, e established a lead pipe and sheetlead manufactory
11 1864, organized the Missouri I.ead and Qil Company in 181, and became P’resident
of the Bank of Commerce in 1883. He was President of the Saint Louis ;as Company,
and is still officially connected with scores of financial and business concerns.

to September attendance. But
November was a most gratify-
ing surprise.

The Exposition was im-
mense. It was grandas a
whole. It was beautiful in
detail. This verdict the visit-
ing millions rendered with
enthusiastic unanimity. The
architectural picture first
amazed and then charmed.

the element in attendance was notably the agricultural. The The scene southward from the Louisiana Monument, embrac-

farmers and planters became a distinguishable feature about
midsummer. In September and October they were present

ing the Grand Basin, the classic facades of Education and
Electricity, the Cascades in motion, the majestic Colonnade

in great numbers.

Perhaps a study of causes is not profitable, but the fact
may be stated that the rule of the radius in exposition
attendance was not borne out in this Exposition. The
usual division between the local and distant attendance was

of States, with the gem of all—Festival Hall—in this setting,
will live as long as memory abides in those who saw it.
The music of the famous bands, of the orchestra swayed by
Komzak, of the greatest of organs responsive to Guilmant,
will be recalled in years to come. The stately maples, the
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will be an experience treasured to the end.

But what shall the Universal Exposition inspire? In
magnitude, in participation, in number and character of
exhibits it was far in advance of its predecessors. The
competition of the world was passed upon by a jury system
superior to any yet devised. The forty thousand awards of
the exhibitors stand for excellence and superiority which
cannot be questioned.

Justification for an exposition is, in part, the measure of
progress established from the preceding milestone.  Since
1893 the United States has moved up to a new relative posi-
tion among the nations in naval and military strength. Two
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years hence, with the continuance of the present rate f
- —mce the U'nited States will rank third in naval nowae.

WALTER B. STEVENS.

The election of Walter B. Stevens as Secretary at the organization of the Exposition
Company was a recognition of eminent fitness and also of effective services rendered
by him as the most influential member of the corps of press correspondents at Washington
City. Modest and shy of publicity for himself, tgc multifarious duties of Secretary made
him not only the Director of the Publicity Department but the trusted assistant and repre.
sentative of President Francis in all Exposition affairs, and especially in directing and
pushing the world-wide work of exploitation, which eventually devolved on him to such
an extent that he was elccted Director of Exploitation as well as Secretary. How he
went through it all without breaking down was a mystery to those aware of the constant
strain of the onerous details in his dealings with the army of World's Fair officials, com-
mittees and commissioners; dictating directions and essays for publication on all sorts of
matters; explaining or facilitating things for the ever-present newspaper people, and
appearing with graceful and efiective addresses at official functions and banquets, dal?
and nightly. But he filled all his assignments without a single failure, even when sud-
denly called on to take the place of a missing orator; addressing press associations and
commercial conventions ; accompanying Saint Louis delegations on speaking excursions
to all points of the compass, and yet keeping in constant touch with the minutest interior
working of the Exposition machinery, Mr. Stevens was born in Connecticut and passed
his school-boy days in Peoria, Illinois, where his father was pastor of a church. Immedi-
ately after his graduation from Michigan University, his long connection with Saint Louis
koyurnqhsm began with his em?loymem on the Saint Louis Daily Times in 1870. As the

Vashington correspondent of the Saint Louis Globde-Democrat during the nineties, he
made a reputation for character and talents as high among statesmen and representatives
of the metropolitan press as among his professional confreres of Saint Louis.
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INTRODUCTION. XV

the United States, and had no place to speak of in the exhibit
of the Postoffice Department at Chicago. It was illustrated at
Saint Louis as one of the most notable features of postal

development.

The bureaus of plant industry, of animal industry, of
other scientific investigation by the Department of Agricul-
ture illustrated the methods by which that department has
increased the value of American farm crops by over

$100,000,000 annually.

For the first time in exposition history a building was
devoted entirely to education. The Department of Education
was placed first in the classification, emphasizing a notable
departure in exposition practice which formerly gave chief
recognition to commercial and manufacturing interests. Per-
haps the advancement most marked as compared with
educational exhibits of 1893 was in the attention given to
economic conditions of industry and labor.

Civic improvement, organized charity, public hyvgiene—

ISAAC S. TAYLOR.

Isaac S. Taylor, Organizer and Chairman of the Commission of Architects that designed
the grounds and buildings scheme of the Exposition, was its Director of Works, the man
who presided over the planning of all the buildings and landscape works; the urganizer
and director of all the professional and executive forces; the expert upon whom the
Grounds and Buxlqlmzs ommittee relied in the preparation, letting and execution of con-
tracts, and in making provision for light, power, water supplics, fire protection, sewerage,
intramural transportation, and sanitary conditions generally. It was a gigantic task,
Tequiring not only a man of superior all-around professional skill and experience. but a
man of exceptional executive ability, decision and firmness. Director Taylor was in
every respect equal to the task, and his completed work, if it could have been permanent,
would long have remained one of the greatest architectural wonders of the world, an
achxcvcmen.t overshadowing the fabled labors of 1iercules. Though born in Nashville,

cnnessee, in 1851, he was essentially a Saint Louis product. He was graduated from
aint Louis University in 1868, and studied his profession under a leading Saint Louis
architect, the late George I. Barnett, who took him as a partner. Since going into busi-
ness b himself in 1879, Mr. Taylor has planned and erected scores of immense factory
and office buildings, hotels and banks, ¢lub buildings and newspaper offices, public struc-
;ﬂrg:land residences that are recognized as distinguishing features of New Saint Louis.
ncidentally, he has made a great reputation for the strictest professional rectitude and
OT getting big work done well and in the shortest possible time.

NORRIS B. GREGG.

Norris B. Gregg, the Exposition's Director of Concessions and Admissions, was horn
in Saint Louis. November 8, 1856, and was educated at Wyman Academy and W ashington
University, Ie beran his business career in 1876 with the Southern White l.ecad Com-

any, of which his father was president. In 1880 he became Secretary of the Mound City

aint and Color Company. and since 1887 has been its President. As a member of the
Mercantile Club, the Business Men’s League, the Noonday Club, the Country Club and
the Merchants’ Exchange. he was one of the great workers in the beginning of the
World's Fair movement, His work as a group chairman in the raising of thcéw.ooo.ooo
was productive of magnificent results. Elected as a Director of the Exposition Company,
he served first as Chairman of its Committee of Supplies. and afterwards as a member of
the Executive Committee. When the position of Director of Concessions and Admissions
was first offéred to him in February, 1902, he agreed to serve in that capacity for a time
and study the requirements of the place, reserving his acceptance of its responsiblitics
until satisfied that he might successfully discharge them. In August, 1902, after he had
made a thorough study of the work of the same department at other expositions, he was
clected as its [irector and scrved to the satisfaction of the Company until the gates were
finally closed.

these were illustrated by many exhibits, the most notable being
a model street with model paving, model fountains, model
lighting, model buildings. Forestry exhibits at Saint Louis
were notable as emphasizing the recognition now being
given by the General Government and by the States to the
ecouomical development of these natural resources,

When the plan and scope of this Exposition was laid
before one of the crowned heads of Europe he listened with-
out much comment until was reached the proposal to bring
together in a Universal Congress of Arts and Science the
wise men of all the world. Thereupon the Emperor gave—
more than his assent to participation—his hearty approval.
The new thing of this Exposition was the harmonizing, the
unification of all knowledge to the uplifting of humanity,
to the betterment of mankind. That was the great lesson
attempted. That was to be the distinguishing note of progress
in this Universal Exposition. Time only can demonstrate
the fulfillment of the high purpose.
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LOUISIANA PURCHASE MONUMENT.

Emmanuel L. Masqueray, Designer: Karl Bitter, Sculptor.
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CHAPTER 1L

THE LOUISIANA TERRITORY.

Discovery oF THE MississipPI RIVER—NARVAEZ’s ILL-FATED ExPEDITION—CABEZA DE VACA’S NARRATIVE—CORONADO’S OVERLAND TRIP—
De Sot1o’s ExpLORATIONS—PERE MARQUETTE AND Lours JoLieT Discover THE UppPER Mississippi—LA SALLE CLAIMS LOUISIANA IN
THE NAME OF FRANCE—IBERVILLE AND BIENVILLE TAKE PosseSsion—STRUGGLES OF THE EArRLY CoLoN1sTS—CR0OZAT’S MONOPOLY OF
CoMMERCE—JOHN LAw anxp *‘THE Mississippl BuBBLE ’—CapiTaL ESTABLISHED AT NEw ORLEANs—LacLepE Founps THE City oF
SaINT Louts—PonTIac's WAR—CEssIoN oF LouisiaNAa To SpaiN—RisinG oF FRENcH CoLoNisTs AGaINsT THEIR NEw MASTERS—
LouisiaNa IN THE REvOLUTION—EXPL0OITS OF GEORGE ROGERS CLARK—GOVERNOR GALVEZ AIps THE YounNc RepusLic—CLAIMS OF

RivaL Nations To LouisiaNna TERRITORY.

HE cession of the Louisiana Territory by France to the
United States in 1803 more than doubled the area of
the young Republic. It more than doubled the strength
of the Union. The work of forming ‘“a more perfect Union”
under the Constitution of 1789 remained incomplete, and its
success still doubtful, until this acquisition provided the broader
foundation needed for future harmonious growth, and pro-
vided also a great central bond of union in the mighty Mis-
sissippi River system, binding East and West and North and
South together in an indissoluble community of interest.

Its stupendous results in the course of a hundred years
have made this the most remarkable international transaction
recorded in history. Those results have far outrun the hopes
of the men who approved the treaty. They fill Americans
with pride and gratitude, and all nations with admiration and
wonder. All the American States, therefore, and all the great
and enlightened nations, took part in the centennial celebra-
tion of this great event.

Such a world-wide commemoration awakens a new interest
in the romantic history of the Territory—its partial explora-
tion by both Spain and France, its colonization and uncon-
tested occupation by France for more than half a century,
the subsequent contention of France, Spain and England for
its possession, and its final transfer to the United States for a
few millions, the result of these contentions.

The new islands and vast extent of continental coast-dis-
covered by Columbus and Cabot in the last decade of the
fifteenth century fired the adventurous spirits of maritime
Europe with dreams of easily acquired wealth and power.
The ease with which Spanish adventurers robbed and enslaved
the mild and harmless Caribs of Hayti and Cuba, and the
exaggerated accounts of the discoveries and acquisitions of
Cortes in Mexico and of Pizarro in Peru, gave currency and
credit to all sorts of fables about rich cities and priceless
mines of gems and precious metals awaiting seizure in myth-
ical El Dorados of the New World. While these visions
excited the worshipers of Mammon, the salvation of num-
berless heathen souls strongly invited the missionaries of
religion also. And this strange combination of impelling
forces directed and characterized the first European explora-
tions of the Mississippi Valley.

The first movements toward exploration came from the
South, from the direction of Florida. Juan Ponce de Leon in
!1is search for the fabulous fountain of youth in the fabulous
island of Bimini, discovered the east coast of Florida on
Easter Sunday (Pascua Florida), March 3, 1512. He
SDeflt several months exploring the coast and country after
taking possession in the name of the Spanish Monarch and

naming the country Florida. The following year he was
appointed, by Ferdinand, governor of ‘“‘the Island of Florida,”
with permission to colonize it, but did not succeed in planting
a colony.

In 1519 the Spanish navigator Alonzo Alvarez de Pifieda,
returning from the sexican Coast, where he had met Cortes,
entered a ‘““very large and deep river,” which he ascended a
distance of six leagues and named it “‘Rio del Espiritu Santo.”
He found “an extensive town’’ at the mouth of the river,
where he remained forty days, repairing his ships. Within
the six leagues of his voyage up the river he counted forty
villages on the banks, and reported that the people wore gold
ornaments. Pifieda’s account of this voyage along the Gulf
Coast leaves little room to doubt that he was the first discov-
erer of the Mississippi River, although his narrative attracted
but little attention and only vague accounts of his discovery
have been handed down.

In 1518 Francisco de Garay, who had been with Columbus
in his second voyage, made further explorations of Florida,
and in 1528 arrived the ill-fated Narvaez expedition.

Pamfilo de Narvaez, second in command under Governor
Velasquez in Cuba, had been sent with a military force to
supersede Cortes in Mexico. Cortes had surprised and defeated
Narvaez, who soon found himself a prisoner with only one
eye left, and his command incorporated with that of Cortes.
Returning to Spain, Narvaez obtained from Charles V. a grant
of Florida as far as “‘the River of Palms,” now called the Rio
Grande. Before setting out upon his expedition, Narvaez
promulgated his famous ‘‘ Proclamation to and Requirements
to be made of the Inhabitants of the Countries and Provinces
that there are from Rio de Palmas to the Cape of Florida,”
the perusal of which conveys a very clear idea of the spirit in
which the Spaniards entered upon the exploitation of the
newly discovered lands in America:

In behalf of the Catholic Caesarean Majesty of Don Carlos, King
of the Romans and Emperor, ever Augustus, and Dona Juana his
mother, Sovercigns of Leon and Castilla, Defenders of the Church, ever
victors never vanquished, and rulers of barbarous nations, I, Pamfilo de
Narvaez, his servant, messenger and captain, notify and cause you to
know in the best manner I can, that God our Lord, one and eternal,
created the heaven and the carth, and one man and one woman of whom
we and you and all men in the world have come, are descendants and
the generation, as well as those who shall come after us: but because
of the infinity of offspring that followed in the five thousand ycars and
more since the world was created, it has become necessary that some
men should go in one direction and others in another, dividing into
many kingdoms and provinces, since in a single one they could not be
subsisted nor kept,

Al these nations God our Lord gave in charge to one person, called
Saint Peter, that he might be Master and Superior over mankind, to be
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2 HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE EXPOSITION,

obeyed and be head of all the human race, wheresoever they might live
and be, of whatever law, sect or belief, giving him the whole world for
his kingdom, lordship and jurisdiction.

And he commanded him to place his seat in Rome, as a point most
suited whence to rule the world; so he likewise permitted him to have
and place his seat on any part of the earth, to judge and govern all
people, Christians, Moors, Jews, Gentiles, and of whatever creed beside
they might be; him they call Pope, which means admirable, greatest
father and preserver, since he is father and governor of all men,

This Saint Peter was obeyed and taken for King, Lord and Superior
of the Universe by those who lived at that time, and so likewise have
all the rest been held who to the Pontificate were afterward elected, and
thus has it continued until now, and will continue to the end of things.

One of the Popes who succeeded him to that seat and dignity of
which I spake as Lord of the world made a gift of these islands and
main of the ocean sea, to the said Emperor and Queen and their suc-
cessors, our Lords, in these kingdoms, with all that is in them, as is
contained in certain writings that thereupon took place, which may be
seen if you desire. Thus are their Highnesses King and Qneen of these
islands and continents, by virtue of said gift; and as Sovereigns and
Masters, some other islands, and nearly all where they have been
proclaimed have received their Majesties, obeyed and served, and do
serve them as subjects should, with good will and no resistance, and
immediately without delay, directly as they were informed, obeying the
religious men whom their Highnesses sent to preach to them and teach
our Holy Faith, of their entire free will and pleasure, without regard or
condition whatsoever, becoming Christians which thiey are; and their
Highnesses received them joyfully and beniguly, ordering them to be
treated as their subjects and vassals were, and you are held and obliged
to act likewise.

Wherefore, as best I can, I entreat and require you to understand
this well that I have told you, taking the time for it that is just you
should, to comprehend and reflect, and that you recognize the Church

EARLIEST MAP SHOWING THE MOUTH OF THE MISSISSIPPI.

This, the first map known to have been published showing the mouth of a river at
approximately where the Mississippi empties into the Gulf of Mexico, was published in
Venice, in the year 1513, less than twenty-one years after the discovery of America by
Columbus. From what sources the information regarding the river was obtained there
is now no tlue, The map appearedina geogragh:cal work by Ptolemy, under the title
of *“The Admiral’s Map.” As ' The Admiral” at that time was an expression never
used except in connection with Columbus, there is some ground for the belief that the
great discoverer himself had. in one of his later voyages, obtained information of the
existence of the Mississippi, and had communicated it to the royal cartographers. The
existing records and reports of Columbus’s voyages have been searched in vain, how-
ever, for any proof that he ever visited that portion of the Gulf coast.

as Mistress and Superior of the Universe and the High Pontiff, called
Pope, in its name ; the Queen and King, our masters; in their place as
Lords, Superiors and Sovereigns of these islands and the main by
virtue of said gift, and you consent and give opportunity that these
fathers and religious men declare and preach to you as stated; if you
shall do so you will do well in what you are held and obliged ; and their
Majesties, and 1, in their royal name, will receive you with love and

charity, relinquishing in frcedom your women, children and estates
without service, that with them and yourselves you may do with perfect
liberty all you wish and may deem well; you shall not be required to
become Christians, except when, informed of the truth, you desire to be
converted to our Holy Catholic Faith, as nearly all the inhabitants of
the other islands have done, and when His Highness will confer on you
numerous privileges and instructions, with many favors.

If you do not this, and of malice you be dilatory, I declare to you
that, with the help of Our Lord, I will enter with force, making war
upon you from all directions and in every manner that [ may be able,
when I will subject you to obedience to the Church and the yoke of
their Majesties; and [ will take the persons of yourselves, your wives
and your children to make slaves, sell and dispose of you as their
Majesties shall think fit; and I will take your goods, doing you all the
evil and injury that I may be able, as to vassals who do not obey but
reject their master, resist and deny him; and I declare to you that the
deaths and damage that arise therefrom will be your fault and not that
of His Majesty, nor mine, nor of these cavaliers who come with us.

And so as I proclaim and require this, I ask of the Notary here that
he give me a certificate; and those present I beseech that they will
hercof be the witnesses.

AUTOGRAPH OF PAMFILO DE NARVAEZ.

In April, 1523, Narvaez landed with four hundred men and
eighty horses on the west coast of Florida, probably at or
near Tampa Bay. He proceeded northward into the con-
tinent, but met with so many difficulties and discouragements
that he returned to the coast, in the vicinity of Saint Marks, in
July. There he built five boats or rafts, and in September
began a coasting voyage toward Mexico. Two of these ves-
sels went down in a storm near the mouth of the Mississippi.
Narvaez and all on board were drowned. The others landed
and perished on the Texas coast, all but four, who, after wan-
dering for eight years in Texas and New Mexico, part of the
time being held as prisoners by Indians, appeared at Culiacan
on the Gulf of California, in 1536. Those four were Alvar
Nufiez Cabeza de Vaca, the treasurer and historian of the
Narvaez expedition, two other white men, and a negro named
Stephen.

Cabeza’s oral accounts of the “Rio del Oro” and the city
of “Cibola,” and other “‘cities”” and “‘fixed habitations” he
had seen, were responsible for the Coronado exploration.
Although his written narrative, which is preserved in Madrid,
was less calculated to inspire the avarice of the Spaniards than
were his oral relations, yet as the record of the wanderings of
the first white men to cross the North American continent
from sea to sea, it is of great historical value and loses no
interest after nearly four centuries, as the extracts which fol-
low prove:

On the seventeenth day of June, in the year fifteen hundred and
twenty-seven, the Governor, Pamphilo de Narvaez, left the town of
San Lucar de Borromeda, authorized and commanded by your Majesty
to conquer and govern the territories that extend from the River Palmas
to the Cape of Florida, which are on the mainland. The fleet he took
was five ships in which went six hundred men, a few more or less. The
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EXPEDITION OF PAMFILO DE NARVAEZ. 3

officers he took (for we shall have to speak of them), were these, and
here are their names: Cabeza de Vaca, treasurer and high sheriff;
Alonso Enrriquez, distributer to your Majesty, and assessor ; and Juan
Suarez, a friar of the Order of Saint Francis, commissary, and four friars
besides, of the same Order. * * * #

The second day after the arrival, the Governor set sail with four
hundred men and eighty horses, in four ships and a brig. The pilot,
who had again been taken on board, put the vessel among the shoals
they call Cunarreo, so that on the day following we struck, and thus we
were fifteen days, the keels of our vessels frequently touching on the
bottom. At the end of this time a tempest from the south threw so
much water upon the shoals that we could get off, although not without
much peril. Having left this and arrived at Guaniguanico, another
storm overtook us, in which we were at one time near being lost. At
Cape Corrientes we had another which detained us three days. These
places being passed, we doubled Cape San Anton and sailed within
twelve leagues of Havana. Standing in the next day to enter the
harbor there came a wind from the south which drove us from the
land and toward the coast of Florida. We came in sight of it on
Tuesday, the twelith day of April, and sailed along the coast. On
Holy Thursday we anchored near the shore in the mouth of a bay, at
the head of which we saw some houses or habitations of Indians.

On the same day the Controller, Alonso Enrriquez, landed on an
island in the bay. He called to the Indians, who came, and were with
him some time ; and, in the way of exchange, gave him some fish and
several pieces of venison. The day following, which was Good Friday,
the Governor debarked with as many of the people as the boats he
brought with him could contain. As we came to the bee hives, or
houses, that we had seen, we found them vacant and abandoned, for
the inhabitants had fled that night in their canoes. One of the bee
hives was very large; it could hold more than three hundred persons.
The rest were smaller. We found a little bell of gold among some fish
nets.

LA FLORIDA

< <Z_\>
L) 2
/)r""t{\
TIERRA PIRME

EARLIEST MAP NAMING THE MISSISSIPPL
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A copy of a map found by Navarette in the Spanish Archives, bearini the date of
1520. W\ hile there is no record of the name of the cartographer nor o the sources
from.whlch he obtained his information, the consensus of opinion among scholars is
that it probably .embodies the results of Pifieda’s expedition to the north shore of the
Gulf of Mexico in 1519. This belief is borne out by the fact that the river bears the
name which Pifieda gave it, " Rio del Espiritu Santo,” In his report of this voyage he
stated that he had ascended the river a distance of six leagues, and had remained for
orty days at its mouth, repairing his ships. The map here published was sent to Spain
by Garay, the Governor o! Jamaica.

The next day the Governor raised ensigns for your Majesty, and
took possession of the country in your royal name. He made known
his authority, and was obeyed as Governor, as your Majesty had com-
manded. At the same time, we laid our commissions before him, and
he acknowledged them according to their tenor. Then he commanded
that the rest of the people should debark, and the horses. Of these
there were no more than forty-two; the rest, by reason of the great

storms and the length of time that had been passed at sea, were dead,
and the few remaining were so lean and fatigued that for the time we
could have little use for them. The next day the Indians of the town
came and, although they spoke to us, yet, as we had no interpreter,
we did not understand them. They made us many signs and menaces,
and they appeared to say that we should go away from the country.
With this they left us, offering no interpretation, and went away.

TitRA DE AYLLON
TIERA O GARAY
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FIRST MAP INDICATING EXPLORATIONS IN LOUISIANA.

The expedition of Francisco de Garay in 1518 is the earliest recorded land explora-
tion of any part of whatis now known as the Louisiana Tcrnto:{y. Credit to Garay for
his discoveries was given in 1521, when the arbitrator appointed by the Spanish Crown
to decide between the claims of rival discoverers concluded that the Rio del Espiritu
Santo was included in the ' Tiera de Garay,” as is indicated on the map. The map,
from which the accompanying plate is taken, was drawn by Diego Ribero, a Portu-
guese in the service of Spain, who was appointed Royal Cosmographer in 1523. He
published this mapin 1529. Two early copies of it, printed on parchment, are known
to be in existence, one of them being preserved at Weimar, Saxony, and the other
in the Archives of the College of the Propaganda at Rome.

The day following, the Governor resolved to make an incursion to
explore the country, and see what it might contain. There went with
him the commissary, the assessor, and I with forty men, and among
them six cavalry, of which we could little avail ourselves. We took our
way toward the north till the hour of vespers, when we arrived at a
very large bay that appeared to enter far into the land. We remained
there that night, and the next day we returned to where the ships and
people lay. The Governor ordered that the brig should coast along the
shore of Florida, and search for the harbor that Miruelo, the pilot, had
said he knew (but as yet he had failed to find it, and knew not in what
parts we were nor where was the port); that, if they did not find it, she
should sail for Havana, and seek the ship of which Alvaro de la Cerda
was in command, and, taking some provisions, they should come to
look for us.

The brig having left, the same party, with some persons more,
returned to enter the land. We kept along the shores of the bay we had
found, and, having gone four leagues, we captured four Indians. We
showed them maize, to see if they would know it, for up to that time
we had found no identification of any. They told us they could take us
to where there was some, and so they brought us to their town near
there at the head of the bay, and in it they showed us a little corn,
which was not yet fit for gathering. There we found many cases, such
as are uscd to contain the merchandise of Castile, in each of which was
a dead man, and the bodies were covered with painted deer skins. This
appeared to the commissary as a kind of idolatry, and he burned the
cases with the bodies. We also found pieces of linen and of woolen
cloth, and bunches of feathers, which appeared to be those of New
Spain. We also found some samples of gold. By signs we asked the
Indians whence these things had come; they signified to us that very
far from there was a province called Apalache, where there was much
gold, and an abundance of everything that was greatly valued.

Taking these Indians for guides, we departed, and, traveling ten or
twelve leagues, we found another town of fifteen houses where there
was a large piece of ground planted with corn, which was ripe, and we
also found some that was already dry, After staying there two days, we
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returned to where the controller with the men and ships were, and
related to him and the pilots what we had seen, and the information
the Indians had given us, * * * #* .
The Governor called them all to him, and of each by himself he
asked his advice what to do to get out of a country so miserable, and
seek elsewhere that remedy which could not here be found, a third part
of the people being very sick, and the number increasing every hour;
for we regarded it as certain that we all should become so, and out of it
we could pass only through death, which from its coming in such a
place was to us only the more terrible. These and many other embarrass-
ments considered, and entertaining many plans, we coincided in one
great project, extremely difficult to put in operation, and that was to
build vessels in which we might go away. This to all appeared impos-
sible, for we knew not how to build, nor were there tools, nor iron, nor
forge, nor tow, nor resin, nor rigging ; finally, no one thing of so many
that are necessary, nor any man who had a knowledge of their manu-
facture, and above all there was nothing to eat the while they were

making, nor any knowledge in those who would have to perforin the |

labor. Reflecting on all this, we agreed to think of the subject with
more deliberation, and the discourse dropped for that day, each going
his way, commending our course to God, our Lord, that he should
direct it as would best serve Him.

The next day it was His will that one of the company should come,
saying that he could make some pipes out of wood which with deer
skins might be made into a bellows; and as we lived in a time when
anything that had the semblance of relief appeared well, we told him to
set himself to work. We assented to the making of nails, saws, axes,
and other tools of which there was such need, from the stirrups, spurs,
cross-bows, and the other things of iron that there were; and we said
that for upport while the work was going on, we would make four
entries it o Ante, with all the horses and men that were able to go, and
that ever third day a horse should be killed, which should be divided
among those that had labored on the work of the boats, and those that
were sick. The forays were made with the people and horses that were
of any use, and in them were brought back as many as four hanegas of
maize, but these were not got out without quarrels and conflicts with the
Indians. We caused to be collected many palmettos for the benefit of
the woof or covering, twisting and preparing it for use in the place
of tow for the boats. ‘ _

We commenced to build on the fourth, with the one only carpenter
in the company, and we proceeded with so_ great diligence that on the
twentieth day of September five boats were finished of twenty-two cubits
in length, each calked with the fibre of the palmetto. We pitched
them with a certain resin, which was made from pine trees by a Greek
named Don Theodoro; and from the husk of the palmettos, and from
the tails and manes of the horses we made ropes and rigging, and
from our shirts sails, and from the savins that grew there we made the
oars that appeared to us to be requisite. And such was the country in
which our sins had cast us that with very great trouble we could find
stone for ballast and anchors to the boats, since in all of it we had not
seen one. We flayed the horses and took off the skins of their legs
entire, and tanned them to make bottles in which we might carry water.

During this time some went gathering shell fish in the coves and
creeks of the sea, at which the Indians twice attacked them, and killed
ten of our men, in sight of the camp, without our being able to afford
them succor. We found them traversed from side to side by the arrows,
and although some had on good armor, it did not afford sufficient
protection against the nice and powerful archery, of which I have
spoken before. According to the declaration and oath of our pilots,
from the bay to which we gave the name de la Cruz, of the cross,
to this place, we had traveled two hundred and eighty leagues, or there-
about. In all this region we had seen no mountains, and had no
information whatever of any.

Before we embarked, there died, without enumerating those
destroyed by the Indians, more than forty men, of disease and hunger.
By the twenty-second of the month of September the horses had been
consumed, one only remaining; and on that day we embarked in .the
following order: In the boat of the Governor there went forty-nine
men; in another which he gave to the controller and commissary, went
others as many, The third he gave to Captain Alonso del Castello and
Andres Dorantes, with forty-eight men; and another he gave to two
captains, Fellez and Penalosa, with forty-seven men. The last he gave
to the assessor and me, with forty-nine men. After the provisions and
clothes had been taken in, there remained not over a span of the gun-
wales above the water; and, more than this, we went so crowded that
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we could not move; so much can necessity do, which drove us to haz-
ard our lives in this manner, running into a sea so turbulent, with not
a single one that went there having a knowledge of navigation, * # # #

The next day at sunrise, the time the Indians had appointed, they
came as they had promised, and brought us a large quantity of fish, and
certain roots that are caten by them, of the size of walnuts, some a little
larger, others a little smaller, the greater part of them got from under
the water, and with much labor. In the evening they returned and
brought more fish, and some of the roots. They sent their women and
children to look at us, who returned rich with the hawk-bells and beads
that we gave them, and they came afterwards on other daysin the same
way. As we found that we had been provisioned with fish, roots, water
and other things for which we asked, we determined to embark again
and pursue our course. We dug out our boat from the sand in which it
was buried ; and it became necessary that we should all strip ourselves,
and go through great exertion to launch her, for we were in such state
that things very much lighter sufficed to make us much labor,

Thus embarked, at the distance of two cross-bow shots in the sea we
shipped a wave that wet us all. As we were naked, and the cold was
very great, the oars loosened in our hands, and the next blow the sea
struck us capsized the boat. The assessor and two others held fast to
her for preservation, but it happened to be for far otherwise, as the boat
carried them over, and they drowned under her. As the surf near the
shore was very high, a single roll of the sea threw the remainder into
the waves and half drowned on the shore of the island, without our
losing any more than those the boat had taken under. Those of us who
survived escaped naked as we were born, losing all that we had, and
although the whole was of little value, at that time it was worth much.
As it was then in the month of November, the cold severe, and our
bodies so emaciated that the bones might have been counted with little
difficulty, we had become perfect figures of death. For myself, I can
say that from the month of May past I had not eaten other thing than
maize, and sometimes I found mysclf obliged to eat it unparched; for
although the horses were slaughtered while the boats were being built,
I never could eat of them, and I did not eat fish ten times. I state this
to avoid giving excuses, and that every one may judge in what condition
we were, After all these misfortunes there came a north wind upon
us, from which we were nearer to death than life. Thanks be to our
Lord, that, looking among the brands that we had used there we found
sparks, from which we made great fires. And thus we were asking
mercy of Him, and pardon for our transgressions, shedding many tears,
and each regretting not his own fate alone, but that of his comrades
about him.

At sunset the Indians, thinking that we had not gone, came to seek
us and bring us food, but when they saw us thus, in a plight so dif-
ferent from what it was formerly and so extraordinary, they were alarmed
and turned back. I went toward them and called to them, and they
returned much frightened. 1 gave them to understand by signs how
that our boat had sunk, and three of our number been drowned.
There, before them, they saw two of the departed, and those that
remained were near joining them. The Indians, at sight of the disaster
that had befallen us, and our state of suffering and melancholy destitu-
tion, sat down amongst us, and from the sorrow and pity they felt for
us they all began to lament, and so earnestly that they might have been
heard at a distance, and they continued so doing more than half an hour.
It was strange to see these men, so wild and untaught, howling like
brutes over our misfortunes. It caused, in me, as in others, an increase
of feeling and a livelier sense of our calamity. Their cries having
ceased, I talked with the Christians, and said that if it appeared well to
them, I would beg these Indians to take us to their houses. Some,
who had been in New Spain, said that we ought not to think of it, for
if we should do so they would sacrifice us to their idols. But seeing
no better course, and that any other led to nearer and more certain
death, I disregarded what was said, and besought the Indians to take
us to their dwellings. They signified that it would give them great
delight, and that we should tarry a little that they might do what we
asked. Presently, thirty of them loaded themselves with wood and
started for their houses, which were far off, and we remained with the
others until near night, when, holding us up, they carried us with all
haste. Because of extreme coldness of the weather, lest any one should
die or fall by the way, they caused four or five large fires to be placed
at intervals, and at each one of them they warmed us, and when they
saw that we had regained some strength and warmth, they took us to
the next so swiftly that they hardly permitted us to put our feet to the
ground. In this manner we went as far as their habitations, where we
found that they had made a house for us with many fires init. An
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hour after our arrival they began to dance and hold great rejoicing,
which lasted all night, although for us there was no joy, appetite or
sleep, awaiting the time they should make us victims. In the mprning,
they again gave us fish and roots, and showed us such hospitality that
we were reassured, and lost somewhat the fear of the sacrifice.

This day I saw an Indian with an article of traffic, which I knew
was not one we had presented, and asking whence it had come, I was
answered by signs that it had been given by men like ourselves, who
were behind. Hearing this I sent two Christians, and with them two
Indians, to show them those men. They met near by, as the others
were coming to look after us; for the Indians of the place they left
had given them information of us. They were the Captains Andres
Dorantes and Castillo, with all the men of their boat. Having come
up to us, they were surprised at seeing us in the condition we were,
and very much pained at having
nothing to give us, for they had
no other clothes than what they
wore. Being thus with us,
they related how that on the
fifth day of that month their
boat had capsized a league and
a half from there, and they had
escaped without losing any-
thing. We all of us together
agreed to refit their boat, and
that those of us should go in
her who might have vigor suf-
ficient and disposition to do so.
The rest should remain until
they became well enough to go
as they best might along the
coast, and be there until God,
our Lord, should be pleased to
lead us together into a land of
Christians. Directly as we
planned it, we put ourselves to
work. Before we threw the
boat into the water, Tavera, a
gentleman of our company,
died, and the boat which we
thought to use came to its end,
for not being able to float it
went down. As we were in
the condition I have mentioned,
the weather boisterous to travel
in and to cross rivers and bays
by swimming, and we being
without provisions or the means
of a sufficient supply, yielded
an obedience to what necessity
required, which was to winter
where we were. Wealso agreed
that four men of the most robust
should go to Panuco, which we
belicved to be near, and if by
Divine favor they should arrive
there they could give informa-
tion of how we remained out on
that island, and of our sorrows
and destitution. These men

In depicting Narvaez, the leader of the first expedition which sought to penetrate the wilds of
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came were Alonso del Castillo, Andres Dorantes, Diego Dorantes
Valdevieso, Estrada, Fostado, Chaves, Gutierrez, Esturiano a clergyman,
Diego de Huelva, Estevanico a black, and Benitez; and when they
reached the land they found another, who was one of our company,
named Francisco de Leon. The thirtcen together followed the coast
along. So soon as they had crossed over my Indians told me of it, and
that there remained on the island Hieronymo de Alouez and Lope de
Oviedo.

But sickness prevented me from following my companions, nor did
I see them. 1 was obliged to remain with the people of the istand more
than a year, and because of the hard work they put upon me and their
harsh treatment I determined to flee from them and go to those of
Charruco, who inhabit the forests and country of the main, for the life I
led was insupportable. Beside much other labor I had to get out roots
from below the water and
among the cane where it grew
in the ground. From this em-
ployment I had my fingers
so worn that did a straw but
touch them it would draw blood.
Many of the canes are broken,
so that they often tore my flesh,
and I had to go in the midst of
them with only the clothing on
me I have mentioned,

Accordingly, I put myself
to work to getover to the other
Indians, and afterward, while I
was with them, affairs changed
for me somewhat more favor-
ably. 1 set myself o traffick-
ing, and strove to turn my em-
ploymient to profit in the ways
I could best contrive, and by
thiis means I got from the In-
dians food and good treatment.
They would beg me to go from
one part to another for things
of which they have need ; for,
in consequence of continual
hostilities, they cannot travel
the country nor make many ex-
changes. With my merchan-
dise and trade I went into the
interior as far as I pleased, and
I traveled along the coast forty
or fifty leagues. The chief of
my wares was picces of sea-
snails and their cones, conches
that are used for cutting, and a
fruit like a bean, of the highest
value among them, which they
use as a medicine and employ
in their dances and festivities.
There are sea-beads also, and
other articles. Such were what
I carried into the interior; and
inbarter for them I brought back
skins, ochre with which they
rub and color their faces, and

were excellent swimmers, They Louisiana, Herbert Adams, the sculptor, has followed closely the descriptions given by contem. flint for arrow points, cement
took with them an Indian of Porary chroniclers,who speak of Narvaez as having a piercing eye, a firm and determined carriage

the island. * * * =*

had returned to the island they

brought together the Christians, wlo were somewhat scparated, and
found them in all to be fourteen. I, as I have said, was on the opposite
shore where my Indians had taken me, and where so great sickness had
come upon me, that, if anything before had given me hopes of life, this
were enough to have entirely bereft me of them, * * % %

When the Christians heard of my condition they gave an Indian
the cloak of marten skins we had taken from the cacique, as before
related, to pass them over to where I was that they might visit me.
Twelve of them crossed, for there were two so feeble that their com-
rades could not venture to bring them. The names of those who

and a pointed red beard. There is an atmosphere about this statue, which stood on the west and hard canes of which to

approach to Festival I1all at the Louisiana Purchase Exposition, that gives one an impression of make arrows, and tassels that
. the indomitable courage and steadfast purpose that led the explorer on the journey which

After Dorantes and Castillo resulted so disastrously for himself and his men.

are made of the hair of deer,
ornamented and dyed red. This
occupation suited me well, for the travel gave me liberty to go where I

wished. .I was not obliged to work and was not a slave. Wherever I
went I received fair treatment and the Indians gave me to eat for the
sake of my commodities. My leading object, while journeying in this
business, was to find out the way by which I should have to go forward,
and 1 became well known to the inhabitants. They were pleased when
they saw me, and I have brought for them what they wanted ; and those
that did not know me sought and desired my acquaintance for my repu-
tation. The hardships that I underwent in this it were long to tell, as
well of peril and privation as of storms and cold. Many of them found me
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in the wilderness and alone, but I came forth from them all by the great
mercy of God, our Lord. Because of them I ceased to pursue the busi-
ness in winter, for it is a season in which the natives themselves retire
to their villages and huts, sluggish and incapable of exertion. I was in
this country nearly six years, alone among the Indians, and naked like
them. The reason why I remained so long was that I might take with
me from the island the Christian Lope de Oviedo. De Alouez, his
companion, who had been left with him by Alonso del Castillo, Andres
Dorantes and the rest, died soon after their departure; and to get the
survivor out from there, I went over to the island every year, and
entreated him that we should go in the way we could best contrive in
quest of Christians. He put me off every year, saying that in the next
coming we would go. At last I got him off, crossing him over the
bay, and over four rivers there are on the coast, as he could not swim.
In this way we went on with some Indians, until coming to a bay a
league in width and everywhere deep. From its appearance we sup-
posed it to be that which they called Espiritu Santo. We met some
Indians on the other side of it, who came to visit ours; and they told
us that beyond them there were three men like us, and gave their
names ; and we asked them for the others, and they told us that they
were all dead of cold and hunger ; that the Indians further on, of whom
they were, had for their diversion killed Diego Dorantes, Valdeviese,
and Diego de Huelva, because they left one house for anotler; and
that other Indians, their neighbors, with whom Captain Dorantes now
was, had, in consequence of a dream, killed Esquirel and Mendez. We
asked them how the living were situated, and they answered us that
they were very ill-used, for that the boys and some of the Indian men
were very idle, and of cruelty gave them severe kicks, cuffs, and blows
with sticks; and that such was the life they led among them, * * * *

When the six months had expired which I had to spend with the
Christians, to put in execution the plan we had concerted, the Indians
went after pears, the place at which they were to be had being more
than twenty leagues off. Now when we were at the point of flight, the
Indians among whom we were quarreled about a woman; and they
struck, beat, and bruised each other, and in consequence of their anger
each took his lodge and went his way; whence it became necessary that
the Christians there should also separate, and in no way could we come
together until another year.

In this time I passed a very hard life, caused as much by hunger as
the treatment [ received, which was such that three times I was obliged
to run from the masters I had, and each time they went in pursuit and
endeavored to kill me: but God, our Lord, in His mercy chose to
preserve and protect me from them; and when the season of ripe pears
returned we again came together in the same place. After we had
arranged our escape, and appointed a time, that same day the Indians
separated us, and all went back. I told my comrades that I would wait
for them among the pear plants until the moon should be full. This
day was the first of September, and the first of the moon; and I said to
them that if in this time they did not come, I would leave them and go
alone. So we parted, and each went with his Indians. I remained with
mine until the thirteenth day of the moon, having determined to flee to
others when it should be full. .

At this time Andres Dorantes arrived with Estevanico, and
informed me that they had left Castillo with other Indians near by,
called Anagados; and that they had encountered great obstacles, and
had wandered about lost; that the next day the Indians among
whom we were would move to where Castillo was, and were going to
unite with those who held him, and become friends ; for until this time
they had been at war, and that in this way we should recover Castillo.

We had thirst all the time we ate the pears, and to quench this we
drank their juice. We caught it in a hole we made in the ecarth, and
when it was full we drank of it until satisfied. It is sweet, of the color
of must, and they collect it in this manner for lack of vessels. There
are many kinds of pears, and among them are some very good,
although they all appeared to me to be so, for hunger never gave me
leisure to choose them, nor to reflect upon which were best.

Almost all these people drink rain water, which lies about in spots;
for although there are rivers, as the Indians never have fixed habita-
tions they have no familiar or noted places for getting water, Through-
out the country are very extensive and beautiful plains, having good
pasturage for animals; and I think it would be a very fruitful country
if it were worked and inhabited by civilized men. We saw no moun-
tains in any part of it.

These Indians told us that there was another people next in advance
of us, called Camones, living toward the coast, and that they had killed

all the people that came in the boat of Penalosa and Tellez, who had
arrived so feeble that even while killing them they could offer no resist-
ance, and were all destroyed. We were shown ciothes and arms that
had been theirs, and were told that the boat lay there stranded. This,
the fifth boat, had remained till then unaccounted for. We have
already stated how the boat of the Governor had been carried out to sea,
and that of the Controller and the friars had been cast away on the
coast, of which Esquirel had narrated the fate of the men. We have
once told how the two boats in which Castillo, I, and Dorantes came,
foundered near the istand of Malhado. * * * *

Five days after our arrival all the Indians went off, taking us with
them, to gather more pears, at a place where there were other nations,
speaking different tongues. Having walked five days in great hunger,
since on the way there were no pears or other fruit, we arrived at a
river, where we put up our houses. This done, we went to seek the
fruit of certain trees which is like a pca. As there are no paths in the
country, I was detained some time in the search. The others returned
and left me by myself, and I, coming to look for them in the dark, got
lost. I thank God that I found a burning tree, and in the warmth of it
I passed through the cold of that night. In the morning I loaded
myself with sticks and returned to seek them. In this manner I wan-
dered five days, ever with my torch and load, for if the wood had failed
me where none could have been found, as many parts are without any,
I should have had to seek for sticks elsewhere, and had no fire to kindle
them., This was the only protection I had against the cold, while
walking, for I was naked as I was born. I prepared myself for the
night by going to the low woods near the rivers, and stopping in them
before sunset. I there made a hole and threw in the wood, which the
trees abundantly afforded, and collected it for fuel in good quantity from
the dry and fallen. About the hole I made four fires in the form of a
cross, which I watched and made up from time to time. I also collected
some bundles of the coarse straw that there abounds, with which I cov-
ered me in the hole. In this manner I protected myseli from the cold
at night. On one of these occasions while I slept, the fire fell upon the
straw in which I was, and it had begun to blaze so rapidly that notwith-
standing the haste I made to get out, I carried some marks on my hair
of the danger to which I had been exposed. All this while I tasted not
a mouthful, nor did I find anything that I could eat. As my feet were
bare, I bled a great deal. Through the mercy of God to me, the wind
in all this time did not blow from the north, otherwise I should have
died.

At the end of the fifth day I arrived at the margin of a river where
I found the Indians who, with the Christians, had considered me dead,
and had supposed I had been stung by a viper. All were rejoiced to see
me, but the most so were my companions. They said that up to that
time they had struggled with great hunger, which was the reason of
their not having sought me. That night they all gave me of the pears
they had, and the next morning we set out for where we found a large
quantity, with which we all satisfied our great necessity, the Christians
rendering thanks to our Lord that He had ever given us His assistance.

We passed through many and dissimilar tongues. Our Lord
granted us favor with the people that spoke them, for they always
understood us, and we them. We questioned them and received their
answers by signs, just as if they spoke our language and we theirs; for
although we knew six languages, we could not everywhere avail our-
selves of them, there being a thousand differences.

Throughout all these countries the people who were at war imme-
diately made friends, that they might come to meet us, and bring us all
they possessed. In this way we left all the land at peace, and we taught
all the inhabitants, by signs which they understood, that in heaven there
was a man whom we called God ; that He had created the sky and the
earth, and Him we worshiped and had for our Master ; that we did
what He commanded, and from His hand came all good things, and if
they would do as we did all would be well with them. So ready of
apprehension did we find them, that if we had had the use of language
by which to make ourselves perfectly understood, we should have left
them all Christians. Thus much we gave them to understand the best
we could ; and afterward, when the sun rose, they opened their hands
together with loud shouting toward the heavens, and then drew them
down all over their bodies. They did the same again when the sun went
down. They are a people of good condition and substance, and capable
in any pursuit, * * * #

In the town where they gave us the emeralds they gave Dorantes
over five hundred split hearts of deer, of which they ever keep a great
abundance for their consumption, and in consequence we gave that
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8 HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE EXPOSITION.

place the name of El Pueblo de los Corazones—the Town of Hearts. It
is the entrance into many provinces that are on the South Seca; and
whoever go to seek it and do not enter there, they will be lost; for
there is no maize on the coast; the inhabitants eat the powder of corn
and of straw, and fish caught in the sea from rafts, as they have no
canoes. The women conceal their nudity with grass and straw,
They are a melancholy and emaciated people.

We think that near the coast, by way of the towns through which
we came, there are more than a thousand leagues of inhabited country.
It is plentiful of subsistence, for thrice a year it is planted in beans and
maize. There are three kinds of deer, one of them the size of the
young steer of Castile. There are immovable houses, which the inhabi-
tants call bee hives, They have poison, which is from a certain tree the
size of the apple. No more is necessary for effect than to pluck the
fruit and moisten the arrow with it, or if there be no fruit, to break a
twig, and with the milk from it do the same. This tree is abundant,
and so deadly that i{ the leaves are bruised and steeped in some neigh-
boring water, all the deer and other animals that drink of it soon burst.

We were in this town three days. | A day’s journey farther there
was another town, at which the rain fell so heavily while we were there
that the river became so swollen we could not cross it, and we were
detained fifteen days. In this time Castillo saw on the neck of an
Indian the buckle of a sword-belt, and tied to it a nail for a horse shoe.
He received them, and we asked the native what they were, and he
answered that they came from heaven. We questioned him farther as
to who had brought them thence, and they all responded that certain
men, who wore beards like us, had come from heaven and arrived at
that river, and that they brought horses, and lances and swords, and
that they had lanced two Indians. In manner of the utmost indii-
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ference that we could feign, we then asked them what had become of
those men, and they answered us that they had gone to sea, had put their
lances beneath the water, and went themselves under the water, and
that afterward they were seen on the surface going toward the sunset.
We gave many thanks to God, our Lord, for that which we heard, for
we had despaired of ever hearing more news of Christians. But now
oppositely were we left in great doubt and gloom, thinking how that
people were no more than some who had come by sea on discoveries.
However, as we had such exact information of them, we made greater
speed on our way, and as we advanced the news of the Christians con-
tinually grew. We told the natives we were going in search of this
people, to tell them not to kill them, nor to make them slaves, nor to
take themn from their country, nor do them other injustice, and of this
they were very glad. * * * *

After we saw sure signs of Christians, and heard how near we were
to them, we gave thanks to God our Lord for having chosen to bring us
out of a captivity so melancholy and wretched. The delight that we
felt let each one conjecture, when he shall remember the length of time
we were in that country, and the pains and perils we underwent. That
night I entreated one of my companions to return three days’ journey
after the Christians, who were moving about over the country, to which
we had given assurance of protection. They received this proposal
badly, excusing themselves because of weariness and exhaustion; and
although cither of them might have done it better than I, being younger
and more athletic, yet seeing their unwillingness, the next morning I
took the negro and eleven Indians with me, and, following the Christians
by the trail they left, I traveled ten leagues and passed three villages, at
which they had slept. The next day I overtook four of them on horse-
back, who were astonished at the sight of me, so strangely habited as

I was, and in the company of Indians. They stood staring at mea
length of time so confounded, that they neither hailed me nor drew
near to make any inquiry. I told them to take me to their chief; and
accordingly we went together for half a league to where Diego de
Alcaraz, their Captain, was. After we had conversed he stated to me
that he was completely Jost there, for he had been unable in many days
to take any Indians; he knew not which way to go, and they had
already begun to experience hunger and privation. I told him how
Castillo and Dorantes remained behind ten leagues off with a multitude
that conducted us. He thereupon sent to them three cavalry, with fifty
of the Indians that accompanied him. The negro went back to guide
them, and I remained. I asked the Christians to give me a certificate
of the year, month and day that I had arrived there, and of the manner
of my coming, and they accordingly did so. From this river to the
town of the Christians, which is named San Miguel, within the govern-
nment of the province they call New Galicia there are thirty leagues.

Francesco Vazquez de Coronado, Governor of **New Gal-
icia,”’ sent the negro Stephen with Marcos de Niza, a Fran-
ciscan friar, to reconnoiter Cibola, the Zuiii city. They found
it and Stephen was killed there in 1539. Marcos returned
with marvelous stories of what he had seen.

The next year, on Easter Monday in 1540, Coronado left
Culiacan, in the present State of Sonora on the California
Gulf, with three hundred Spanish soldiers and eight hundred
Indians, conquered “‘the seven cities of Cibola” and other
Pueblo villages, crossed the Rio Grande and the Arkansas
into the Platte Valley, and before turning back reached the
Missouri River, probably somewhere about the fortieth
parallel, after passing through Indian towns and undulating
grassy plains covered with herds of buffalo; a country he
named Quivira. Two years had elapsed before this expedi-
tion got back to Mexico. It is probable that Coronado was
crossing the prairies on his return toward Mexico in 1541,
when De Soto was making rafts to cross the Mississippi not
more than three hundred miles away. It has been asserted
that an Indian woman, frightened by Coronado's party, fled
to the eastward, and nine days later fell in with De Soto’s
men. Castafieda’s narrative of the Coronado expedition
refers to this woman, the writer evidently accepting the state-
ment as a true one:

The guides said that this river joined that of Tigeux more than twenty
days from here, and that its course turned towards the east. It is
believed that it flows into the mighty River of the Holy Spirit, which
the men with Don Hernando de Soto discovered in Florida. A painted
Indian woman ran away from Don Juan de Saldibar and hid in the
ravines about this time, because she recognized the country of Tigeux,
where she had been a slave. She fell into the hands of some Spaniards
who had entered the country from Florida to explore it in this direction.
After I got back to New Spain I heard them say that the Indian told
them she had run away from other men like them nine days, and that
she gave the names of some captains; from which we ought to believe
that we were not far from the region they discovered, although they said
they were more than two hundred leagues inland. I believe that the land
at this point is more than six hundred leagues across from sea to sea.

Biedma's narrative of the De Soto expedition does not
mention this incident, but the account of the ‘““Gentleman of
Elvas” gives a version of it which, while the writer attempts
to throw doubt on the truth of the Indian woman’s statements,
does not greatly lessen the probability that the two expedi-
tions were very close to each other:

The Governor came in two days to Nazacahoz. Some women were
taken there; among them there was one which said that she had seen
Christians and had been taken by them and had run away. The Gov-
ernor sent a captain with fifteen horsemen to the place where the
woman said she had seen them, to see if there was any sign of horses,
or any token of them being there. After they had gone three or four
leagues, the woman that guided them said that all she had told them
was untrue. And so they held all the rest that the Indians had seid of
secing Christians in the Jand of Florida.
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NARRATIVE OF THE CORONADO EXIEDITION. 9

The narrative of the Coronado Expedition, as related by
Pedro de Castaiieda of Najera, from which extracts are given
here, is the only detailed account now extant of the first jour-
ney by white men into the vast territory now comprising
Kansas, Oklahoma, Indian Territory, Texas, New Mexico
and Arizona:

In the year 1530, Nufio de Guzman, who was President of New
Spain, had in his possession an Indian, a native of the valley or valleys
of Oxitipar, who was called Tejo by the Spaniards. This Indian said
he was the son of a trader who was dead, but that when he was a little
boy his father had gone into the back country with fine feathers to trade
for ornaments, and that when he came back he brought a large amount
of gold and silver, of which there is a good deal in that country. He
went with him once or twice, and saw some very large villages, which
he compared to Mexico and its environs. He had scen seven very large
towns which had streets of silver workers. It took forty days to go
there from his country, through a wilderness in which nothing grew,
except some very small plants about a span high. The way they went
was up through the country between the two seas, following the north-
erly direction. Acting on this information, Nuiio de Guzman got
together nearly four hundred Spaniards and twenty thousand friendly

Indians of New Spain, and, as he happencd to be in Mexico,
he crossed Tarasca, which is in the province of Michoacan, so as
to get into the region which the Indians said was to be crossed
towards the North Sea, in this way getting to the country which
they were looking for, which was already named the ‘‘Seven Cities.”’
He thought, from the forty days of which the Tejo had spoken,
that it would be found to be about two hundred leagues, and that
they would easily be able to cross the country. Omitting several
things which occurred on this journey, as soon as they had reached
the province of Culiacan, where his government ended, and where the
new kingdom of Galicia is now, they tried to cross the country, but found
the difficulties very great, because the mountain chains which are near
that sea are so rough that it was impossible, after great labor, to find
a passageway in that region. His whole army had to stay in the district
of Culiacan for so long on this acconnt that some rich men who were
with him, who had possessions in Mexico, changed their minds and
every day became more anxious to return. Besides this, Nufio de Guz-
man received word that the Marquis of the Valley, Don Fernando Cortes,
had come from Spain with his new title, and with great favors and
estates, and as Nufio de Guzman had been a great rival of his at the time
he was President, and had done much damage to his property and to that
of his friends, he feared that Don Fernando Cortes would want to
pay him back in the saine way, or worse. So he decided to establish
the town of Culiacan there and go back with the other men without
doing anything more. After his return from this expedition he scttled

EARLY ATTEMPT AT PICTURING THE BUFFALO.

The fllustration is taken from a tracing made by the Rev. Edward Everett
Hale, D. D., from an old Spanish manuscript. The original drawing was made about
1599 by order of Onate and by his Sergeant-Major, Vincente de Galdivia Mendoza.

at Xalisco, where the city of Compostela is situated, and at Tonala, which
is called Guadalaxara, and now this is the new kingdom of Galicia. The
guide they had, who was called Tejo, died about this time, and thus the
name of these Seven Cities and the search for them remains until now,
since they have not been discovered.

Eight years after Nufio de Guzinan made this expedition the good
Dou Antonio de Mendoza, Viceroy of New Spain, appointed as Governor
of that province Francesco. Vazquez de Coronado, a gentleman from

Salamanca, who had married a lady in the city of Mexico, the daughter
of Alonzo de Estrada, the Treasurer and at one time Governor of Mexico,
and the son, most people said, of His Catholic Majesty Don Ferdinand,
and many stated it as certain. * * * It happened that just at this
time three Spaniards, named Cabeza de Vaca, Dorantes and Castillo
Maldonado, and a negro, who had been lost on the expedition which
Pamfilo de Narvaez led into Florida, reached Mexico. They came out
through Culiacan, having crossed the country from sea to sea, as anyone
who wishes may find out for himself by an account which this same
Cabeza de Vaca wrote and dedicated to Prince Don Philip, who is now
King of Spain and our sovercign. They gave the good Don Antonio
de Mendoza an account of some large and powerful villages, four an:!

EARLIEST KNOWN PICTURE OF A BUFFALOQ.

No animal or bird found in the new world so interested and amazed the early
explorers as the hutfalo, which then roamed in countless herds over the prairies, being
found as far east as Florida, and westward to the foot-hills of the Rocky Mountains.
‘The carliest effurts to sketch these beasts were hampered somewhat by the terror
which they inspired in the would-be artists, and the lack of dranghtmanship on the part
of the sturdy warriors who made the effort. Of the sketches sent back to Europe.
most were mere caricatures, and few have been preserv. ved. In 1553 Francisco Lopez
de Gomara, in his * lhstona General de las Indias’ published the accompanying
picture, which is a fairly accurate representation of the American Bison, as early efforts
in that direction go.

five stories high, of which they had heard a great deal in the countries
they had crossed, and other things very different from what turned out
to be the truth. The noble Viceroy communicated this to the new
Governor, who gave up the visits he had in hand, on account of this,
and burried his departure for his government, taking with him the
negro who had come with the three friars of the Order of Saint Francis,
one of whom was named Friar Marcos of Nice, a regular priest, and
another Friar Danicl, a lay brother, and the other Friar Antonio de
Santa Maria. When he reached the province of Culiacan he sent the
friars just mentioned and the negro, who was named Stephen, off in
search of that country, because Friar Marcos offered to go and see it,
because he had been in Peru at the time Don Pedro de Alvarado
went there overland. It seems that, after the friars I have mentioned and
the negro had started they did not get on well with the friars, because
he took the wonmien that were given him and collected turquoises, and
got together a stock of everything. Besides, the Indians in those places
through which they went got along with the negro better, because
they had scen him before, This was the reason he was sent on
ahead to open up the way and pacify the Indians, so that when the
others came along they had nothing to do except to keep an account
of the things for which they were looking.

After Stephen had left tlie friars, he thought he could get all the
reputation and honor himsclf, and that if he should discover those settle-
ments with such famous high houses, alone, he would be considered
bold and courageous. So he proceeded with the people who had fol-
lowed him, and succeeded in crossing the wilderness which lies
between the country he had passed through and Cibola. He was
so far ahecad of the friars that, when these reached Chichilticalli,
which is on the edge of the wilderness, he was already at Cibola,
which is eighty leagues beyond. It is two hundred and twenty leagues
from Culiacan to the edge of the wilderness, and eighty across the
desert, which makes three hundred, or perhaps ten more or less.  As |
said, Stephen reached Cibola loaded with the large quantity of turquoises
they had given him and several pretty women who had been given him,
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10 HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASIEE EXPOSITION,

The Indians who had accompanied him carried his things. These had
followed him from all the settlements he had passed, believing that
under his protection they could traverse the whole world without any
danger. But as the people in this country were more intelligent than
those who followed Stepheh, they lodged him in a little hut they had
outside their village, and the older men and the governors heard his
story and took steps to find out the reason he had come to that coun-
try. For three days they made inquiries about him and held a council.
The account which the negro gave them of two white men who were
following him, sent by a great lord, who knew about the things in
the sky, and how these were coming to instruct them in divine matters,
made them think that he must be a spy or a guide from some nations
who wished to come and conquer them, because it seemed to them
unreasonable to say that the people were white in the country from which
he came and that he was sent by them, he being black. Besides these
other reasons, they thought it hard of him to ask for turquoises and
women, and so they decided to kill him. They did this, but they did
not kill any of those who went with him, although they kept some
young fellows and let the others, about sixty persons, return freely to
their own country. As these, who were badly scared, were retnrning
in flight, they happened to come upon the friars in the descrt
sixty leagues from Cibola, and told
them the sad news, which fright-
ened them so much that they
would not even trust these folks
who had been with the negro, but
opened the packs they were carry-
ing and gave away everything they
had except the holy vestments for
saying mass. They returned from
here by double marches, prepared
for anything, without seeing any
more of the country except what
the Indians told them.

After Francisco Vazquez Cor-
onado had sent Friar Marcos, of
Nice, and his party on the search
already related, he heard an ac-
count of a province called Topira.
He started to explore this region
with several of the conquerors, but
he did not get very far. When he
got back, he found the friars who
had just arrived, and who told such
great things about what the negro
Stephen had discovered and what
they had heard from the Indians,
that, without stopping for anything,
the Governor set off at once for
the City of Mexico, taking Friar
Marcos with him, to tell the Vice-
roy about it. He made the things
seem more important by not talk-
ing about them to anyone except his

being a gentleman. Had he paid more attention and regard to the
position in which he was placed, and the charge over which he was
placed, and less to the estates which he left behind in New Spain, or,
at lcast, more to the honor he had and might secure from having such
gentlemen under his command, things would not have turned out as
they did.

When the Viceroy Don Antonio de Mendoza had fixed and arranged
everything he advanced a part of their salaries from the chest of His
Majesty to those in the army who were in greatest need. They all
finally assembled at Compostela by Shrove-tide, in the year {orty-one,
[The correct date is 1540. Castafieda carries the error through his
narrative]. The army started off with its colors flying. The Viceroy,
Don Antonio, went with them for two days, and there he took leave of
them, returning to New Spain,

After the Viceroy Don Antonio left themn, the army continued its
march. As each one was obliged to transport his own baggage, and all
did not know how to fasten the packs, and as the horses started off fat
and plump, they had a good deal of difficulty and labor during the first
few days, and left many valuable things, giving them to anyone who
wanted them, in order to get rid of carrying them, In the end, neces-
sity, which is all-powerful, made them skillful, so that one could see

many gentlemen become carriers,
and anybody who despised this
work was not considered a man.
During this time the army-master,
Lope de Samaniego, went off with
some soldiers to find food, and at
one village they shot him through
the eye, and it passed through his
brain, so that he died on the spot.
They hanged those who seemed to
belong to the district where the
army-master was killed. From
there the army marched to Culiacan.

The next day they entered the
settled country in good order, and
when they saw the first village,
which was Cibola, such were the
curses that some of them hurled at
Friar Marcos that I pray God may
protect him from them. Itis a
little, unattractive village, looking
as if it had been crumpled all up
together, There are mansions in
New Spain which make a better
appearance at a distance. The
people of the whole province had
collected there, for there are seven
villages in the district, and some
of the others are even larger and
stronger than Cibola. The Span-
iards attacked the village, which
was taken with not a little diffi-

FRIAR JUAN DE PADILLA’S BELL. culty. They discovered food there,

particular friends, under promise
of the greatest secrecy, until after
he had reached Mexico and seen
Don Antonio de Mendoza. Then
hie began to announce that they
had really found the Seven Cities,
which Nufio de Guzman had tried to
find. The noble Viceroy arranged
with the friars of the Order of Saint
Francis so that Friar Marcos was

Exhibited in the New Mexico pavilion at the World’s Fair was the hell which is
believed to have hung in the mission established at Cibola, by I'riar Juan de Padilla,
one of the Franciscan monks who accompanied the Coronado cxpedition.  The bell
weighs exactly one hundred nnd ninety-eight pounds. It was cast in Spain, in the year
1355, and bears the inscription **Maria Josefa Asio D 1355,"” the name being in accord-
ance with the custom of the early church in baptizing its bells with the names of the
saints. In all probability the bell contains a considerable quantity of gold and silver
as it was the custorn in the Middle Ages for devoted Christians to cast their jewels and
ornaments into the crucible when a new church bell was being made.  The bell was
brought to New Spain by some of the early missionary fathers and taken along by the
priests who accompanied Coronado in 1540. After Friar Juan was killed by the Indians
at Cibola the bell was taken by later missionaries to (iran Quivira, where it hungin an
early church, the ruins of which are still visible. Thence it was taken to .\lgodones,
where it hung in the parish church until it was sent to the World's Fair through the
efforts of Governor Otero of New Mexico. The data regarding the bell's history were
unearthed by the Reverend Father Coudert of Bernalillo, New Mexico.

which was the thing they were
most in need of. After this the
whole province was at peace.
After Melchior Diaz and Juan
Gallego had arrived in the town of
Sefiora, it was announced that the
army was to depart for Cibola; that
Melchior Diaz was to remain in
charge of the town with eighty men:
that Juan Gallego was going back

made Father Provincial, as a result

of which the pulpitsof that Order were filled with such accounts of marvels
and wonders that more than three hundred Spaniards and about eight
hundred natives of New Spain collected in a few days. There were so
many men of such high quality among the Spaniards that such a noble
body was never collected in the Indies, nor so many men of quality in such
a small body, there being three hundred men. Francisco Vazquez Coro-
nado, Governor of New Galicia, was Captain-General, because he was the
author of it all. The good Viceroy Don Antonio did this because at this
time Francisco Vazquez was his closest and most intimate friend, and
because he considered him to be wise, skillful and intelligent, besides

to New Spain with messages for the
Viceroy and that Friar Marcos was going with him, because he did not
think it was safe for iim to stay in Cibola, seeing that his report had turned
out to be entirely false, because the kingdoms that he had told about had
not been found, nor the populous cities, nor the wealth of gold, nor the
precious stones which he liad reported, nor the fine clothes, nor other
things that had been proclaimed from the pulpits. When this had been
announced, those wlo were to remain were selected and the rest loaded
their provisions and set off in good order, about thie middle of Septem-
ber, on the way to Cibola, following their General. Everything
went along in good shape. They continued their march until they
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FATHER HENNEPIN'S DRAWING OF THE AMERICAN BISON.

Of all the early explorers of Louisiana, the Reverend Louis Hennepin. S. J., displayed the greatest artistic talent, and the drawings and sketches with which he embellished
the printed reports of his exploratious are of peculiar interest. To [Father Hennepin, as to the early Spaniards, the American Bison appcnr_cd one of the most wonderful and
interesting features of the new land. The illustration is a photographic reproduction from a copy of the first edition of Father [lennepin's ® Deseription de laLouisiane,”
published at I"aris, in 1693, now in the possession of the Misssouri Historical Society, and exhibited by them at the Louisiana Purchase Exposition.  Not only is the picturc of
the buflfalo more life-like than any other of the early representations of this beast, but the opossum and the flamingo in the picture are the first pictures of those creatures

known to have been published in Europe.

reached Chichilticalli. The men in the advance guard saw a fock
of sheep one day after leaving this place. I myself saw and fol-
lowed them. They had extremely long bodies and long wool; their
horns were very thick and large and when they run they throw back
their heads and put their horus on the ridge of their back., Threce days
after we entered the wilderness we found a horn on the bank of a river
that flows in the bottom of a very steep, deep gully, which the Generat
had noticed and left there for his army to see, for it was six feet long
and as thick at the base as a man’s thigh. It seemed to be more like
the horn of a goat than of any other animal. It was something worth
seeing. The army proceeded and was about a day’s march from Cibola
when a very cold tornado came up in the afternoon, followed by a great
fall of snow, which was a bad combination for the carriers.

While the things already described were taking place, Cibola being
at peace, the General, Francisco Vazquez, foundout from the people of
the province about the provinces that lay around it, and got them to tell
their friends and neighbors that Christians had come into the country,
whose only idea was to be their friends, and to find out about good lands
to live in, and for them to come to see the strangers and talk to them.
They informed him about a province with seven villages of the same
sort as theirs, although somewhat different, This province is called
Tusayan. It is twenty-five leagues from Cibola. The villages are high
and the people are warlike.

The General sent Don Pedro de Tovar to these villages with seven-
teen horsemen and three or four foot soldiers. Juan de Padilla, a Fran-
ciscan friar, who had been a fighting man in his youth, went with them,
When they reached the region they entered the country so quictly that
nobody observed them, because there were no settlements or farms between

one village and another and the people do not leave the villages
except to go to their farms, especially at this time, when they had heard
that Cibola had been captured by very ficrce people, who traveled on
animals which ate people. This information was generally believed by
those who had never seen horses, although it was so strange as to cause
much wonder. This was where they obtained information about a large
river. After they had gone twenty days they came to the banks of the
river, which seemed to be three or four leagues above the stream that
flowed between them,

While they were making these discoveries, some Indians came to
Cibolafrom avillage which was seventy leagues east of this province, called
Cicuye. Among them was a Captain who was called Whiskers by our
men, because he wore a long mustache., They described some cows
which, from a picture that one of them had painted on his skin, seemed
to be cows, although from the hides this did not seem possible, because
the hair was woolly and so snarled that we could not tell what kind of
skins they had. The General ordered Hernando de Alvarado to take
twenty companions and go with them. Captain Alvarado started on
this journey and in five days reached a village which was on a rock
called Acuco. From here they went to a province called Tigeux, three
days distant. The people came out peacefully, seeing that Whiskers
was with them. Five days from here he came to Cicuye, a very strong
village four stories high. The Spaniards enjoyed themselves here for
several days, and talked with an Indian slave, a native of the country
towards Florida, which is the region Don Hernando de Soto discovered.
This fellow said there were large scttlements in the further part of that
country. Hernando de Alvarado took him to guide them to the cows,
but he told them so many and such great things about the wealth of gold
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12 HISTORY OF TIIE LOUISIANA PURCHASE EXPOSITION.

and silver in his country that they did not care about looking for cows,
but returned after they had scen some few, to report the rich news to
the General. They called the Indian “‘ Turk’ because he looked like
one, Information was obtained about many towns up towards the north,
and I belicve it would have been much better to have followed this di-
rection than that of the Turk, who was the cause of all the misfortunes
which followed.

The General felt no slight joy at such goud news, because the Turk
said that in his country there was a river in the level country which was
two leagues wide, in which there were fishes as big as horses, and large
numbers of very big canoes, with more than twenty rowers on a side,
and that they carried sails, and that their lords sat on the poop under
awnings, and on the prow they had a great golden cagle. He said also
that the lord of that country took his afterncon nap under a great tree
on which were hung a great number of little gold bells, which put him
to sleep as they swung in the air. He said also that everyone had their
ordinary dishes made of wrought plate, and the jugs and bowls were of
gold. He called gold acochis. For the present he was believed, on ac-
count of the ease with which he told it, and because they showed him
metal ornaments and he recognized them and said they were not gold,
and he knew gold and silver very well and did not care anything about
other metals,

The General sent Hernando de Alvarado back to Cicuye to demand
some gold bracelets which this Turk said they had taken from him at the
time they captured him. Alvarado went and was received as a [riend at
the village, and when he demanded the bracelets they said they knew
nothing at all about them, saying the Turk was decciving him and was
Iying, Captain Alvarado, sceing that there were no other means, got
the Captain, Whiskers, and the Governor, to come to his tent, and when
they had come he put them in chains. The villagers prepared to fight
and let fly their arrows, denouncing Hernando de Alvarado, and saying
that he was a man who had no respect for peace and friendship. Her-
nando de Alvarado started back to Tigeux, where the General kept them
prisoners more than six months. This began the want of confidence in
the word of the Spaniards, whenever there was talk of peace, from this
time on.

When the river, which for almost four months had been frozen over
so that they crossed the ice on horschack, had thawed out, orders were
given for the start to Quivira, where the Turk said there was some gold
and silver, although not so much as in Arche and the Guaes. There
were already some in the army who suspected the Turk., The army left
Tigeux on the fifth of May and returned to Cicuye, taking Whiskers
with them. The village was very glad to sece him, and the people were
peaceful and offered food. The Governor and Whiskers gave the Gen-
eral a young fellow named Xabe, a native of Quivira, who could give
thiem information about the country. This fellow said that there was gold
and silver, but not so much of it as the Turk had said. He went as
guide, and thus the army started off from there.

After four days’ journey they came to a river with a large, deep
current, which flowed down toward Cicuye, and they named this the
Cicuye river. [Pccos] After ten days more they came to some settle-
ments of people who lived like Arabs, and are called Querechos in that
region. They had seen the cows for two days. These folks live in
tents made of the tanned skins of the cows. They travel around near
the cows, killing them for food. They did nothing unusual when they
saw our army, cxcept to come out of their tents and look at us, after
which they came to talk with the advance guard, and asked who we
were. The General taltked with them, but as they had already talked
with the Turk, who was with the advance guard, they agreed with what
he had said. That they were very intelligent is evident from the fact
that, although they conversed by means of signs, they made themselves
understood so well there was no need of an interpreter. They said that
there was a very large river over where the sun came from, and that
one could go along this river throngh an inhabited region for ninety
days without a break from secttlement to settlement. They said that the
first of these settlements was called Haxa, and that the river was more
than a league wide, and that there were many canoes on it.  These folks
started off from here the next day with a lot of dogs which dragged
their possessions. For two days, during which the army marched in
the same direction as that in which they had come from the settlements
—that is, between north and east but more to the north—they saw other
roaming Querechos and such great numbers of cows that it already
seemed something incredible,  These people gave a great deal of infor-
mation about settlements, all towards the east from where we were.
The Turk said it was one or two days to Haxa. The General sent Cap-
tain Diego Lopez with ten cgmpanions lightly equipped and a guide to

go at full speed toward the sunrise for two days and discover Haxa, and
then return to mect the army, which set out in the same direction the
next day. They came across so many animals that those who were on
the advance guard killed a large number of bulls.  As these fled they
trampled one another in their haste until they came to a ravine. So
many of the animals fell into this that they filled it up, and the rest
went across on top of them. The men who were chasing them on
horseback fell in among the animals without noticing where they were
going. Three of the horses that fell in among the cows, all saddled and
bridled, were lost sight of completely.

They followed the river down to the camp and told the General that
in the twenty leagues they had been over they had seen nothing but the
cows and the sky. There was another native of Quivira with the army,
a painted Indian named Ysopete., This Indian had always declared that
the Turk was lying, and on account of this the army paid no attention
to him, and even now, although he said that the Querechos had con-
sulted with him, Ysopete was not believed.

The General sent Don Rodriguo Maldonado with his company for-
ward from here.  He traveled four days and reached a large ravine, inthe
bottom of which he found a large settlement of people. Cabeza de Vaca
and Dorantes had passed through this place, so that they presented Don
Rodriguo with a pile of tanned skins and other things, and a tent as
big as a house, which he directed them to keep until the army came up.
When the General came up with the army, the men made a rush for the
skins and in less than a quarter of an hour nothing was left but the
empty ground. The natives who happened to see this also took a hand
in it. The women and some others were left crying, because they
thought the strangers were not going to take anything, but would bless
them as Cabeza de Vaca and Dorantes had done when they passed
through here. They found an Indian girl who was as white as a Cas-
tilian lady, except that she had her chin painted like a Moorish woman. In
general they all paint themselves in this way here, and decorate their eyes.

They do not make gourds, nor sow corn, nor eat bread, but instead
raw meat—or only hali cooked—and fruit. From here the General set
out to explore the country and they found another settlement four days
from here. The country was well inhabited and they had plenty of kid-
ney beans and prunes like those of Castile, and tall vineyards. These
village settlements extended for three days. This was called Cona.
Some Teyas, as these people are called, went with the army from here
and traveled as far as the end of the other settlements with their packs
of dogs and women and children, and then they gave them guides to
proceed to a large ravine where the army was. They did not let these
guides speak with the Turk and did not rececive the same statements
from these as they had from tie others. These said that Quivira was
towards the north and that we would not find any good road thither.
After this they began to believe Ysopete. During this journey a Teya
was seen to shoot a bull right through both shoulders with an arrow,
which would be a good shot for a musket. These people are very intel-
higent. They wear shoes and buskins made of tanned skin,

Up to this point they had made thirty-seven days’ marches, travel-
ing six or seven lcagues a day. It had been the duty of one man to
measure aud count his steps. They found it was 250 leagues to the set-
tlements. When the General, Francesco Vazquez, realized this, and saw
that they had been deceived by the Turk heretofore, he called the cap-
tains and ensigns together to decide on what they thought ought to be
done. They all agreed that the General should go in search of Quivira
with thirty horsemen and half a dozen foot soldiers, and that Don
Tristan de Arellano should go back to Tigeux with the army. When
the men in the ariny learned of this decision, they begged their General
not to leave them to condnct the further search, but declared that they
all wanted to die with him and did not want to go back. This did not
do any good, and the General set off with the guides he had and with
Ysopete. The Turk was taken along in chains. He appointed the
Alderman Diego Lopez his army master and took with him the men wlio
scemed to hiin to be most efficient, and the best horses. The guides
ran away during the first few days and Diego Lopez had to return to the
army for guides. The army spent a fortnight here, preparing jerked
beel to take with them. It was estimated that during this fortnight
they killed five hundred bulls, The number of these that were there
without any cows was something incredible. Many fellows were lost at
this time who went out hunting and did not get back to the army for
two or three days. The country there is so level that at midday, after
one has wandered about in one direction and another in pursuit of
game, the only thing to do is to stay near the game quictly until sun-
set, so as to see where it goes down, and even then they have to be
men who are practiced to do it.
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14 HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE EXPOSITION.

The General followed his guides until he reached Quivira, which
took forty-eight days’ marching, on account of the great detour they
had made towards Florida. He was received peacefully on aceount of the
guides he had. They asked the Turk why hie had lied and guided them
so far out of their way. He said that his country was in that dirce-
tion, and that, besides this, the people at Cicuye had asked him to lead
them off on the plains and lose them, so that the horses would die when
the provisions gave out and they would be so weak if they ever returned
that they could be killed without any trouble, and thus they could take
revenge for what had been done to them. This was the reason why he
had led them astray, supposing that they did not know how to hunt or to
live without corn, while as for gold, he did not know where there was
any of it. He said this like one who had given up hope and who found
that he was being persecuted since they had begun to believe Ysopete,
who had guided them better than he had, and fearing lest those who
were there might give him some advice by which some harm would
come to him. They garroted him, which pleased Ysopete very much,
because he had always said that Ysopete was a rascal, and that he did
not know what he was talking about and had always hindered his tatking
with anybody. Neither gold nor silver nor any trace of either was
found among these people. Their lord wore a copper plate on his neck
and prized it highly.

The army left the ravine and returned to the Teyas, where they took
guides who led them back by a more direct road. They readily fur-
nished these, because the people are always roaming over this country in
pursuit of the animals and know it so thoroughly. They keep their road
in this way: In the morning they notice where the sun rises and
observe the direction they are going to take and then shoot an arrow in
this direction. Before reaching this they shoot another over it, and in
this way they go all day towards the water where they are to end the day.
In this way the army covered in twenty-five days what had taken them
thirty-seven days going, besides stopping to hunt cows on the way.
They found many salt lakes on this road, and there was a large quantity
of salt. All over these plains there were a large number of animals like
squirrels and a great number of their holes. On the return the army
reached the Cicuye river more than thirty leagues below the bridge they
had made when they crossed it, and they followed it up to that place.

As the time had arrived which the General had set for his return
from Quivira, Don Tristan selected forty companions and started with
them in search of the General. When he reached Cicuye the people
came out of the village to fight, which detained him there four days
while he punished them, which he did by firing some volleys into the
village. Everybody welcomed the General on his arrival with great joy.
The Indian Xabe, who was the young fellow who had been given to the
General at Cicuye when he started off in search of Quivira. was with
Don Tristan de Arellano, and when he learned that the General was
coming he acted as if he was greatly pleased and said: **Now when
the General comes you will see that there is gold and silver in Quivira,
although not so much as the Turk said.”” When the Genera!l arrived
and Xabe saw that they had not found anything, he was sad and silent,
and kept declaring that there was some. He made many believe that it
was so, because the General had not dared to enter into the country on
account of its being thickly settled and his force not very strong, and
that he had returned to lead his army there after the rains. because it
had began to rain already. as it was early in August [1541] when he
left. It took him forty days to return, traveling lightly equipped. The
Turk had said when they left Tigeux that they ought not to load the
horses with too much provisions, which would tire them so that they
could not afterwards carry the gold and silver, from which it is very
evident that he was deceiving them.

The General reached Cicuye with his force and at once set off for
Tigeux, leaving the village more quiet, for they had met him peaccably
and talked with him. When he reached Tigeux, he made his plans to
pass the winter there, so as to return with the whole army, because it
was said that he brought information regarding large scttlements and
very large rivers, and that the country was very much like that of Spain
in the fruits and vegetation and scasons. They were not ready to
believe that there was no gold there, but instead had suspicions that
there was some further back in the country, because, although this
was denied, they knew what the thing was and had a name for it
among themselves—acochis.

After the winter was over, the return to Quivira was announced,
and the men began to prepare the things needed. Since nothing in this
life is at the disposition of men, but all is under the ordination of
Almighty God, it was His will that we should not accomplish this, and
so it happened that one feast day the General went out on horseback to

amuse himself, as usual riding with the Captain Don Rodriguo Maldonado,
He was on a powerful horse and his servants had put on a new girth,
which must have been rotten at the time, for it broke during the race
and he fell over on the side where Don Rodriguo was, and as his horse
passed over him it hit his head with its hoof, which laid him at the
point of death, and his recovery was slow and doubtful.  The expecta-
tion of death made him desire to return and die where he had a wife
aud children. He ordered that everything should be ready to start on
the return to New Spain by the beginning of the month of April, 1543.
[The correct date is 1542].

Sceing this, Friar Juan de Padilla, a regular brother of the lesser
Order [The Order of St. Francis], and another, Friar Luis, a lay brother,
told the General that they wanted to remain in that country—Friar
Juan de Padilla in Quivira, because his teachings seemed to promise
fruit there, and Friar l.uis at Cicuye. The General sent a company to
escort them as far as Cicuye, where Friar lans stopped, while Friar
Juan went on back to Quivira with the guides who had conducted the
General. e was martyred a short time after he arrived there. We
may be sure he died a martyr, because his zeal was holy and carnest.
Friar Luis remained at Cicuye, Nothing more has been heard about
him since, but before the army left Tigeux some men who went to take
him a number of sheep which were left for him to keep, met him as he
was on his way to visit some other villages. He felt very hopeful that
he was liked at the village and that his teaching would bear fruit,
although he complained that the old men were falling away from him, 1,
for my part, believe that they finally killed him. He was a man of good
and holy hie, and may our Lord protect him and grant that he may con-
vert many of these peoples and end his days in guiding them in the
faith. We do not need to believe otherwise, for the people in those
parts are pious and not at all cruel.

The General proceeded, leaving the men who did not want to follow
him along the way, and reached Mexico with less than one hundred men.
He made his report to the Viceroy, Don Antonio de Mendoza, who did
not receive him very graciously, although he gave him his discharge.
His reputation was gone from this time on. He kept the government
of New Galicia, which had been intrusted to him, for only a short time,
when the Viceroy took it himself until the arrival of the audiencia which
still governs it.  And this was the end of those discoveries and of the
expedition which was made to those new lands.

Hernando De Soto was born in Jerez, Iistromadura, Spain,
about 1496. For the means of obtaining an ecducation he was
indebted to Don Pedro Arias de Avila, who is more frequently
called Pedrarias or Davila. De Soto was with Davila in his
second expedition to Darien in 1519. He served under Her-
nandez in the Nicaragua expedition in 1527, and in 1528
explored the coasts of Guatemala and Yucatan in search of a
passage to the Dacific. 1le led three hundred volunteers to
reinforce izarro at a critical time in 1531, and served with dis-
tinction in the conquest of Peru. Going to Peru with nothing
but his sword, he returned to Spain with a fortune of “an
hundred and four score thousand ducats’ ($500,000), and
married the daughter of his friend and patron, Don Pedro
Arias de Avila. He lent some of his money to Charles V,
who thereupon made him Governor of Cuba.

De Soto believed that the road to the mythical El Dorado
lay through Florida and that he could find it. Offering to
head an expedition raised for this purpose at his own expense,
he was made Adelantado or President of Florida by the
Emperor. The prevailing belief that he would discover another
Peru, enabled him to set sail from Spain in 1539 in nine ves-
sels, with twenty-four priests, twenty officers, two hundred
and twenty-three horses and six hundred splendidly equipped
and enthusiastic men, some of whom had sold all their posses-
sions to equip themselves for the enterprise.

After a short stay at Havana, he landed at Espiritu Santo
(Tampa) Bay, May 25, 1539. He reached Pensacola harbor
by land and was forced to winter there, and set forth again in
March, 1540. The story of the difficulties he encountered in
Florida, his conflicts with and cruelties to the Indians need
not be recited here. On October 18, 1540, after wandering
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EXPEDITION OF HERNANDO DE SOTO. I5

through Georgia and Alabama, he reached Mavila (the site
of Mobile), and in an effort to massacre all the natives, lost
eighty of his men and forty-two horses. He established him-
self for his second winter at a Chickasaw village in the Yazoo
country. In the spring of 1541 he demanded of these Indians
two hundred men to carry his baggage. The following night
they burned the huts he occupied. All his baggage and stores
were destroyed and forty Spaniards perished in the flames.
This caused a delay of some weeks before he could resume his
march, his men by this time being no better clad than the
Indians. A march of seven days more through swamps, cane-
brakes and tangled forests brought him to the Mississippi at
the lower Chickasaw Bluff. The ‘“Narrative of a Gentleman
of Elvas” contains the first

description of the great

river and of the Mississippi

catfish ever given by a

white man, so far as records

now in existence show :

In thirty days’ space, while
the Governor remained there,
they made four barges; in three
of which he commanded twelve
horsemen to enter, in each of
them four. In a morning,
three hours before day, men
which he trusted would land
in despite of the Indians and
make sure the passage or die,
and some footmen, being cross-
bow men, went with them and
rowers to set them on the other
side. And in the other barge
he commanded Juan de Guzman
to pass with the footmen, which
was made Captain instead of
Francisco Maldonado. And
because the stream was swilt,
they went a quarter of a league
up the river along the bank and,
crossing over, fell down with
the stream, and landed right
over against the camp. Two
stones’ cast before they came
to land, the horsemen went out
of the barges on horschack to
a sandy plot, a very hard and
clear ground, where all of them
landed without any resistance.
As soon as those that passed
first were on land on the other
side, the barges returned to the
place where the Governor was,
and within two hours after sun
rising, all the people were over.
The river was almost half a
league broad. If a man stood
stilt on the other side, it could
not be discerned whether he was

STATUE OF DE SOTO.

On the western side of the Plaza of Saint Louis stood E. C. Potter’s magnificent heroic A A ¢
uestrian statue of the great Spanish discoverer, Hernando De Soto.  The strong, stern features ence to bring somethmg with

Ilorida.” From this point De Soto’s route, as nearly as it can
be traced, went up the west side of the river to some point in
Missouri about New Madrid, thence westward to the head
streams of White River and thence to the Washita, where he
spent his third winter, including the now famous Hot Springs
of Arkansas among his discoveries. Proceeding down the
Washita to Red River, and down the latter to its mouth, he
fell ill and died there May 21, 1542, after writing letters to his
wife in Cuba, and naming Luis de Moscoso as his successor in
command. To conceal his death from the Indians, his body
was sunk in the Mississippi at midnight. Three various
accounts of the death and burial of De Soto are given, the
popular tradition that his body was encased in the trunk of a
tree before being sunk in
the Mississippi not Dbeing
borne out by the contem-
porary chroniclers who ac-
companied the explorer.
“The Narrative of a Gen-
tleman of Elvas,” which is
now regarded as the most
accurate, as it is the most
picturesque, account of the
De Soto expedition, gives
a detailed relation of the
great captain's end:
The Governor sent Juan
Danusco with eight horsemen
down the river, to see what
habitation there was, and to
inform himself if there was any
sign of the sea. He traveled
eight days, and at his return he
said that in all that time he was
not able to go abovc fourteen
or fifteen leagues, because of
the great creeks that came out
of the river, and that he had
found no habitation. The Gov-
ernor fell into great dumps to
see how hard it was to get to
the sea; and worse, because his
men and horses every day di-
minished, being without succor
to sustain themselves in the
country; and with that thought
he fell sick. But before he took
his bed he sent an Indian to the
cacique of Quigalta to tell him
that he was the child of the
sun, and that all the way that
he came all men obeyed and
served him, that he requested
him to accept of his friendship
and come unto him; for he

would be very glad to see him;
and in sign of love and obedij-

H of the intrepid Spaniard. and bis masterful poise, as with his steel morion lifted from his brow he N . . .
a man or no. The river was reins in his charger and surveys the country he has found by the great river, made the statue one him of that which in his country

of great deplh and of a strong of the most pleasing and vigorous works of art at the Exposition.

current; the water was always

muddy ; there came down the river continually many trees and timbers,
which the force of the water and stream brought down. There was great
store of fish in it of sundry sorts, and the most of it differing from the
fresh water fish of Spain. There was a fish which they called bagres;
the third part of it was hcad, and it had on both sides the gills and along
the sides great pricks like very sharp awls. Those of the kind in the
river were some of an hundred, and of an hundred and fifty pounds
weight, and many of them were taken with the hook.

A month was consumed in constructing the rafts by which
the Spaniards crossed what they called ‘“‘the Great River of

was mostesteemed. The cacique
answered by the same Indian:

‘“That whereas he said he was the child of the sun, if he would dry
up the river he would believe him; and touching the rest, that he was
wont to visit nonc; but rather that all of those of whom he had notice
did visit him, served, obeyed, and paid him tributes willingly or per-
force; therefore, if he desired to see him, it was best he should come
thither; that if he came in peace, he would receive him with special
good will; and if in war, in like manner he would attend him in the
town where he was, and that for him or any other he would not shrink
one foot back.”’

By the time the Indian returned with this answer the Governor had
betaken himself to bed, being evil handled with fevers, and was much
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16 HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE EXPOSITION.

aggrieved that he was not in case to pass presently the river and to seck
him, to see il he could abate that pride of his, considering the river now
went very strongly in these parts; for it was near hall a league broad
and sixteen fathoms decp, and very furious and ran with a great current;
and on both sides there were many Indians, and his power was not now
so great, but that he had necd to help himself rather by cunning than
by force.

The Governor felt in himself that the hour approached wherein he
was to leave this present life, and called for the King's officers, captains
and principal persons, to whom he made a speech, saying:

““That now he was to go to give an account before the presence of
God of all his life past; and since it pleased Him to take him in such a
time, and that the time was conie that he knew his death, that he, His
most untrustworthy servant, did yield Him many thanks therefor; and
desired all that were present and absent (which he confessed himself to
be much beholden unto for their singular virtues, love and loyalty, which
himself had well tried in the travels which they had suffered, which
always in his mind did he hope to satisfy and reward, when it should
plecase God to give him rest, with more prosperity of his estate), that
they would pray to God for him, that for His mercy he would forgive
him his sins and receive his soul into cternal glory, and that they would
quit and free him of the charge which he had over them, and owed unto
them all, and that they would pardon him for some wrongs which they
might have received of him. And to avoid some division, which upon
his death might fall out upon the choice of his successor, he requested
them to elect a principal person, and able to govern, of whom all should
like well; and when he was elected they should swcar before him to
obey him; and that he would thank them very much in so doing;
because the grief that he had would somewhat be assuaged and the pain
that he felt, because he left them in so great confusion, to-wit: in leav-
ing them in a strange country, where they knew not where they were.”’

Baltasar de Gallegos answered in the name of all the rest. And
first of all comforting him, he set before his eyes how short the life of
this world was, and how God showed him a singular favor which soonest
left it, telling him many other things fit for such a time. And for the
last point, that since it pleased God to take him to Himself, although
his death did justly grieve them much, yet as well he, as all the rest,
ought of necessity to conform themselves to the will of God. And
touching the Governor which he commanded they should elect, he
besought him, that it would please his Lordship to name him which he
thought fit, and him they would obey. And presently he named Luis de
Moscoso de Alvarado, his Captain-General. And presently he was sworn
by all that were present and elected for Governor. The next day, being
the 21st of May, 1542, departed out of this life the valorous, virtuous and
valiant Captain, Don Fernando de Soto, Governor of Cuba and Adel-
antado of Florida; whom fortune advanced, as it useth to do others,
that he might have the higher fall. He departed in such a place, and at
such a time, as in his sickness he had but little comfort; and the danger
wherein all his people were of perishing in that country, which appeared
before their eyes, was cause sufficient wly every one of them had need
of comfort, and why they did not visit or accompany him as they
ought to have done. Luis de Moscoso deterinined to conceal his death
from the Indians, because Fernando de Soto had made them believe
that the Christians were immortal; and also because they took him to
be hardy, wise and valiant; and if they should know that he was dead,
they would be bold to set upon the Christians, though they lived peace-
ably by them. In regard of their disposition, and because they were
nothing constant, and believed all that was told them, the Adclantado
had made them believe that he knew some things that passed in secret
among themselves, without their knowledge as to how or in what man-
ner he came by them, and that the figure which appeared in a glass,
which he showed them, did tell him whatsocver they practiced or went
about; and therefore neither in word nor deed dared they attempt any-
thing that might be prejudicial unto him.

As soon as he was dead, Luis de Moscoso commanded to put him
secretly in the house, where he remained three days; and removing him
from thence, commanded him to be buried in the night at one of the
gates of the town within the wall. And as the Indians had seen him
sick, and missed him, so did they suspect what might be. And passing
by the place where he was buried, sceing the earth moved, they looked
and spake one to another. Luis de Moscoso, understanding of it, com-
manded him to be taken up by night, and to ‘cast a great deal of sand
into the mantles wherein he was wound up, wherein he was carried in
a canoe and cast into the middle of the river. The Cacique of Guachoya

inquired for him, demanding what was become of his brother and lord,”

the Governor; Luis de Moscoso told him that he was gone to heaven,

as many other times he did; and because he was to stay there certain
days he had left him in his place. The cacique thought with himself
that he was dead; and commanded two young and well-proportioned
Indians to be brought thither ; and said that the use of that country was,
when any lord died, to kill Indians to wait upon him and serve him by
the way, and for that purpose by his commandinent were those come
thither; and prayed Luis de Moscoso to command them to be beheaded,
that they might attend and scrve his lord and brother.  Luis de Moscoso
told him that the Governor was not dead, but gone to heaven, and that of
his own Christian soldiers he had taken such as he nceeded to serve him,
and prayed him to command those Indians to be loosed, and not to use
any stuch bad customn from thenceforth; and straightway he commanded
them to be loosed and to get them home to their houses. And one of
thiem would not go, saying that he would not serve him who witheut
desert had adjudged him to death, but that as long as he lived would he
serve him who had saved his life.

Luis de Moscoso caused all the goods of the Governor to be sold at
an outcry: to-wit, two men slaves and two women slaves, and three
horses and seven lmdred hogs. For every slave or lorse, they gave
two or three thousand ducats; which were to be paid at the first melting
of gold or silver, or at the division of their portion of inheritance. And
they entered into bonds, thongh in the country there was not wherewith,
to pay it within a year after, and put in sureties for the same. Suchas
in Spain had no goods to bind, gave two hundred ducats for a hog,
giving assurance after the same manner., Those which had any goods
it Spain bought with more fear and bought the less.  From that time for-
ward most of the company had swine, and brought them up and fed upon
them; and observed Fridays and Saturdays and the evenings of feasts,
which before they did not, for sonietimes in two or three months they
did eat no flesh, and whensoever they could come by it they did eat it.

Biedma barely mentions De Soto's death and gives no
details of his burial. The ‘“hollow tree”” myth seems to be
founded on Garcilasso de la Vega's “‘Historia General de las
Indias,” compiled from unknown sources nearly fifty years
later. La \ega says:

The Spaniards, who ardently loved Soto, very much regretted not
being able to give him an honorable funeral. They considered that if
they should inter him with pomp, the Indians, who would learn the
place of his burial, would come to disinter him and would commit
upon his body all the barbaritics which hate would inuspire. They had,
indeed, thus acted toward many soldiers and committed upon them all
sorts of indignities. They had hung some and put others, quartered,
upon the highest trces, and very probably they apprehended that they
would be transported with more cruelty against the General than against
the other, in order to highly insult the troops in his person. Thercfore
the Spaniards, in order to prevent them from knowing the place where
he should be interred, resolved to bury him by night. They chose, near
Guachoia, a place in a ficld where there were many ditches which the
inhabitants of this town had made in getting dirt; and they put in one
of these trenches the body of Soto, over which they again shed many
tears. The next day, in order to thoroughly conceal the place of his
sepulchre, and to disguise their sorrow, they spread a report that the
General was better. They mounted their horses as through joy that he
had recovered his health and, as in public festivals, they caracoled a long
time over the trench, in order to conceal it from the barbarians, and
hide from them, in some manner, the body of their commander. In
order the better to succeed in their design, they even directed that
before the races they should, after having filled all the trenches to the
same level as that of the General’s, cast a quantity of water there upon
pretense of preventing the horses from raising a dust in running.
Nevertheless, notwithstanding all these precautions and feints, the
Indians suspected the death of Soto and the place where he was, for
when they passed over these trenches, they suddenly stopped and fixed
their eyes upon the place of his burial. Our men began to fear for the
General, and agreed to take him from the trench and give him, for a
grave, the Chucagua [so la Vega calls the Mississippi], of which
beforehand they wished to know the depth; therefore, one evening,
Aniasco, Cardenioso and others, in order to sound the river, pretended
to go a-fishing, and reported that there were nine fathoms of water in
the middle. They immediately resolved to put there the body of Soto,
but as there were no stones in the province to sink it to the bottom,
they cut a very large oak, which they sawed and hollowed on one side
to the height of a man; and the night following Aniasco and his com-
panions disinterred the General without noise, and put him in the hollow




meng

Hem

it they i o

cand g
b seems :

Generz, - .
iy i e

Bere o

EXPEDITION OF HERNANDO DE SOTO. 17

of this oak, over which they nailed a covering. They then carried it
on the river, to the place where they had sounded, and it went
immediately to the bottom. Carmona and Coles, who relate this
circumstance, add that when the barbarians no longer saw Soto, they
inquired for him, and that in order to deceive them, they answcred
that God had sent for him in order to give him orders for important
affairs, and that at his return, which would be in a short time, he would
bravely execute them.

Moscoso led the expedition westward toward Mexico for
nearly a year, and is supposed to have reached the Pecos
River, but returning to the mouth of Red River, built rude
barges on which he embarked on the Mississippi with three
hundred and twenty-two men July 2, 1543, reaching the Gulf
in eighteen days, and finally getting back to Spain by way of
Mexico. Several contemporary narratives and fragmentary
accounts of the De Soto expedition still exist. A letter from
De Soto himself to the municipal authorities of Santiago de
Cuba gives his own brief story of the beginnings of his pain-
ful march through the wilderness :

Most NosLE Sirs:—Since my arrival in this country I have written
three lctters by different opportunities to Havana, and without being
honored by a reply to either, I embrace this occasion to address you
another, believing it will always be agreeable to you to hear from me, I
sailed from Havana with my fleet on Sunday, May 18th, {1539] although
I had written you I would not weigh anchor before the 25th. I set sail
sooner than I had intended, in order to profit by a favorable wind. We
had no sooner, however, entered the Gulf than we were becalmed, which
prevented us from reaching this coast before Whit Sunday, the 25th.
We missed our port by five or six leagues, through the carelessness of
the pilots, which obliged me to embark on board of one of the brigan-
tines to go in search of it, which detained me three days more. But
another cause of this delay was my ignorance of the channel, which led
me into a bay some twelve leagues or more inland, from which I found
it difficult to extricate myseli. This loss of time, therefore, obliged me
to send Vasco Parcallo de Figueroa, my Lieutenant-General, with the
brigantines to take possession of a village at the foot of the bay, and I
ordered him to land ali the troops and horses there, where I afterwards
joined him, with some difficulty, on Trinity Sunday. The Indians
became frightened and deserted the country, so that in a distance of
thirty leagues or more we did not meet with a human being.

As soon as I landed I was informed that a Christian was in the
power of a cacique of the country. I accordingly dispatched Baltasar
de Gallegos with forty horsemen and as many foot soldiers, to bring him
into camp.  After marching a day’s journcy he overtook the Christian
in company with eight or ten Indians who were coming to me. I was
much pleased with this good fortune, for this man knew the language
of the country, although he had almost forgotten his own. His name
is Juan Ortiz, a gentleman of Seville. I afterwards went in person to
the cacique of this province and learned from him that his intentions
were entirely pacific. I then dispatched Baltasar de Gallegos with
eighty lancers and one hundred foot soldiers to reconnoitre the country,
He found it cultivated with fields of Indian corn, beans, pumpkins and
other vegetables, sufficient for the supply of a large army. Having
arrived at a cacique’s called Hurricupaxi, who is the chief of several
provinces. I negotiated with him a treaty of peace, which he broke very
soon after. I had him immediately arrested, with seventeen others,
among whom were several old men, who were influential with the
Indians and acquainted with the interior of the country. They told me
that after three days’ journey I would come to a country wel peopled
and cultivated, and to a large city called Aquerra; and after two days
more we should reach another city called Ocale, where it would be
pleasant for us to spend the winter.

They related to me so many improbable things about its magnifi-
cence that I dare not repeat them all to you. They said we should find
here all kinds of poultry and deer, Guayhacos, enclosed in parks.
Besides persons who carried on a brisk trade with them in gold and
pearls, which were found in their province in great quantities. I trust
in God it may be so, for I have threatened to punish them if they
attempt to deceive me. The Christian has so far rendered me very
important services. Indeed, I do not know what would have become of
us if we had not been so fortunate as to have met with him. I con-
stantly return thanks to God for His watchful care over us. There are
still at sca eighty soldiers in the brigantines. My General has taken

2

forty horsemen with him for the purpose of assisting Juan d’Anasco,
who has surprised a large body of Indians. When he returns 1 shall go
into winter quarters at Ocale, where I hope to find all that my army
should stand in need of. I hope that God will prosper this expedition
for His service, and that I may ever be found useful to my country. In
spite of the arduous dutics T have to perform, I can never forget my
country and the many obligations I am under to my friends. Iam
indeed sorry it is not in my power to greet them in person. I beg of
you to continue to govern the country well, for which I shall never
cease to thank you. As regards the fort, which was commenced before
my departure, I wish you to have it finished, as the time may come
when it will be useful for the defence of the city. I now pray God to
keep your lordships from all harm and prosper vour undertakings. I
subscribe myseli, in this city and port of Santo Espiritu, in the province
of Florida, this ninth day of July, 1539.

Your lordships’™ obedient servant,

Z(gm‘o

The best light that can be thrown on the character and
objects of De Soto's expedition is given in the opening chapter
of the “Narrative of the Expedition of Ferdinando De Soto
Into Florida, by a Gentleman of Elvas,” published at Evora
in 1557 and translated from the Portuguese in 1609 by Richard
Hackluyt :

Captain Soto was the son of a squire of Xeres of Badajos. He went
into the Spanish Indies, when Peter Arias of Avila was Governor of the
West Indies. And there he was without anything else of his own, save
his sword and target: and for his good qualities and valor, Peter Arias
made him captain of a troop of horsemen, and by his commandment he
went with Fernando Pizarro to the conquest of Peru; where (as many
persons of credit reported, which were there present) as well at the
taking of Atabalipa, Lord of Peru, as at the assault of the city of Cusco,
and in all other places where they found resistance, wheresoever he was
present, he passed all other captains and principal persons. For which
cause, besides liis part of the treasure of Atabalipa, he had a good share ;
whereby in time he gathered a hundred and fourscore thousand ducats
together, with that which fell to his part; which he brought into Spain;
whereof the Emperor borrowed a certain part, which he repaid again
with sixty thousand rials of plate in the rent of the silks of Granada, and
all the rest was delivered him in the contractation house of Seville. He
took servants, to-wit: a steward, a gentleman usher, pages, a gentle-
man of the horse, a chamberlain, lackeys, and all other officers that the
house of a noble may require. From Seville he went to the court, and
in the court there accompanied him John Danusco of Seville, and Lewis
Moscoso D’Alvarado, Nufio de Touar, and John Rodrigues Lobillo.
Except John Dannsco, all the rest came with him from Peru; and every
one of them brought fourteen or fifteen thousand ducats; all of them
went well and costly appareled. And although Soto of his own nature
was not liberal, yet because that was the first time that he was to show
himself in the court, he spent frankly, and went accompanied with those
which I have named, and with his servants, and many others which
resorted unto him. He married with Donna Isabella de Bobadilla, daugh-
ter of Peter Arias of Avila, Earl of Punno en Rostro. The Emperor
made him the Governor of the Isle of Cuba, and Adelantado, or Presi-
dent, of Florida, with a title of Marquis of certain part of the land he
should conquer.

When Don Ferdinando had obtained the government, there came a
gentleman from the Indies to the court, named Cabeza de Vaca, which
had been with the Governor, Pamphilo de Narvaez, which died in
Florida, who reported that Narvaez was cast away at sca with all the
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company that went with him. And how he with four more escaped and
landed in Nueva Espaiia. Also he brought a relation in writing, of that
which he had scen in Florida; which said in some places: In such a
place T have seen this; and the rest which here I saw, I leave to confer
of between his Majesty and myself, Generally he reported the misery
of the country, and the troubles which he passed; and he tok! some of
his kinsfolk, which were desirous to go into the Indics, and urged him
very much to tell them whether he had seen any rich country in Florida,
that he might not tell them, because he and another, whose name was
Orantes (who remained in Nueva Espafia with purpose to return into
Florida; for which intent he came into Spain to beg the government
thereof of the Emperor), had sworn not to discover some of these things
which they had scen, because no man should prevent them in begging
the same. And he informed them that it was the richest country of the
world. Don Ferdinando de Soto was very desirous to have him with him,
and made him a favorable offer; and after they were agreed, because
Soto gave him not a sum of money which he demanded to buy a
ship, they broke off again. Baltasar de Gallegos and Christopher de
Spindola, the kinsmen of Cabeza de Vaca, told him, that for that which
he had imparted to them, they were resolved to pass with Soto into
Florida, and therefore they prayed him to advise them what they were
best to do. Cabeza de Vaca told them, that the cause why he went not
with Soto, was because he hoped to beg another government, and that
he was loth to go under the command of another; and that he came
to beg the conquest of Florida; but seeing Don Ferdinando de Soto
had gotten it already, for his oath’s sake he might tell them nothing of
that which they would know; but he counseled them to sell their goods
and go with him, and that in doing so they would do well.  As soon
as he had opportunity he spoke with the Emperor, and related unto
him whatsoever he had passed and scen and came to understand. Of
this relation, made by word of mouth to the Emperor, the Marquis of
Astorga had notice, and forthwith determined to send with Don Ferdi-
nando de Soto his brother, Don Antonie Osorio; and with him two
kinsmen of his prepared themselves, to-wit: Francis Osorio and Garcia
Osorio. Don Antonio dispossessed himself of sixty thousand rials of
rent which he held by the church; and Francis Osoria of a town of
vassals which he had in the country de Campos. And they made their
rendezvous with the Adelantado in Seville. The like did Nufiez de
Touar and Luis de Moscoso and Johin Rodrigues Lobillo, each of whom
had brought from Peru fourteen or fifteen thousand ducats. Luis de
Moscoso carried with him two brethren; there went also Don Carlos,
which had married the Governor's niece, and took her with him. From
Badajos there went Peter Calderan and three kinsmen of the Adelantado,
to-wit: Arias Tinoco, Alfonso Romo and Diego Tinoco. And as Luis
de Moscoso passed through Elvas, Andrew de Vasconcelos spake with
him and requested him to speak to Don Ferdinaudo de Soto concerning
him, and delivered him certain warrants which he had received from the
Marquis of Villa Real, wherein he gave him the captainship of Ceuta in
Barbarie, that he might show them unto him. And the Adelantado saw
them; and was informed who he was, and wrote unto him, that he
would favor him in all things, and by all means, and would give him a
charge of men in Florida. And from Elvas went Andrew de Vascon-
celos and Fernan Pegado, Antonio Martinez Segurado, Mcn Roiz
Pereira, Juan Cordero, Stephen Pegado, Benedict Fernandez, and Alvaro
Fernandez. And out of Salamanca and Jaen and Valencia and Albu-
querque, and from all parts of Spain, many people of noble birth assem-
bled at Seville, insomuch that in Saint Lucar many men of good account,
which had sold their goods, remained behind for want of shipping,
whereas for other known and rich countries, they are wont to want
men; and this fell out by occasion of that which Cabeza de Vaca told
the Emperor, and informed such persons as he had conference with
touching the state of that country. Soto made him great offers, and
being agreed to go with him (as ] have said before) because he would
not give him money to pay for a ship which he had bought, they brake
off, and he went for Governor to the River of Plate. His kinsmen,
Cliristopher de Spindola and Baltasar de Gallegos, went with Soto.
Baltasar de Gallegos sold houses and vineyards, and rent corn, and
ninety ranks of olive trees in the Xarafe of Seville. He had the office
of Alcalde Mayor, and took his wife with him. And there went also
many other persons of account with the President, and had the offices
following by great friendship, because they were offices desired of many,
to-wit: Antonio de Biedma was factor, Juan Danusco was auditor, and
Juan Gaytan, nephew to the Cardinal of Ciguenza, had the office of
treasurer.

The Adelantado departed from Seville to Saint Lucar with all the
people which were to go with him. And he commanded a muster ot

be made, at which the Portuguese showed themselves armed in very
bright armor, and the Castilians very gallant with silk upon silk, with
many pinkings and cuts. The Governor, because these braveries in
sach an action did not like him, commanded that they should muster
another day, and everyone should come forth with his armor; at which
the Portuguese came as at the first, armed with very good armor. The
Governor placed them in order near unto the standard, which the ensign
bearer carried, The Castilians, for the most part, did wear very bad and
rusty shirts of mail and all of them head-pieces and steel caps and very
bad lances.  Some of them sought to come among the Portuguese.
So those passed and were counted and enrolled which Soto liked and
accepted of, and did accompany him to Florida; which were in all six
hundred men. He had already bought seven ships, and had all neces-
sary provision aboard them. He appointed captains, and delivered to
everyone his ship and gave them in a roll what people every one should
carry with them.

In the year of our Lord 1538, in the month of April, the Adelantado
delivered his ships to the captains which were to go in them; and took
for himsel a new ship, and good of sail, and gave another to Andrew
de Vasconeelos, in which the Portuguese went; he went over the bar
of Saint Lucar on Sunday, being Saint Lazarus’ day, in the morning of
the month and year aforesaid, with great joy, commanding his trumpets
to be sounded, and many shots of the ordnance to be discharged.

Brief, but complete, is the story of De Soto’s trip as told
in the “Narrative of the Expedition of Hernando De Soto, by
Luis Hernandez de Diedma, Facteur de sa Majeste: Presented
to the King and Council of the Indies, 1544, which is here
reproduced entire :

Having arrived at the port of Baya Honda [Tampa Bay] we landed
six hundred and twenty men and two hundred and twenty-three horses.
As soon as we had done so, we were informed by one of the Indians we
had captured, that a Christian was living a few leagues off, who had
served in the expedition of Pamfile de Narvaez. The cacique of this
province, on hearing that we had landed, asked the Christian if he
wished to return to us. He answered him in the affirmative, and
immediately sent him, with nine Indians, to our camp. His body was
naked, and in his hands he held a bow and arrows. As soon as we
perceived them coming we took them for spies, and marched out to
meet them, but they fled in every direction. The horsemen dashed after
them and wounded one of the Indians, and would have killed the
Christian if he had not invoked the Virgin Mary, and made signs that
he was a Christian, for he had almost forgotten to speak our Ianguage.
[The Christian was the Portuguese, Juan Ortiz]. He was immediately
conducted to the Governor. He stated that he had been twelve years
among the Indians, and spoke their language perfectly ; but that he was
unacquainted with the country, and was unable to tell us anything about
it, except that there was no gold in it.

We now set out from the port of Baya Honda, to penetrate the
interior of the country, with all the troops except twenty-six horsemen
and sixty foot-soldiers, which we left behind to defend the fort, until
they should receive word from the Governor to join him, We marched
in a westerly direction, and then northeast. We heard of a cacique who
reccived tribute from all the nations. His name was Hurripacuxi, and
lived about twelve leagues from the coast. We continued to march
across swamps and rivers for fifteen or twenty leagues, and reached a
village about which we had been told strange stories. Among others,
they pretended that when the inhabitants shouted aloud, the birds would
fall dead to the ground. We arrived at a small village called Eto-cale
[near the Suwanee]. Here we found some Indian corn, beans and little
dogs, which was not a meal for our hungry army. We remained here
seven or eight days, during which time we made an attempt to entrap
some Indiaus to serve us as guides to the province of Apalache. We
then set out in the direction of New Spain, marching ten or twelve
leagues from the coast. After five or six days’ journey we passed some
hamlets and arrived at a village called Aquacalecuen, when we found the
Indians had fled to the woods.

We remained here five or six days to procure guides, and took with
us ten or twelve women, one of whom informed us that she was the
daughter of a cacique, who afterwards joined us. After six or seven
days’ journey, we met a hundred and fifty Indians, armed with bows
and arrows, who were watching an opportunity to rescue the cacique
we had brought with us. We killed a few and captured others; among
the latter were some who were acquainted with the interior of the
country. We then passed a river, and crossed a country called Veachile,
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where we found a great many deserted villages. We came to a village
called Aquile, on the frontier of the province of Apalache, and separated
from Veachile by a river, over which we threw a bridge of rafts tied
together [probably the Suwanec]. We crossed it with difficulty, for the
Indians had posted themselves on the opposite bank, and fought with
great bravery. We marched to the village of Ivi-ta-chuco, but as soon
as the Indians saw us they set fire to their village and fled. The pro-
vince of Apalache contains many villages, but we found provisions very
scarce there. From Apalache we marched to the province of Yustaga.
The Governor now thought it time to hear from those he had left behind
at Baya Honda, as it was not his intention to advance so far into the
country as to render it impossible to have any communication with
them.

We had now traveled one hundred and ten leagues. The Governor
went in search of the sea, which was nine leagues distant. We had
now come to the part of the coast where Pamfile de Narvaez had built
his vessels. We recognized the spot on which he had built his smithy,
and saw a great quantity of horses’ bones scattercd about. [Supposed
to be the site of the present town of
Saint Marks]. The Indians told us

_the Christians had built their vessels

here. Assoon as Juan d’Anasco had
marked the trees on the shore, the
Governor ordered him to go to Baya
Honda, and send forward the troops
he had left there, and to return him-
self by sea with the brigantines to
Apalache. As soon as the brigan-
tines arrived, the Governor sent
them again to sea, under the com-
mand of the Chevalier Francisco
Maldonado de Salamanca, to find a
port to the East. He coasted along
the shore until he reached a bay
which had a good harbor [Pensacola
Bay]. On the bank of the river was
an Indian village, some of whom
came to trade with him. He spent
two months in making this explora-
tion. As soon as he returned, the
Governor ordered him to take the
brigantines, on board of which was
Donna Isabella de Bobadilla, to
Havana, and on his arrival there to
sct sail again with theni to the River
of the Holy Spirit, where he agreed
to meet him in six months, if he
should not hear from him sooner.

As soon as the brigantines had
set sail for Cuba, we began our march
to the north, and journeyed five days
through a desert until we came to a
large and rapid river, which we
crossed over in boats.

This province is called Acapa-
chiqui. We observed some villages,
but as the country was covered with
very extensive swamps we could not
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war against the Queen of Cafitachiqui they would furnish us with all we
needed on the road, and warned us that they had no communication
with her, as they were at war with her. Secing that we were resolved
on going there, they furnished us with eight hundred Indians to carry
our provisions and baggage, and guides who took us in an easterly
direction, but after three days we found them dececiving us, nor did we
know what road to take to this province. The Governor sent men in
different directions to find a road, and gave them each ten days to come
and go, with orders to report any villages which they might see. Those
who went in the direction of south and southeast returned four days
after and reported they had found a little hamlet and some provisions.
They brought with them some Indians who understood our guides,
which was very fortunate for us, as we had but few interpreters. We
immediately marched for this hamlet, to wait there until the messengers
who had gone in the other direction could join us. Here we found
fiity fanegas of Indian corn, some wheat and a great many mulberry
trees and other wild fruit. As soon as the other messengers came we
set owt for the village of Cafitachiqui, which was twelve days journey
from this hamlet, situated on the
banks of a river, which we took to
be the Saint Helene [probably the
Tennessee].

When we arrived, the Queen
sent us one of her nieces in a litter
carricd by Indians. She sent the
Governor a present of a necklace of
beads, canoes to cross the river with,
and gave us half the village to lodge
in. The Governor opened a large
temple built in the woods, in which
were buried the chiefs of the country,
and took from it a quantity of pearls,
amounting to six or seven arrobes,
which were spoiled by being buried
in the ground. We dug up two
Spanish axes, a chaplet of wild olive
sced and some small beads, resem-
bling those we had brought from
Spain for the purpose of trading with
the Indians. We conjectured they
had obtained these things by trading
with the companions of Vazquez de
Ayllon. The Indians told us the sea
was only about thirty leagues distant,
They also informed us that Vazquez
de Ayllon had not penetrated far into
the country, but had mostly followed
the sea shore until his death. That
a large number of his soldiers died
of hunger, and out of six hundred
who had landed in the country with
him only fifty-seven escaped.

We remained ten or twelve days
in the Queen's village, and then set
out to explore the country. We
marched in a northerly direction
eight or ten days, through a mount-
ainous country, where there was but

explore them. The Indian huts in This portrait of e Soto is probably the most authentic of the several that were little food, until we reached a prov-
. . . printed in the early accounts of his expedition. 1t istaken from llerrera's Hlstopa . . . .
this province were differently con-  (eneral de las Indies,” which was first published in 1601, Herrera was the officia} 1nce called Xuala, which was thlnly

structed from those we had prcviously historian of the Spanish Crown and undoubtedly used all the material then available. inhabited. We then ascended to the

. As there were men still living, who had scen and known De Soto, it is improbable
seen. They were dug in the ground, that the portrait published as that of the great explorer is far from correct.

and resembled caverns, while those
we had passed were above ground and covered with branches of palm
trees and straw. We continued our march until we came to two rivers,
which we crossed by making rafts of pine trees, and entered a province
called Chisi. From Chisi we went to a province called Attapaha. Here
we found a river which flowed toward the south, like those we had
already passed and emptied into the sea where Vazquez de Ayllon had
landed. [Probably the Savannah.] This province is well peopled. The
Governor questioned the Indians about the province of Cafitachiqui.
They told him it was impossible to get there, as there were no roads
nor provisions of any kind which he could obtain, and that he must die
of hunger if he attempted it.

Nevertheless, we continued our march until we came to some
caciques who gave us some provisions, and told us if we would declare

source of the great river, which we
supposed was the River of the Holy
Spirit. At the village of Guasuli they gave us a great many dogs and
some corn to eat, which served us until we reached the village called
Chisca, where we found an abundance of provisions. It is built on an
island in the river and near its source. The Indians live here in walled
villages, and make a great deal of oil from nuts. We remained here
twenty-six or seven days, to rest our horses, which had become very
thin, We continued our march along this river until we arrived in the
province of Costehe, where the villages were likewise built on the island
of the river. The province of Coca is one of the best countries we have
scen in Florida. The cacique came to meet us, borne in a litter and
accompanied by a numerous train. But the next morning his followers
deserted him., We kept the cacique a prisoner until he agreed to furnish
us with Indians to carry our baggage. In this country we found prunes
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resembling those of Spain, and vines which produced excellent grapes.
L.eaving this province, we marched west and southwest for five or
six days. We passed a great number of villages, and at the end of that
time we entered the province called Italisi. The inhabitants fled in
cvery direction ; but the cacique came soon after and presented us with
twenty-six or twenty-seven women and some deer skins., We then pro-
ceeded south, and passing through some villages we arrived in the
province of Tascalusa, whose cacique was of such a height that we took
him for a giant. On arriving at his village we gave him a tournament
and offered him other amusements, of which he took no notice, We
requested him to give us some Indians to carry our baggage, which he
refused with a sneer. The Governor then took him a prisoner, which
greatly enraged him, and was the cause of his treachery to us afterwards,
He told us that he could not give us anything here, but we must go to
his village, called Mavila, where he would furnish us with all the
provisions we stood in need of. We came to a large river which
empties into the bay called Chuse. The Indians informed wus that
Narvaez’s vessels had tonched there for water, and left a Christian called
Teodoro, who was still among the Indians. They showed us a poignard
which had belonged to him. We took two days to construct a raft to
crass the river. In the meantime, the Indians killed one of the
Governor's guard, The Governor punished the cacique for it, and
threatened to burn him alive if he did not deliver up the murderers. He
then promised to deliver them up at Mavila. This cacique had a
number of servants with him. He had one to brush off the flics and
another to carry a sunshade.

We arrived at Mavila at nine o’clock in the morning. It was a
village built on a plain and surrounded by strong walls. On the outside
the Indians had pulled down their huts, so as not to embarrass them.
Some of the Chiefs met us and told us we could encamp on the plain,
but the Governor preferred going with them into the town. We saw
only three or four hundred Indians, who entertained us with
dancing and feasting, but there were hid in the town five or six
thousand men to surprise us. After the dancing was over the cacique
retired into one of the huts. The Governor requested him to come
out, which he would not do. The Captain of the Governor’s guard
went in after him, and found it filled with warriors, armed with bows
and arrows. He reported to the Governor what he had seen, and
told him that he suspected they were going to commit some treason.
The Governor then sent for another cacique, who also refused to come.
The Indians now began to shoot their arrows from the loopholes in
their houses, while others discharged them from the outside. We were
not upon our guard, as we had supposed them friends, and consequently
we suffered severely. We retreated to the outside of the village. Our
baggage remained where it had been thrown down, and as soon as the
Indians discovered we had fled they shut the gates of the village and
commenced to pillage our baggage.

The Governor ordered sixty or eighty horsemen to arrange them-
selves into four platoons, and attack the village in four different places.
I{e directed the first who should enter the village to set fire to the
houses, while the rest of the soldiers were ordered not to let any escape.
We fought from morning until night, without a single Indian asking for
quarter. When night came only three Indians were found guarding the
twenty women who had danced before us. Two of these were killed
and the other, ascending a tree, took the string from his bow and
hanged himself from one of the limbs. We lost twenty men killed and
had two hundred and fifty wounded. During the night we dressed the
wounded with the fat of the slain Indians, because our medicine was
burned with the baggage. We remained here twenty-seven or twenty-
eight days, until the wounded could recover. Wethen departed, taking
with us the women, whom we distributed among the wounded, to nurse
them.

The Indians had told us that we were more than forty leagues from
the sea. We desired the Governor to approach it, so that we might
get some news from the brigantines, but he dared not do it, as it was
now already in the middle of November, and he wished to find a
country where there were provisions and where we could go into
winter quarters. We marched north ten or twelve days, suffering
intensely from the cold, until at length we reached a fertile province,
where we went into winter quarters. The cold here is greater than in
Spain. This province is called Cliicaca. The Indians defended the
rivers we lad to cross, but afterwards they fled to the woods. In seven
or eight days after, the cacique sent envoys to the Governor, They
were well received by him, and he sent word by the cacique to present
himself. The cacique came in a litter, and brought with himn rabbits
and whatever he could procure in the country to give us to eat. At

night we surprised some Indians, who pretended they had come ingo
our camp to see how we slept, Suspecting their motives we increased
our guard. As these Indians knew how we had placed the guards, three
hundred entered the village and set fire toit.  They killed fifty-seven
horses, three hundred hogs and thirteen or fourteen of our men, and
afterwards fled.

We remained here the next day, in very bad condition, We hada
few horses left, but we had no saddles, lances or shields, for all had been
burnt. In five days after, the Indians renewed the attack. They
marched to battle in great order, and attacked us on three sides. We
went out to meet them and put them to flight.  We sojourned here two
months, during which time we made saddles, lances and shields,
after whichh we marched to the northwest, until we reached the
Province of Alibamo. Here the Indians had built a strong palisade
and had three hundred men to defend it, with orders to die rather
than let us pass through. As soon as we perceived the warriors
behind the palisade, we thought they had provisions, or something
valuable behind it. We were in great want of provisions, and knew
that we had to cross a great desert before we could find any. We,
therefore, arranged ourselvesinto two divisions and attacked the enemy.
We carried the palisade, but we lost seven or eight men, and had
twenty-five wounded, We found enough provsiions behind the pali-
sade to last us our journey of ten or twelve days through the desert.
The wounded and sick gave us a great deal of trouble, and on the last
day we very unexpectedly entered a village called Quiz-Quiz. The
people here were poor and miserable, and were working their corn fields
when we entered it.  The village was built on the banks of the Rio de
Espiritu Santo. [De Soto’s first sight of the Mississippi]. It was
tributary, like many others, to the sovereign of Pacaha.

We left the village to encamp on the banks of the river. Here we
found the Indians had gathered to dispute our passage. They had with
them a great number of canoes. We remained here twenty-eight or
twenty-nine days and built four large pirogues, capable of containing
seventy or eighty men cach and five or six horses. In the meantime,
every day at three o’clock in the afternoon, the Indians got into two
hundred and fifty canoes, dressed with flags, and approached our side of
the river to shoot their arrows at us, but as soon as we had finished our
pirogues they made a precipitare retreat. The river here was about a
league wide and-from nineteen to twenty fathoms deep. We ascended
this river to the Province of Pacaha, but before we arrived there we
came to another province, whose sovereign was named Yeasqui. He
came to us and professed a great deal of friendship, but he was at war
with the nation we had just left. He was well reccived by the Gov-
ernor, and that night we encamped on a plain in sight of his village,
where we remained two days. The caciques of this country 11ake a
custom of raising, near their dwellings, very high hills, on which they
sometimes build their huts. On one of these we planted the cross and
went with much devotion on our knees to kiss the foot of it. On the
same evening we returned to our camp, and on the following morning
we set out for Pacaha. We journeyed two days and reached a village in
the midst of a plain, surrounded by walls and a ditch filled with water,
which the Indians had made. We approached it cautiously and when
we got near it we saw the inhabtants going off. We entered it with-
out trouble and took a few Indians. While we remained here thc’
cacique, whon we had left behind, joined us, with a numerous troop of
Indians, and offered to assist us. The Governor received him graciously
and presented him with all the treasures we had found in the village,
after which he went away quietly.

We remained at this village twenty-six or twenty-seven days,
anxious to learn if we could take the northern route and cross to the
South Sca. We then marched northeast, where we were told we would
find large towns. We travelled eight days through swamps, after which
we met a troop of Indians who lived under movable tents. They
informed us that there were otlier tribes like themselves, who pitched
their tents wherever they found deer, and carried their tents and pro-
visions with them on their backs from place to place. We next came
to the Province of Calusi. The natives attend but little to the cultiva-
tion of land and live principally on fish and game. Seeing there was
no way of reaching the South Sea, we returned towards the north, and
afterwards in a southwest direction to a province called Quigata, where
we found the largest village we had yet seen in all our travels. It was
situated on one of the branches of a great river [supposed to be near
Little Rock]. We remained here six or eight days to procure guides
and interpreters, with the intention of finding the sea. The Indians
informed us there was a province, eleven days off, where they killed
buffaloes and where we could find guides to conduct us to the sca.
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We sct out for this province, which they called Coligua. There was
no road leading to it, and every day brought us to a swamp, where we
feasted on fish. We then crossed vast plains and high mountains,
when we suddenly came to the town of Coligua, where we found an
abundance of provisions and a quantity of dry hides. We inquired here
for other villages, and they directed us to go west and southwest and we
should find them. We accordingly followed their direction and came to
some scattered villages bearing the name of Tatel Coya. Here we
found a large river emptying into the Great River, We were told that
if we were to ascend this river we should find a large province, called
Cayas. We repaired thither and found it a mountainous country and
composed of populous villages. We then set out for the province of
Tula to go into winter quarters. But before reaching it we had to
cross very high mountains. We came to an Indian village where they
defended themselves so bravely that we lost seven or eight men and as
many horses, The following morning the Governor took guides and
ordered the troops to be in readiness to march to the next province,
which the Indians called Quipana, situated at the foot of very high
mountains. From then we turned towards the east, and, crossing these
mountains, we descended into an inhabited plain, favorable to our
designs, and where there was a large village built on the banks of a
river, which emptied into the great river we had passed. This province
was called Vicanque. Here we went into winter quarters and suffered
so much from the cold and snow that we thought we all should have
perished. .

The Christian whom we took, and who had served us as an inter-
preter, died in this place. In the-beginning of March we descended
this river, passing through populous provinces, until we came at last to
a country the Indians called Anicoyanque. A cacique, called Guachoy-
anque, came to see us. He lived on the banks of the Great River.
The Governor set out immediately with the cacique for the village of
Guachoyanque. His village was fortified and well surrounded with
walls. At this place the Governor had determined to build some
brigantines to send to Cuba, to let them know that he was still alive.
He sent his captain out to find the direction of the sea. He returned
back in a few days, saying that the vast swamps the Great River had
formed prevented him from doing so. At length, the Governor, finding
his situation becoming every day nmiore embarrassing, and his affairs
going wrong, fell sick and died. He appointed Luis de Moscoso his
successor, Not finding any way of reaching the sea by the Great River,
Luis de Moscoso determined on going by land to Mexico. When we
set out we traveled twenty-seven days in a westerly direction to the
Province of Chaviti, where the Indians made salt. From thence we
went in three days to the Province of Aguacay.

The Indians told us here that the country beyond was a wilderness
and uninhabited, that to find villages we must go towards the southeast.
We then came to a province called Nissione, then to Naudacho
{Nacogdoches] and Lacame. We made inquiries here about the
Province of Xuacatino. The cacique of Naudacho gave us a guide to
conduct us through the country. He led us, accordingly, into a wilder-
ness, and when we got there he told us that his master had ordered him
to take us to a country where we should die with hunger., We now
took another guide, who conducted us to the Province of Hais, where
we saw buffaloes, but the Indians prevented us from killing them, We
came to Xuacatin and passed some small villages without finding any
provisions, We then returned towards the south determined to die or
reach New Spain.  We continued to march in this direction cight or
nine days more, hoping to provide ourselves with provisions for the
journey. We arrived at last at some miserable huts, where the Indians
lived by hunting and fishing, and finding that our corn niust soon give
out we resolved to return to the village where Governor Soto had
died, to build some vessels to return to our country. But when we
arrived there we did not find the facilities we had expected and were
obliged to seek another place to go into winter quarters and build our
vessels.

God permitted us to find two villages to suit our purpose upon the
Great River. These viltages were fortified. We remained here six
months to build seven brigantines. We launched them on the river
[July 2, 1543], and it was amniracle they did not leak. They sailed well,
although they were calked with the thin bark of the mulberry trees.
When we embarked the troops we intended, if we could find a village
on the scashore, to stop there until we could send two brigantines with
dispatches to the Viceroy of New Spain to send us some vessels to
return into Spain.  On the second day out, as we were descending the
river, some forty or fifty canoes came toward us, in one of which were
eighty warriors, They shot arrows at us and captured some of the

small canoes we had taken with us, in which were twelve oi our best
soldiers. The current of the river was so rapid that we could not go to
their assistance. Encouraged by this victory, the Indians continued to
harass us until we reached the sea, which took us nineteen days. They
soon discovered that we had neither arquebuses nor cross-bows to reach
them. The only arms we had were some swords and shields, conse-
quently they had nothing to fear from us. We entered the sea through
one of the mouths of the river and for three days and nights we could
not sec land, but after that we came in sight of it and took in some
water to drink. At length we perceived towards the west some small
islands, which we followed, keeping close to the shore, to find some-
thing to eat, until we entered the River Panuco, where we were kindly
received by the inhabitants.
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Facteur de sa Majeste.

The failtire of this enterprise discourazed for a century and
a half any further attempts at exploration from the Gulf.
IFrom Moscoso’s departure until Father Marquette and Joliet
went from Canada to the Mississippi, and down it to the
mouth of the Arkansas, in 1673, the Indian inhabitants saw
the face of no white man for 130 years, and this vast and
noble region lay, with all its inviting resources in easy reach.
but unknown and uncared for by the civilized world. Fur
traders and Jesuit Missionaries from the French colonies of
Canada were to be the first effective explorers and settlers.
Within two centuries after De Soto’s death, their operations
had given IFrance apparently uncontested possession of all the
land drained by the Mississippi River. She asserted a plaus-
ible claim to Louisiana, stretching along the Gulf of Mexico
from the Rio Perdido to the Rio Grande, from the Gulf northe
ward to the remotest sources of the great river, and from the
Alleghanies to the Rockies and the Pacific. This claim was
based on explorations, trading posts and settlements, which
were the humible beginnings of the vigorous and prosperous
civilization which now so grandly covers the entire region.

The interior of the continent was destined to receive its
civilized population from the westward overflow of the colo-
nies on the Atlantic. The American born sons of ‘‘New
France” from the Valley of the Saint Lawrence, and the Ameri-
can born sons of the English colonies, from New England to
the Carolinas, were to be the hardy pioneers of this move-
ment. For any considerable population the interior had to
wait until these colonies became populous enough to overflow
and found new communities, and their growth was retarded
throughout the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries by the
contentions of three great European powers for American
ascendency, and by the Indian hostilities these powers
employed against each other's settlements.

Although Spain had first discovered the Mississippi and
explored and partly occupied the coasts of the Mexican Gulf,
which she claimed as a Spanish lake, with the watersheds of
all its affluents, all her colonizing resources were absorbed
by the West Indies, Mexico, Central and South America.
Her feeble and unstable foothold in Florida made her only a
niere buffer between England and France in their struggle for
North American domination.
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Jasper Cortoreal’s exploration of Newfoundland bays and
coves in 1500, started the French fishermen to that coast
in 1504, and Jacques Cartier’s discovery and exploration of
the Saint Lawrence up to the Lachine Rapids in 1535, brought
French settlements to Acadia in 1604, and to Quebec in 1608.
When the eaterprise of Canadian trappers, fur traders, explor-
ers and missionaries, and their successful tact in dealing with
Indians at last awoke Louis XIV and his ministers to the
magnificent possibilities of a *“New France,” including both
the Saint Lawrence and Mississippi Valleys, he was more intent
upon lording it over Europe and Bourbonizing the Spanish
throne. And besides, few Frenchmen could be induced to
seek homes outside of France while they could earm soup and
sabots on her soil. When Canada was ceded to England in
1763, it contained less than sixty-five thousand Frenchmen,
while the English colonies had a population of about two
millions.

Great Britain claimed the whole continent north of the
Mexican Gulf, because the coast had been first discovered and
explored by John Cabot from Newfoundland to Florida, in
1497. Her first permanent colony was planted at Jamestown,
Virginia, in 1607, and the next at Plymouth, Massachusetts,
in 1620. There were more people in Great Britain and Ireland
than in France willing to brave all the risks and privations of
making new homes in the new world. Other English colonies
followed and grew rapidly. In spite of all we have said in the
Declaration of Independence, these colonies were permitted to
gm}em themselves to such an extent that they attracted set-
tlers from France, Spain, Germany, Italy, Holland and Scan-
dinavia, as well as from the United Kingdom. They soon
became strong enough to indulge in frequent collisions with
the French colonists in Canada, to bring about the conquest
of the Dutch colonies in New York, and finally the subjection
of Canada to Dritish sovereignty in 1763, all to vindicate the
right of “first discovery,” and the right of ““contiguous expan-
sion” indefinitely. For these academic ‘‘rights” were put
forward by all the powers, merely as auxiliary postulates of

% * *

the good old plan,
That they shall take who have the power
And they shall keep who can.”

So England, in chartering four of her American colonies,
gave them everything from their Atlantic coasts, “up into the
land, from sea to sea, west and northwest.”" And France
claimed the unknown ‘‘Sea of the West” as the Occidental
boundary of every river valley in which her fur traders were
the first to introduce a missionary and a trading post.

Such were the precarious conditions under which the Miss-
issippi Valley became and remained during the first half of
the eighteenth century, the French Province of Louisiana.
The first French explorations were the work of Louis Joliet,
Pere James Marquette, the Sieur Robert Cavelier de La Salle
and Father Louis Hennepin.

Louis Joliet, born of French parentage in Quebec in 1643,
was educated at the Jesuit College of his native city, received
minor orders in 1662, and in 1667 gave up his intention of
becoming a priest and went to the West as a fur trader. In
1672 he was selected by Frontenac, the Governor of ‘“‘New
France,” on account of his experience as a western explorer,
to find the Mississippi River and discover if it emptied, as was
supposed, into the “Sea of California."

Joliet had been near enough to the river to learn of its
existence from the Indians. Only a single assistant and a
birch bark canoe were provided for him, and he sought and

obtained the companionship of Father James Marquette, of
the Jesuit Mission of Saint Ignatius, at Mackinaw, already
noted for his zeal in studying Indian languages, and for his
adventures in establishing missions in the lake region. Mar.
quette was eager to make the journey, and with five other
French Canadians and Joliet reached Mackinaw December 8
1672. From information obtained from Indians, Joliet drew
a map of a route to the Mississippi.

By way of Green Bay and Fox River they reached the
Wiscousin the following spring and floated down it, entering
the Mississippi June 17, 1673. On their way down the river
they visited Indian villages on the Illinois side, and stopped
at a village of Arkansas Indians in thirty-three degrees forty
niinutes north latitude. From these Indians they ascertained
that the river continued its southward course and emptied into
the Gulf of Mexico.

Having a long voyage to make against the strong current
of the river, they began their return July 17, 1673, and in the
fall of that vear reached Green Bay, where Pere Marquette
spent the following winter.  On his return to Quebec in the
spring of 1674, Joliet's canoe was upset in the Lachine Rapids
and he lost all hiis papers. DBut he gave all the particulars of
lis voyage to the Governor and the General of the Jesuits,
and drew from memory a map of it which is still preserved in
the French archives at Daris.

Pere James Marquette, born in 1637 at Laon, France, was
ordained a priest in 1666, and landed at Quebec as a Jesuit
Missionary on September 2oth of that year. After spendinga
year and a half in the study of Indian languages, he went to
Lake Superior, founded the mission of Sault Sainte Marie, built
a church and converted many natives. From 1669 he was
engaged in similar work at the head of Ashland Bay until
hostile Sioux drove him away in 1671, when he went to
Mackinaw and founded the Saint Ignatius mission. His report
of his Mississippi voyage to his religious superior resulted in
his being ordered to establish a mission at Kaskaskia, an
ancient Indian village on the Kaskaskia River, about five
miles from the Mississippi.

Journeying along the western shore of Lake Michigan
with a party of Pottawatomie and Illinois Indians, in the fall
of 1675, he wintered on the Chicago River and reached Kas-
kaskia in April, 1676. Ilere he preached to great numbers of
Indians, and founded the mission which soon after became the
home of Canadian hunters; trappers and fur traders, “coureurs
des bois.” This was the beginning of settlements in the
Louisiana Territory, of the town which became afterwards
the prosperous, commercial and political capital successively
of Upper Louisiana, of the District of lllinois, of Illinois
Territory, and the first capital of the great State of Illinois.
Pere Marquette’s health failing, he started back to Mackinaw,
and died on the way, on Marquette river, in the present State
of Michigan. Ilis remains were afterwards removed to Point
Saint Ignace, opposite Mackinaw Island.

Joliet formed plans for the colonization and development
of the rich region he had explored, but the provincial author-
ities had not the colonists nor the meansto spare. The island
of Anticosti was given to him, and he built a fort there, which
the English destroyed in 1690, taking his wife prisoner. He
afterwards explored Labrador, and served as royal hydro-
grapher, and April 30, 1697, was granted the seigniory of
Joliet, still held by some of his descendants. e died in 1700

Father Marquette’s own narrative of his journey with
Jolietis still preserved in the Jesuit archives at Montreal, and
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the original manuscript, of which the following is a transla-
tion, was exhibited at the Louisiana Purchase Exposition :
The day of the Immaculate Conception of the Blessed Virgin, whomn

1 have always invoked since I have been in this country of the Ottawas,
to obtain grace of God to be able to visit the nations on the Missisipi

River, was the same on which
M. Joliet arrived with orders
from the Governor, Comte de
Frontenac, and M. Talon, our
intendant, to make this dis-
covery, taking me with him.
I was more pleased at this good
news, as I saw that my plans
could now be accomplished
and that I now could undergo
the happy necessity of expos-
ing my life for the salvation of
all these nations, and particu-
larly for the Illinois, who had,
when I was at Lapointe du
Saint Esprit, very earnestly en-
treated me to carry the word
of God to their country.

We were not long in pre-
paring our outfit, although we
could not foresee the duration
of the voyage upon which we
were embarking. Indian corn
and some dried meat constituted
the whole of our provisions.
With this, M. Joliet, myself
and five others, set out in two
bark canoes, resolved to brave
all and suffer, if need be, for so
glorious an enterprise. It was
on May 17, 1673, that we
started from Michilimackinac.
We first took care, however,
to learn from the Indians all
the information we could con-
cerning the countries through
which we designed to travel,
and drew up a map, on which
we muarked down the rivers,
nations and points of the com-
pass to guide us on our journey.

The first nation we came to
was called the Folles-Avoines,
or the nation of Wild Oats. I
entered their river to visit
them, as [ had preached among
them some years before. The
wild oats, from which they
derive their name, grow spon-
-taneously in their country.
They grow in marshy ground
and are not unlike our Euro-
pean oats. The grain is not
thicker than ours, but it is
twice as long, and therefore it
yields much more meal. Tt
makes its appearance in June
and does not ripen until Sep-
tember. In this month the
Indians go to shake the grain
off the ears in their canocs,
which easily falls off if it be
ripe, and which afterwards
serves them for food. They
dry it over a fire, then pack it
away in a kind of sack made of

a hole in the ground they put the sacks therein, and tread npon it until
the chaff is separated from the grain, and then winnow it. Afterwards
they pound it in a mortar to reduce it to meal; they then boil it with
water and season it with grease, which makes it very palatable.

EXPEDITION OF MARQUETTE AND JOLILT.

REVEREND JACQUES MARQUETTE, S. J.

Even more curious than the story of the disappcarance of Fathcr Marquette's map are the
circumstances surrounding the portrait of the Reverend explorer, which is reproducced herewith.
While doubts have been cast on the genuineness of this supxuscdly contemporary painting, the
preponderance of evidence scems to indicate that it is beyond a doubt a genuine portrait. Until
about the beginning of the year 1900, more than two hundred years after Father Marquette’s
death, there was no suspicion that a contemporary painting of him was in existence, although
efforts had been made for more than fifty years to find one. It remained for the Canadian
artist, Donald Guthric McNab, by a fortunate accident, to discover what is believed to be the
likeness of the great explorer. Mr. McNab, in the winter of 1%6-7, whilc walking along Little
Saint James Street, in Montreal, overtook two French boys drawing a hand-cart loaded with
rubbish and broken boards, on top of which was thrown an old panel, the shape of which attracted
his attention. The boys told him the wood had come from an old house, but would give him no
further information. They readily parted with the panel, however, for a piece of silver, and it
wag thrown in a corner of Mr. McNab’'s studio, where it remained unnoticed until late in 1899,
when the artist began to remove the dirt and varnish, with which the face of the picture had been
covered. This disclosed a portrait in the style of Rembrandt, the face an unusually fine example of
coloring and modeling, angobcaring the signature, "R, Roos, 1669,”” above which are two lines,
which are almost totally illegible, but amoung which it is possible to make out the words,
**Marquette de la Confrérie de Jeésus.” On the back of the panel have becn carved the words,
“Pere Marquette,” but this was evidently done much more recently. Photographs of the
portrait fail to show the inscription. As a work of art the portrait is excellent. The details of
the face are exquisitely reproduced and the features are as perfect as if taken with a camera.
The apparent age of the subject is that of Marquette at that date, and the face has a placidity
of expression that corresponds perfectly with whatis known of Marquette's gentle and unassum-
ing nature. The strongest cvidence that the portraitis a genuine one has been furnished by the
Reverend A. Hamy, 8. )., of Boulogne-Sur-Mer, France, to whom a photograph of the panel was
sent, and who found there a descendant of one of Marquette's brothers, whose personal likeness
to the face pictured on the panel is most striking. The original panel, from which the photographic
reproduction above was made, was exhibited at the Louisiana Purchase Exposition by the Missouri
Historical Society, which obtained it by loan from Saint Mary’s College, Montreal.
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I acquainted them with my design of discovering other nations, to
preach to them the mysteries of our holy religion, at which they were
much surprised and said all they could to dissuade me fromit. They told
me I would meet with Indians who spare no strangers, whoin they kill
without any provocation or mercy; that the war they have one with
the other would expose me to be taken by their warriors, as they are

constantly on the lockout to
surprise their enemics; that the
Great River was exceedingly
dangerous and full of frightful
monsters who devoured men
and canoes together, and that
the heat was so great that it
would positively cause our
death, I thanked them for
their kind advice, but told them
I would not follow it, as the
salvation of a great many souls
was concerned in our under-
taking, for whom I should be
glad to lose my life. I added
that [ defied their monsters, and
their information would oblige
us to keep more on our guard
toavoidasurprise. Andhaving
prayed with them and given
then: some instructions, we set
out for the Bay of Puans [Green
Bay], where our missionaries
had been successful in convert-
ing them. The name they give
to this bay is preferable in the
Indian language to ours, for
according to the word they
make use of it signifies Salt
Bay. Itis the namc they give
to the sea. This obliged us to
inquire whether there were any
salt springs in their country, as
among the Iroquois, but they
could not tell us of any.

This bay is about thirty
leagues long and eight broad
in the greatest breadth, for it
grows narrower and forms a
cone at the extremity. It has
tides that ebb and flow as reg-
ularly as the sca. We left this
bay to go into a river [Fox
River] that discharges itseli
therein, and found its mouth
very broad and deep. It flows
very gently, but after we had
advanced some leagues into it
we found it difficult to navigate
on account of the rocks and
currents. We fortunately over-
came all of these difficulties.
It abounds in bustards, wild
ducks and other birds, which
arc attracted there by the wild
oats, of which they are very
fond. We next came to the
nation of the Maskoutens, their
name in their language signi-
fying People of Fire. Here I
had the curiosity to taste some
niineral water which came from
a spring on the banks of the
river, and to examine a plant
which the Indians had told

the skins of animals. and having made  Father Allouez was a specific for the bite of snakes. The root of this

plant is very hot and tastes like gunpowder; they chew it and apply it
to the part of the body that has been stung. This cures the wound.
The snakes have such an antipathy to this plant that they run away
from a man who has his body rubbed with it. Tt has scveral stalks,
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24 HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCHASE EXPOSITION.

about a foot in length; the leaves are somewhat long; the flower is
white, and the whole looks like our gillifower. I put one into our
canoe to examine it at my leisure.

The French have never before passed beyond the Bay of Puans.
This territory consists of three several nations: the Miamis, Maskoutens
and Kickapoos, The first are more docile than the others, better
formed and more liberal. They wear long hair over their ears, which
gives them a good appearance. They are esteemed good warriors, and
50 cunning that they never return from their warlike excursions without
booty. They are quick to learn anything. Father Allouez told me
that they were so desirous to be instructed that they would never give
him any rest at night. The Maskoutens and Kickapoos are more
robust, and resemble our peasants more than the former. As the bark
of the bircl: tree is scarce in this country they are obliged to make their
wigwams with rushes, which serve as well for covering them as for
walls. It must be owned that they are convenient, for they take them
down and carry them wherever they please without any trouble.

When T arrived there I was very glad to see a great cross, set up in
the middle of the village, adorned with several white skins, red girdles,
bows and arrows, which the converted Indians had offered to the Great
Manitou, to return him their thanks for the care he had taken of them
during the winter, and granting them a prosperous hunting, Manitou
is the name they give in general to all spirits whom they think to be
above the nature of man. I took pleasure in looking at this country.
It is beautifully situated on an eminence, from whence we look over an
extensive prairie, interspersed with groves of trces. The soil is very
fertile and produces large crops of corn. The Indians also gather large
quantities of grapes and plums, As soon as we had arrived we assemibled
the chiefs together and informed them that we had been sent by our
Governor to discover new countries and teach them the knowledge of
their Creator, who, being absolute master of all his creatures, will have
all nations to know him, and that therefore, to comply with his will, we
did not value our lives, and were willing to subject oursclves to every
kind of danger, adding that we wished them to furnish us with two
guides, and enforced our request with some presents, which were kindly
accepted by them, in return for which they gave us mats, with which
we made our beds during the voyage. They also furnished us with two
guides to accompany us for some days.

The next day, being the 1oth of June, the two.guides embarked
with us in sight of all the village, who were astonished at our attempt-
ing so dangerous an expedition. We were informed that at three
leagues from the Maskoutens we should find a river which runs into the
Missisipi, and that we were to go to the west-south-west to find it,
but there were so many marshes and lakes that if it had not been for our
guides we could not have found it. The river upon which we rowed
and had to carry our canoes from one to the other laoked more like a
corn field than a river, in so much that we could hardly find its channel.
As our guides had been frequently at this portage they knew the way
and helped us to carry our canoes overland into the other river, distant
about two miles and a half, from whence they returned home, leaving
us in an unknown country, having nothing to rely upon but Divine
Providence. We now left the waters which extend to Quebec, about
five or six hundred leagues, to take those which would hereafter lead us
into strange lands.

Before embarking we all offered up prayers to the Holy Virgin,
which we continued to do every morning, placing ourselves and the
events of the journey under her protection, and after having encouraged
each other we got into our canoes., The river upon which we embarked
is called Mesconsin. The river is very wide, but the sand-bars make it
very difficult to navigate, which isincreased by numerous islands covered
with grapevines. The country through which it flows is beautiful; the
groves are so dispersed in the prairies that it makes a noble prospect,
and the fruit of the trees shows a fertile soil. These groves are full of
walnut, oak and other trees unknown to us in Europe. We saw neither
game nor fish, but roebuck and buffaloes in great numbers. After
having navigated thirty leagues we discovered some iron mines, and
one of our company who had seen such mines before said these were
very rich in ore. They are covered with about three feet of soil, and
situate near a chain of rocks, whose base is covered with fine timber.
After having rowed ten leagues further, making forty leagues from the
place where we had embarked, we came into the Missisipi on the
17th of June, 1673.

The mouth of the Mesconsin is about 42%4° north latitude. Behold
us, then, upon this celebrated river, whose singularities I have attentively
studied. The Missisipi takes its rise in several lakes in the North,

Its channel is very narrow at the mouth of the Mesconsin and runs south
uutil it is affected by very high hills.  Its current is slow because of ity
depth.  In sounding we found nincteen fathoms of water. A lintle
further on it widens nearly three-quarters of a league and the widih
continues to be more equal.  We slowly followed its course to the south
and southcast to 42° of north latitude. Here we perceived the country
changeitsappearance. There were scarcely any nrore woods or mountains,
The islands are covered with fine trees, but we could not see any more
roe-bucks, buffaloes, bustards and swans.  We met from time to time
monstrous fish, which struck so violently against our canoes that at first
we took them to be large trees which threatened to upset us.  We saw
also a hideous monster; his head was like that of a tiger, his nose was
sharp and somewhat resembled a wild-cat; his beard was long, his ears
stood upright; the color of his licad was gray, and his neck black, He
looked upon us for some time, but as we came near him our oars
frightened him away. When we threw our nets into the water we
caught an abundance of sturgeons and another kind of fish like our
trout, except that the eyes and nose are much smaller and they have
near the nose a bone like a woman'’s busk, three inches broad and a foot
and a half long, the end of which is flat and broad, and when it leaps
out of the water the weight of it throws it on its back.

Having descended the river as far as 41° 28, we found that turkeys
took the place of game and the pisikious that of other animals, We call
the pisikions wild buffaloes, because they very much resemble our domestic
oxen; they are not so long, but twice as large.  We shot one of them,
and it was as much as thirteen men could do to drag it from the place
where it fell.  They have an enormous head, their forchead is broad and
fat, and their horns, between which there is at least a foot and a half
distance, are all black and much longer than our European oxen. They
have a hump on the back, and their head, breast and a part of the shoul-
ders are covered with long hair. They have in the middle of their
forchead an ugly tuft of long hair which, falling down over their eves,
blinds them in a manner and makes them look hideous.  The rest of the
body is covered with curled hair, or, rather wool, like our sheep, but
much thicker and stronger. The Indiaus use their skins for cloaks, which
they paint with figures of several colors. Their flesh and fat is excellent
and the best dish of the Indians, who kill a great many of them. They
are very fierce and dangerous, and if they can hook a man with their
horns they toss him up and then tread upon him. The Indians hide
themselves when they shioot at them, otherwise they would be in great
danger of losing their lives. They follow them at great distances, until,
by toss of blood, they are unable to hurt or defend themselves. They
graze upon the banks of rivers, and I have scen four hundred in a
lrerd together.

We continued to descend the river, not knowing where we were
going, and having made an hundred leagues without seeing anything
but wild beasts and birds, and, being on our guard, we landed at night
to make our fire and prepare our repast, and then left the shore to
anchor in the river, while one of us watched by tufns to prevent a sur-
prise. We went south and southwest until we found ourselves in about
the latitude of 40° and some minutes, having rowed more than
sixty leagues since we entered the river. On the 25th of June we weit
ashore and found some traces of men upon the sand and a path which
led into a large prairic. We judged it led into an Indian village and
concluded to examine it. We therefore left our canoes in charge of our

men while M. Joliet and I went to explore it—a bold undertaking for

two men in a savage country. We followed this little path in silence
about two leagues, when we discovered a village on the banks of ariver,
and two others on a hill about half a league from the first. We now
commended ourselves to God, and having implored his help we came so
near to the Indians that we could hear them talk. We now thought it
time to make ourselves known to them by calling aloud. At the sound
of our voices the Indians Ieft their huts, and probably recognizing us as
Frenchmen, one of us having a black robe on, and sceing but two of
us and being warned of our arrival, they sent four old men to speak to
us, two of whom brought pipes ornamented with different colored
feathers., They marched slowly, without saying a word, but presenting
their pipes to the sun, as if they wanted it to smoke them.

They were a long time coming from their village, but as soon as
they came near, they halted to take a view of us, and seeing the cere-
monies they performed, and especially seeing them covered with cloth,
we judged that they were our allies. I then spoke to them and they
said that they were from Illinois, and as a sign of fricndship they pre-
sented us their pipes to smoke.  They invited us to their village, where
all the people had impatiently waited for us. These pipes are called by
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For nearly two centuries after Father Mar ¥ i ississippi Ri vhi i i i i
L - Marquette’s voyage of discovery on the Mississippi River, the map which he drew to illustrate his explorations remained unk
world‘.( Father Cabot, the last surviving Jesuit in Canada, gave to the nuns of the Hotel Dicu, who were not under the ban, all of the papers in his possession, which,:%v:?.‘i?}:[}:fl
nuns kept from 1800 to 1844, when thei_tumed them over to Father Felix Martin, one of the Jesuits who came back to Canada in 1842 when the prohibition against the Order
ather Martin found the original map in the handwriting of Marquette, Tt is still preserved in the archives of Loyola College, and was

was removed. Among these papers
exhibited by the Faculty of that institution at the louisiana Purchase Exposition. The accompanying illustration is a photographic reproduction from the original map.
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the Indians calumets, and as this word is so common among them, [
shall make use of it in future, when I want to speak of pipes. At the
door of the cabin in which we were to be received, we found an old man
in a very remarkable posture, which is the usual ceremony in receiving
strangers. He was standing up, all naked, with his hands lifted up to
Heaven, as if he wished to screen himself from the rays of the sun,
which nevertheless passed through his fingers to his face. When we
came near to him, he said, ‘** What a fair day, Frenchmen, this is to
come to visit us. All our people have waited for thee, and thou shalt
enter our cabin in peace.”” He then took us into his, where there were
a crowd of people who devoured us with their eyes, but who kept a pro-
found silence. We only occasionally heard these words in a low voice,
““These are our brothers who have come to see us."’

As soon as we sat down, they presented us, according to custom,
their calumet, which one must accept, or he would be looked upon as
an enemy, and it is sufficient to place it only to your mouth, and pre-
tend to smoke, While the old man smoked in our cabin to entertain
us, the great chief of the Illinois sent us word tfo come to his village,
where he wished to hold a council with us. We went accordingly to
him, and were followed by all the people of this village, for they had
never seen any Frenchmen before. They never appeared tired of gaz-
ing at us. They went backwards and forwards to look at us, without
making any noise, and this they esteemed as a mark of respect. Having
arrived at the borough of the chief, we espied hint at the door’of his
cabin, between two old men, who were likewise naked, and standing,
holding the calumet towards the sun. He made us a short speech, to
congratulate us on our arrival in his country, and presented us with his
calumet, which we had to smoke before we could enter into his cabin.
This ceremony being over, he conducted us and desired us to sit down
upon a mat, and the old men of the hation being present, 1 thought fit
to acquaint them with the subject of our voyage, and therefore 1 told
them, first, that we designed to visit all nations that were on the river,
down to the sea; second, that God, who had created them, took pity
on them, and had sent me to bring them to a knowledge of Him, and
to repent; third, that the great captain of the French had commanded
me to tell them that he had conquered the Iroquois, and wished to live
in peace with them; fourth, and lastly, that we desired them to tell us
all about the sea and the nations we were to pass through before we
arrived there,

-After we sat down, the chief placed a slave near us, and made us a
present of th'e mysterious calumet, which he thought more valuable to
us than the slave. He showed to us by this present his respect for our
great captain, and he begged us to remain among them, because of the
dangers to which we were exposed in our voyage. I told him that we
did not fear death, and that I would estecem it a happiness to lose my
life in the service of God, at which he seemed to be much surprised.
The council being over, we were invited to a feast, which consisted of
four dishes. The first was a dish of sagamite ; that is, some Indian meal
boiled in water, and seasoned with grease; the master of ceremonies
holding a spoonful of it, which he put thrice into my mouth, and then
did the like to M. Joliet. The second dish consisted of three fish,
whereof he took a piece, and having taken out the bones, and blown
upon it to cool it, he put it into my mouth. The third dish was a large
dog, which they had killed on purpose, but understanding that we did
not eat this animal, they sent it away. The {ourth was a piece of buffalo
meat, of which they put the fattest pieces into our mouths.

As soon as we had feasted we were taken to a village of three hun-
dred cabins, attended by an officer, who kept the people from crowding
upon us. They presented us with belts, garters, and other articles made
of the hair of bears and buffaloes. We slept in the chief’s hut, and, on
the following morning, we took leave of him, promising to return to
his village in four moons. He escorted us to our canoes with nearly six
hundred persons, who saw us embark, evincing in every way the pleas-
ure our visit gave them. It will not be improper for me to relate here
what I observed of the customs and manners of this people, which are
very different from any I have ever before visited. The word Illinois in
their language signifies men; as if they looked upon all other Indians as
beasts. And truly it must be confessed that they are more humane than
any others I have ever seen. The short time I remained with them did
not permit me to inform myself of their customs and manners as much
as I desired. They are divided into scveral villages, some of which I
have not seen. They live so remote from other nations, that their lan-
guage is entirely different. They called themselves ** Perouarca.’”” Their
language is a dialect of Algonquin. They are very mild in their dispo-
sitions. They keep several wives, of whom they are very jealous, and

watch them closely.  Tf they behave unchastely, they cut off their ears
or nose, of which I saw several who carried those marks of their
infidelity.

The Illinois are well formed and very nimble. They are skillful
with their bows and rifles, with which they are supplied by the Indians
who trade with our Frenchmen,  This makes them formidable to their
enemies, who have no fircarms. They make excursions to the west to
capture slaves, which they barter with other nations for the commodities
they want. Those nations are entirely ignorant of iron tools; their
knives, axes, and other instruments, are made of fint and other sharp
stones.  When the Illinois go upon a war expedition, the whole village
is notified by an outcry at the door of their huts the morning and even-
ing before they set out. Their chiefs are distinguished from the soldiers
by red scarfs made of the hair of buffaloes, curiously wrought, which are
taken only a few days’ journey from their village. They live by hunting
and on Indian corn, of which they always have a plenty. They sow
beans and melons, which are excellent, especially those whose seed is
red. They dry them, and keep them until the winter and spring.

Their cabins are large; they are covered and carpeted with rushes.
Their dishes are of wood, but their spoons are made with the bones of
the buffalo, which they cut so as to make theni very convenient to eat
their sagamite with. They have physicians among them to whom, in
case of sickness, they are very liberal. Their clothing consists of the
skins of wild animals, which serve to clothe their women, whodress very
modestly, while the men go most of the year almost naked. Some of
the Illinois and Nadonessians wear women's apparel, and when they
put it on in their youth, they never leave it off. There must certainly
be some mystery in this, They never marry, but work in the cabins
with the women, which the other men think it beneath them to do.
They assist in all the juggleries and the solemn dance in honor of the
calumet, but they are not permitted cither to dance or sing. They are
called to their councils, and nothing is determined without their advice:
for because of their extraordinary manner of living, they are looked
upon as manitous, or persons of consequence,

It now only remains for me to speak of the calumet, the most
mysterious thing in the world. The sceptres of our kings are not so
much respected ; for the Indians have such a deference for it, that one
may call it “*The God of Peace and War, and the Arbiter of Life and
Death.” One with this calumet may venture among his enemies, and
on the hottest battles they lay down their arms before this sacred pipe.
The Ilinois presented me with one of them, which was very useful to
us in our voyage, Their Calumet of Peace is different from the Calumet
of War; they make use of the former to seal their alliances and treaties,
to travel with safety, and receive strangers: and the other is to proclaim
war. It is made of red stone, and smooth as marble. The head is like
our common tobacco pipe, but larger, and fixed to a hollow reed, to hold
it for smoking. They ornameut it with the head and neck of different
birds, to whicli they add large feathers of different colors, and call it *“The
Cahumnet of the Sun,” to whom they present it when they want fair
weatlter, or rain, believing that this planet cannot have less respect for
it than they themselves, and therefore they will obtain their wishes.
They do not dare to wash themselves in the rivers in the beginning of
summer, or cat new fruit, before they have danced the calumet.

This dance of the calumet is a solemn ceremony among the Indians,
which they only perform on important occasions, such as to confirnt an
alliance, or to make peace with their neighbors. They also use it to en-
tertain any nation that comes to visit them; and in this case we may
consider it as their grand entertainment. They perform it in winter
time in their cabins, and in the open fields in summer. They choose
for that purposc a place under the trees, to shelter themselves against
the heat of the sun, and lay in the middle of it a large mat, to place the
god of the chief of the company upon, who gives the entertainmen't.
For every one has his peculiar god, whom they call manitoa. It is
sometimes a stone, a bird, a serpent, or anything clsc that they dream of
in their sleep. They believe that this mmanitoa will prosper their sports,
of fishing, hunting, and other enterprises.  To the right of their manitoa
they place the calumet, their great deity, making round about it a kind
of trophy with their arms, namely, their clubs, axes, bows, quivers, {md
arrows, Things being thus arranged, and the hour for dancing having
arrived, the men and women who are to sing take the most honorable
seats under the trees or arbors. Every one, then, who comes in after-
wards sits down, in a ring, as they arrive, having first saluted the
manitoa by puffing tobacco smoke upon it, which signifies as much as
making it an offering of incense.

Then the Indians, one after the other, take the calumet, and, hold-
ing it with both hands, dance with it, following the cadence of the
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songs, by making different attitudes, turning from side to side, and
showing it to the whole assembly. This being over, he who is to begin
the dance appears in the middle of the assembly, and having taken the
calumet, presents it to the sun, as if he would invite him to_smoke.
Then he places it in an infinite number of positions, sometimes laying
it near the ground, then stretching its wings, as if he wanted it to fly,
and afterwards presents it to the spectators, who smoke it, one after an-
other, dancing all the time, as in the first scene of a ballet. The second
scene is a combat, accompanied with vocal and instrumental music, for
they have a large drum which agrees pretty well with their voices. The
person who dances with the calumet gives a signal to one of their war-
riors, who takes a bow and arrows from the mat, already mentioned,
and fights the other, who defends himself with the calumet alone, both
of them dancing all the while. The spectacle is very amusing, especially
when it is done in time, for the one attacks, and the other defends; the
one thrusts, and the other parries; the one runs, and the other pursues;
which is all done so well, with measured steps, and at the regular sound
of voices and drums, that it would easily pass for a French ballet.

The fighting being over, the third scene consists of a speech made
by him who holds the calumet, relating the battles he has been in, the
victories he has won, and the scalps he has taken; and to reward him,
the chief presents him with a buffalo robe, and, having received it, he
then goes and presents the calumet to another, and this one to a third,
and so on until they all make speeches, wlen the head chief presents it
to the nation that has been invited to the feast as a mark of their friend-
ship, and a continuation of their alliance. There is a song they sing, to
which they give a certain turn of expression which is extremely agree-
able, and which begins thus:

“ Ninahani, Ninahani, Ninahani,
Nane ango.”’

We took leave of our guides about the end of June, and embarked
in presence of all the village, who admired our birch canoes, as they
had never before seen anything like them. We descended the river,
looking for another called Pekitanoni [the Missouri], which runs from
the northwest into the Mississippi, of which I will speak more hereafter.

As we followed the banks, I observed on the rock a medicinal plant
which had a remarkable shape. Its root is like small turnips, linked

EARLIEST DRAWING OF THE INDIAN CALUMET.

The custom of the Indians of the northern Mississippi Valley, of using an orna.
anentgd tobacco pipe, known as the calumet, as a symbol of peace or war, was first
escribed by the early French explorers. Father Hennepin's sketch of an Indian
holding a calumet in his hand forms the frontispiece of his * Nouvelle Decouverte d'un
tres grand Pays,” which was published in Utrecht in 1692,

STATUE OF FATHER MARQUETTE,

Inspiring and uplifting is the conception of the sculptor, Cyrus E. Dalli
elled the heroic ﬁzn}'e'of the sqintly_ I’ere Marquette, which su’»od by the ca'.:‘t‘;ggrgl:cdh
to Art Hill. The missionary priest, in the black robe of the Jesuit Order, is depicted as
he may have appeared before the savages of the Illinois and Arkansas, his left hand
extended in blessing, his right bearing the crucifix aloft, while his upturned face glows
:'nh a compassion almost divine for the untutored savages whose souls he had come to
ave.

together by small fibres, which had the taste of carrots. From the root
springs a leaf, as wide as the hand, about an inch thick, with spots in
the middle, from whence shoot other leaves, each of them bearing five
or six yellow flowers of a bell shape. We found a quantity of mulber-
ries as large as those of France, and a small fruit which we took at first
for olives, but it had the taste of an orange, and another as large as a
hen's egg. We broke it in half, and found the inside was divided into
two divisions, in each of which were eight or ten seeds shaped like
an almond, and very good to eat when ripe; the tree nevertheless gives
out a bad odor, and the leaves are shaped like that of the walnut tree.
We saw also in the prairies a fruit like our filberts.

As we were descending the river we saw high rocks with hideous
monsters painted on them, and upon which the bravest Indians dare not
look. They are as large as a calf, with head and horns like a goat ;
their eyes red; beard like a tiger's; and a face like a man's. Their tails
are so long that they pass over their heads and between their fore legs
under their belly, and ending like a fish’s tail. They are painted red:
green and black. They are so well drawn that I cannot believe they
were drawn by the Indians. And for what purpose they were made
seems to me a great mystery. As we fell down the river, and while we
were discoursing upon these monsters, we heard a great rushing and
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bubbling of waters, and small islands of floating trees coming from the
mouth of the Pekitanoni [the Missouri], with such rapidity that we
could not trust ourselves to go near it. The water of this river is so
muddy that we could not drink it. It so discolors the Missisipi as to
make the navigation of it dangerous. This river comes from the north-
west and empties into the Missisipi, and on its banks are situated a
number of Indian villages. We judged, by the compass, that the Mis-
sisipi discharged itself into the Gulf of Mexico. It would, however,
have been more agreeable if it had discharged itself into the South Sea
or Gulf of California,

The Indians told us that by ascending the Pekitanoni, about six
days’ journey from its mouth, we would find a beautiful prairie twenty
or thirty leagues broad, at the end of which, to the northwest, is a
small river, which is not difficult to navigate. This river runs towards
the southwest for ten or fifteen leagues, after which it enters a small
lake, which is the source of another deep river running to the west,
where it empties into the sea. I do not doubt that this is the Vermil-
lion Sea, and hope I shall have, one timme or other, the opportunity of
undertaking its discovery, and instructing the poor Indians who have
been so long groping their way in heathen darkness. But leaving this
digression, and now having escaped the dangers of being swamped by
the current and floating timber of this rapid river, I return to the sub-
ject of our voyage. After having gone about twenty leagues to the
south and a little less to the southeast, we met another river called
Quabouskigou [the Ohio], which runs into the Mlissisipi in the lati-
tude of 36° north. But before we arrived there, we passed through a most
formidable passage to the Indians, who believe that a manitoa, or demon,
resides there, to devour travelers, and which the Indians told us of to
make us abandon our voyage.

This demon is only a bluff of rocks, twenty feet high, against which
the river runs with great violence, and being thrown back by the rocks
and anisland near it, the water makes a great noiseand flows with great
rapidity through a narrow channel, which is certainly dangerous to
canoes. The Quabouskigou [the Ohio] comes from the east. The
Chouanous [the Shawnees] live on its banks, and are so numerous that
I have been informed there are thirty-eight villages of that nation sit-
uated on this river; they are a very harmless pcople. The Iroquois are
constantly making war upon them, without any provocation, because
they have no firecarms, and carrying them into captivity.

At a little distance above the mouth of this river, our men discov-
ered some banks of iron ore, of which they brought several specimens
into our canoe. There is also liere a kind of fat earth, of three differ-
ent colors, purple, red and yellow, which turns the water of the river
into a deep blood color. We also discovered a red sand which is very
heavy. I put some of it upon my oar, which dyed it red. We had
seen no reeds or canes, but they now began to make their appearance,
and grow so thick that cattle could not make their way through them.
They are of an agreeable green color, and grow very high. Their tops
are crowned with long and sharp leaves.

Up to the present time we had not seen any mosquitoes, but they
now began to be very troublesome. The Indians who live in this part
of the country, in order to protect themselves from the mosquitoes, are
obliged to build their huts differently from other Indians. They drive
into the ground long poles, very near one another, which support a
large hurdle, upon which they lie, instead of a floor, and under which
they make a fire. The smoke passes through it, and drives away the
mosquitoes, The roof of the hurdle is covered with skins and bark,
which protects them from rain, and the insupportable heat of the
summer. For the same reason we were also obliged to make an awn-
ing over our canoes with our sails. As we were gliding along with the
force of the current we perceived Indians on land armed with guns,
waiting for us to come ashore, Qur men prepared themselves to fight,
and it was resolved to let them fire first. As we came near, I spoke
to them in the language of the Hurons, and showed them my calumet
of peace, but they would not answer me, which we took for a declara-
tion of war,

We resolved, however, to pass them, and as we came nearer they
desired us, in a friendly manner, to come ashore. We therefore dis-
embarked, and went to their village. They entertained us with buffalo
and bear’s meat and white plums, which were excellent. We observed
they had guns, knives, axes, shovels, glass beads and bottles, in which
they put their powder. They wear their hair long, as the Iroquois, and
their women are dressed as the Hurons. They told us that they were
only within ten days’ journey of the sea; that they bought their goods
from the Europeans, who live towards the east; that they had images

and chaplets, and played upon musical instruments; that they were
clothed as I was, and were very kind to them, However, I did not see
anything about them that could persuade me that they had received
any instructions about our holy religion. I endeavored to give them ,
general idea of it, and presented them with some medals to remind them
of it. The account the Indians gave us of the sea was very encourag.
ing, and therefore we applied our oars with great vigor, in hopes of
seciug it very soon. The banks of the river began to be covered with
high trees, which hindered us from observing the country, as we had
done all along. The elm, cotton and cypress trees are beautiful, on
account of their size and height, We judged, from the bellowing of
the buffaloes, that some prairies were near. We saw quails, and shot a
parrot, which had half of his head red, the neck yellow, and the rest of
the body green. We soon descended to latitude 33° north, and found
ourselves at a village on the riverside called Mitchigamea.

The Indians made a great noise, and appeared in arms, dividing
themselves into three parties, one of which stood on the shore, while
the others went into their canoes to intercept our retreat and prevent
our escapc. They were armed with bows and arrows, clubs, axes and
bucklers, and commenced attacking us. Notwithstanding these prepara-
tions we invoked our patroness, the Holy Virgin, and rowed directly
for the shore. As we came near, two young men threw themselves
into the water to board my canoe, which they would have done had not
the rapidity of the current prevented them; so they returned to the
shore and threw their clubs at us, which passed over our heads. It
was in vain I showed them the calumet, and made signs to them that
we had not come to fight; they continued to surround us, and were
about to pierce our sides with their arrows, when God suddenly touched
their hearts, and the old mien who stood upon the bank stopped the
ardor of their young men, and made signs of peace, and came down to
the shore, and throwing their bows and arrows into our canoes, made
signs for us to come ashore, which we did, not, however, without some
suspicions on our part,

I spoke to them in six different languages, but they did not under-
stand any one of them. At last they brought to us an old man, who
spoke the Illinois, whom we told that we wished to go as far as the sea,
and then made them some presents. They understood what I meant,
but T am not sure they understood what I said to them of God and
things concerning their salvation. [t was, however, seed thrown on
ground which would in time become fruitful. They told us that at the
next great village, called Arkansea, eight or ten leagues farther down
the river, we could learn all about the sea. They feasted us with
sagamite and fish, and we passed the night with them, not, however,
without some uneasiness, We embarked early next morning with our
interpreters and ten Indians, who went before us in a canoe. Having
arrived about half a league fromn Arkansea, we saw two canoes coming
towards us. The captain of one was standing up holding the calumet
in his hand, with which he made signs, according to the custom of the
country. He afterwards joined us, inviting us to smoke, and singing
pleasantly. He then gave us some sagamite and Indian bread to eat,
and, going before, made signs for us to follow him, which we did, but
at some distance. They had in the meantime prepared a kind of
scaffold to receive us, adorned with fine mats, upon which we sat down
with the old men and warriors. We fortunately found among them 2
young man who spoke Illinois much better than the interpreter whom
we brought with us from Mitchigamea. We made them some small
presents, which they received with great civility, and seemed to admire
what I told them about God, the creation of the world, and the mysteries
of our holy faith, telling us, by the interpreter, that they wished us to
remain with them for the purpose of instructing them.

We then asked them what they knew of the sea, and they said we
were within ten days’ journey of it, but we might perform it in five;
that they were unacquainted with the nations below, because their
enemies had prevented them from visiting them; that the hatchets,
knives and beads had been sold to them by the nations of the east, and
were in part brought by the Illinois, who live four days’ journey to the
west. That the Indians whom we had met with guns were their
enemies, who hindered them from trading with the Europeans, and if
we persisted in going any farther, we would expose ourselves to other
nations who were their enemies. During this conversation they con-
tinued all day to feast us with sagamite, dog meat and roasted corn
out of large wooden dishes. These Indians are very courteous, and
give freely of what they have, but their provisions are but indifferent,
because they are afraid to go a-hunting on account of their enemies.
They make three crops of Indian corn a year. They roast and boil it
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in large earthen pots, very curiously made, They have also large
baked earthen plates, which they use for different purposes. The men
go naked and wear their hair short. They pierce their noses and ears,
and wear rings of glass beads in them.

The women cover themselves with skins, and divide their hair
into two tresses, which they wear behind their back without any orna-
ment. Their feasts are without any ceremony ; they serve their meats
in large dishes, and every one eats as much as he pleases. Their
language is extremely difficult, and although I tried I never could pro-
nounce a word of it. Their cabins are made with the bark of treces,
and are generally very wide and long. They lie at both ends on mats
raised on a platform two feet higher than the floor. They keep their
corn in panniers made of rushes. They have no beavers, and all their
commodities are buffalo hides, It never snows in this country, and
they have no winter other than continued heavy rains, which makes the
difference between their summer and winter, They have no other
fruit but watermelons, though their soil might produce any other, if
they knew how to cultivate it. In the evening the chiefs held a secret
council, wherein some proposed to kill us, but the great chief opposed
this base design, and sent for us to dance the calumet, which he pre-
sented us with to seal our common friendship. M., Joliet and I held a
council, to deliberate upon what we should do—whether to proceed
further or return to Canada, content with the discoveries we had made.

Having satisfied ourselves that the Gulf of Mexico was in latitude
31° 40/, and that we could reach it in three or four days’ journey from
the Arkansea [Arkansas River], and that the Missisipi discharged itself
into it, and not to the eastward of the Cape of Florida, nor into the
California Sea, we resolved to return home. We considered that the
advantage of our travels would be altogether lost to our nation if we fell
into the hands of the Spaniards, from whom we could expect no other
treatment than death or slavery; besides, we saw that we were not pre-
pared to resist the Indians, the allies of the Europeans, who continually
infested the lower part of thisriver; we therefore came to the conclusion
to return, and make a report to those who had sent us, So that having
rested another day, we left the village of the Arkansea, on the seven-
teenth of July, 1673, having followed the Missisipi from the latitude of
42° to 34°, and preached the gospel to the utmost power to the nations
we visited, We then ascended the Missisipi with great difficulty against
the current, and left it in the latitude of 38° north to enter another river
[IHlinois], which took us to the lake of the Illinois [ Michigan], which
is a much shorter way than through the River Mesconsin [Wisconsin]
by which we entered the Missisipi. .

I never saw a more beautiful country than we found on this river.
The prairies are covered with buffaloes, stags, goats, and the rivers and
lakes with swans, ducks, geese, parrots and beavers. The river upon
which we sailed was wide, deep and placid for sixty-five leagues, and
navigable most all the year round. There is a portage of only half a
league into the lake of the Illinois [Michigan]. We found on the banks
of the river a village called Kuilka, consisting of seventy-four cabins.
They received us very kindly, and we promised to return to instruct
them. The chief, witli most of the youth of this village, accompanied
us to the lake, from whence we returned to the Bay of Puans [Green
Bay] about the end of September. If my perilous journey had been
attended with no other advantage than the salvation of one soul, I
would think my perils sufficiently rewarded. I preached the gospel to
the Illinois of Perouacca for three days together. My instructions
mnade such an impression upon this poor people, that as soon as we
were about to depart they brought to me a dying child to baptize, which
I did, about half an hour before he died, and which, by a special provi-
dence, God was pleased to save.

Even before Joliet went down the Mississippi, LaSalle had
discovered the Ohio, and was engaged in further explorations.

Robert Cavelier de La Salle, born November 22, 1643,
one hundred years after Moscoso had withdrawn from the
Mississippi Valley with the remnant of the De Soto expedi-
tion, was a native of Rouen, France, and reached Canada in
the year of Pere Marquette’s arrival, 1666. He obtained
from the Seminary of Saint Sulpicius, feudal owner of the Island
of Montreal, a grant of land, but sold it in 16609, to seek his
fortune as an explorer of the country south and west of the
great lakes. He discovered the Ohio River, and followed it
down to the falls, a hundred years before any cabin was built
where the city of Louisville now stands. The following year

he reached the head of Lake Michigan, and found his way
across to the Illinois River, another tributary of the Miss.
issippi. For these services he obtained, in 1673, a grant of
Fort Frontenac, with lands and a patent of nobility,

In 1677, La Salle was in France, unfolding to the ministry
a scheme for colonizing and developing the Illinois country
and securing possession of the Mississippi Valley with its
Indian trade, and thereby extending ‘‘ New France” to the
Gulf of Mexico, hemming the English colonies in between
the Alleghenies and the Atlantic, and confining Spain to
Mexico on the west, and Florida on the east of * New
France.” Returning to Fort Frontenac, which he had rebuilt,
he brought with him royal authority to follow up the explora-
tions of Joliet, find the mouth of the great river, and establish
a fortified post there from which the valley was to be opened
to commerce and settlement., The letters patent granted to
La Salle by the French King gave him full authority to open
and develop the commerce of the Mississippi Valley:

Louis, by the grace of God, King of France and of Navarre. To
our dear and well-beloved Robert Cavelier, Sieur de La Salle, greeting.

We have received with favor the very humble petition, which has
been presented to us in your name, to permit you to endeavor to dis-
cover the western part of New France, and we have consented to this
proposal the more willingly, because there is nothing to have more at
heart than the discovery of this country, through which it is probable a
road may be found to penetrate to Mexico, and because your diligence
in clearing lands which we granted to you by the decree of our council
of the 13th of May, 1675, and by Letters Patent of the same date, to
form habitations upon the said lands, and to put Fort Frontenac in a
good state of defence, the seigniory and government whereof we like-
wise granted to you affords us every reason to hope that you will suc-
ceed to our satisfaction and to the advantage of our subjects of the said
country,

For these reasons, and others thereunto moving us, we have per-
mitted, and do hereby permit you, by these presents, signed by our
hand, to endeavor to discover the western part of New France, and,
for the execution of this enterprise, to construct forts wherever you
shall deem it necessary, which it is our will that you shall hold on the
same terms and conditions as Fort Frontenac, agreeably and conformably
to our said Letters Patent of the 13th of March, 1675, which we have
confirmed, as far as is needful, and hereby confirm by these presents. And
it is our pleasure that they be executed according to their form and tenor.

To accomplish this, and everything above-mentioned, we give you
full powers; on condition, however, that you shall finish this enterprise
within five years, in default of whicli these presents shall be void and
of none effect; that you carry on no trade whatever with the savages
called Outaouacs, and others who bring their beaver skins and other
peltries to Montreal, and that the whole shall be done at your expense,
and that of your company, to which we have granted the privilege of
the trade in buffalo skins. And we command the Sieur de Frontenac,
our Governorand Lieutenant-General, and the Sieur Duchesne, Intendant,
and the other officers who compose the supreme council of the said
country, to affix their signatures to these presents, for such is our pleasure.
Given at Saint Germain en Laye, this 12th day of May, 1678, and of

our reign the thirty-fifth.
[Signed] LOUIS.
By the King, CoLBERT.

Starting in November, 1678, up Lake Ontario, he discov-
ered Niagara Falls. A priest in his party, Father Louis
Hennepin, was the first to give the world a written description
and sketch of the great cataract. On Niagara River, above
the falls, La Salle built the ‘‘ Griffin,” in which was made the
first voyage up Lake Erie, Detroit River, and the Straits of
Mackinaw to Green Bay. From that point he sent the
“ Griffin "’ back, loaded with furs, and proceeding with canoes
and overland portage to the Illinois river, and down it, he
built Fort Creve Coeur a little below where Peoria now
stands. He also built another vessel for his voyage down the
Mississippi.
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Not hearing from the ““ Griffin,” and running short of sup-
plies, he left his lieutenant, Henri de Tonti, to hold the fort
with five men, while he went back for supplies, after sending
Father Hennepin, with one companion in a canoe, to make
his famous voyage down the Illinois and up the Mississippi
to discover the Falls of St. Anthony. Father Hennepin's
“Narrative of a Voyage to the Upper Mississippi,” published
in 1683, gives a graphic account of this first exploration of
the Mississippi above the mouth of the Wisconsin, from which
extracts are here given:

We set out irom Fort Creve Cceur the 2gth of February, 1680, and
toward evening, while descending the Seignelay [Illinois] we met on
the way several parties of Islinois returning to their village in their
periaguas, or gondolas, loaded
with meat. They would have
obliged us to return, our two
boatmen were even shaken, but
as they would have had to pass
by Fort Creve Cceur, where our
Frenchmen would have stopped
them, we pursued our way
the next day, and my two men
afterward confessed the design
which they had entertained.
The river Seignelay, on which
we are sailing, is as deep and
broad as the Scine, at Paris,
and in two or three places
widens out to a quarter of a
league, It is lined with hills,
whose sides are covered with
fine large trees. Some of these
hills are half a league apart,
leaving between them a marshy
strip often inundated, especially
in the spring and fall, but pro-
ducing, nevertheless, quite
large trees. On ascending
these hills you discover prairies
further than the eye can reach,
studded at intervals with groves
of tall trees, apparently planted
there intentionally. The cur-
rent of the river is not per-
ceptible, except in time of
great rains; it is at all times
navigable for large barks about
a hundred leagues, from its
mouth to the Islinois village,
whenceits course almostalways
runs south-by-south-west.

On the 7th of March we
found, about two leagues from
its snouth, a nation called
Tamaroa, or Maroa, composed
of two hundred families. They
would have taken us to their
village west of the river Colbert
[Mississippi], six or seven
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Soon after leaving these Indians, we came to the mouth of the
river Seignelay, fifty leagues distant from Fort Creve Coeur, and about
a hundred from the great Islinois village. It is between 36° and
37° north latitude, and consequently one hundred and twenty or thirty
leagues from the Gulf of Mexico. .

In the angle formed on the south by this river, at its mouth, is a
flat, precipitous rock, about forty feet high, very well suited for building
a fort. On the northern side, opposite the rock, and on the west side
beyond the river, are fields of black earth, the end of which you cannot
see, all ready for cultivation, which would be very advantageous for the
existence of a colony.

The ice which floated down from the north kept us in this place till
the 12th of March, when we continued our route, traversing the river
and sounding on all sides to see whether it was navigable. There are,
indeed, three islets in the middle, near the mouth of the river Seignelay,
which stop the floating wood
and trees from the north, and
from several large sand-bars,
yet the channels are deep
enough, and there is sufficient
water for barks; large flatboats
can pass there at all times.

The river Colbert runs
south-southwest, and comes
from the north and northwest;
it runs between two chains of
mountains, quite small here,
which wind with the river,
and in some places are pretty
far from the banks, so that
between the mountains and
the river there are large prair-
ies, where you often see herds
of wild cattle browsing. In
other places these eminences
leave semi-circular spots cov-
ered with grass or wood.
Beyond these mountains you
discover vast plains, but the
more we approach the northern
side ascending, the earth be-
comes apparently less fertile,
and the woods less beautiful
than in the Islinois country.

This great river is almost
everywhere a short league in
width, and in some places,
two or three. It is divided by
a number of islands covered
with trees, interlaced with so
many vines as to be almost
impassable. It receives no
considerable river on the west-
ern side except that of the
Otontenta, and another, Saint
Peter's, which comes from the
west-northwest, seven or eight
leagues from Saint Anthony of
Padua’s Falls.

On the eastern side you
meet first an inconsiderable

leagues bel Flanking the Plaza of Saint Louis on either hand stood heroic equestrian statues of the great river H
g . b 0\'.»' the mouth of discovcrersgof the Mississippi, e Soto and Joliet. In thestatue of Jolict the artist, Phimister A. ¢ [ROCk R]ver]’ and then
the river Se‘gnelﬂ)’; but our Proctor. has followed tradition and contemporary descriptions for the portraiture of the figure, the further on another, called by

two canoemen, in hopes of
still greater gain, preferred to statue is a majestic and inspiring production.
pass on, according totheadvice

I then gave them. These last Indians, seeing that we carried iron and
arms to their enemies, and unable to overtake us in their periaguas,
which are wooden canoes, much heavier than our bark ones, which went
much faster than their boats, dispatched their young men after us by
land, to pierce us with their arrows at somne narrow part of the river,
but in vain; for soon after discovering the fire made by these warriors
at their ambuscade, we crossed the river at once, and gaining the other
side, encamped on an island, leaving our canoc loaded and our little dog
to wake us, so as to embark with all speed, should the Indians attempt
to surprise us by swimming across.

attitude of which suggests a survey of the territory that lay‘bcforc the explorer, who holds in his . . .
right hand a chart to which he seems to be referring for guidance through the wilderness. The the Indians OQuisconsin, or

Misconsin, which comes from

the east and east-northeast.
Sixty leagues up you leave it, and make a portage of half a league to
reach the Bay of Fetid {Puans] by another river which, near its course,
meanders most curiously. It is almost as large as the river Seignelay,
or 1linois, and empties into the river Colbert, a hundred leagues above
the river Seignelay.

Twenty-four leagues above, you come to the Black River, called by
the Nadouessiou, or Issati, Chabadeba, or Chabaaudeba; it seems quite
inconsiderable. Thirty leagues higher up, you find the Lake of Tears
{Lake Pepin], which we so named because some of the Indians who
had taken us, wishing to kill us, wept the whole night, to induce the
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others to consent to our death. This lake, which is formed by the river
Colbert, is seven leagues long, and about four wide; there is no consid-
erable current in the middle that we could perceive, but only at its
entrance and exit. Half a league below the Lake of Tears, on the
south side, is Buffalo River, full of turtles. Itisso called by the Indians
on account of the numbers of buffalo [boeufs] found there. We followed
it for ten or twelve leagues; it empties impetuously into the river Col-
bert, but as you ascend it, it is constantly calm and free from rapids. It
is skirted by mountains, far enough off at times to form prairies, The
mouth is wooded both sides, and is full as large as that of the
Seignelay.

Forty leagues above is a river full of rapids [Saint Croix], by which,
striking northwest, you can reach Lake Conde [Superior], that is, as
far as Nimissakouat River, which empties into the lake. This first river
is called Tomb River, because the Issati left there the body of their
warrior, killed by a rattlesnake. According to their custom, I put a
blanket on the grave, which act of humanity gained me much importance
by the gratitude displayed by the deceased’s countrymen, in a great
banquet which they gave me in their country, and to which more than
a hundred Indians were invited.

Continuing to ascend the Colbert ten or twelve leagues more, the
navigation is interrupted by a fall, which I called Saint Anthony of
Padua’s, in gratitude for the favors done me by the Almighty through
the intercession of that great saint, whom we had chosen patron and pro-
tector of all our enterprises. This fall is forty or fifty feet high, divided
in the middle by a rock*island of pyramidal form. The high mountains
which skirt the river Colbert last only as far as the river Quisconsin,
about one hundred and twenty leagues; at this place it begins to flow
from the west and northwest, without our having been able to learn
from the Indians, who have ascended it very far, where it rises. They
merely told us that twenty or thirty leagues below there is a second
fall, at the foot of which are some villages of the prairie people, called
Thinthonha, who live there a part of the year. Eight leagues above
Saint Anthony of Padua’s falls on the right you find the Issati or
Nadouessiou River [Rum River], with a very narrow mouth, which you
can ascend to the north for about seventy leagues to Lake Buade or
Issati [Mille Lake], where it rises, We called it Saint Francis River.
This last lake spreads out into great marshes, producing wild rice, like
many other places, down to the extremity of the Bay of the Fetid.
This kind of grain grows wild in marshy places; it resembles oats, but
tastes better, and the stems are longer as well as the stalk. The Indians
gather it whenripe. The women tie several stalks together with white-
wood bark to prevent its being all devoured by the flocks of duck and
teal found there. The Indians lay in a stock for part of the year, to eat
out of the hunting season. .

Lake Buade, or lake of the Issati [Mille Lake], is about seventy
leagues west of Lake Conde. It is impossible to go from one to the
other on account of the marshy and quaggy nature of the ground; you
might go, though with difficulty, on the snow on snowshoes. By water
it is a hundred and fifty leagues, on account of the many detours to be
made, and there are many portages. From Lake Conde, to go conve-
niently in the canoe, you must pass by Tomb River, where we found only
the bones of the Indian whom I mentioned above, the bears having
eaten the flesh, and pulled up poles which the deceased’s relatives had
planted in form of a monument. One of our boatmen found a war-
calumet beside the grave, and an earthen pot upset, in which the
Indians had left fat buffalo meat, to assist the departed, as they say, in
making his journey to the land of souls.

In the neighborhood of Lake Buade are many other lakes, whence
issue several rivers, on the banks of which live the Issati, Nadouessiou,
Tinthonha (which means prairiemen), Chongaskethon, Dog or Wolf
tribe, for chonga among these nations means dog or wolf, and other
tribes, all which we comprise under the name Nadouessiou. These
Indians number eight or nine thousand warriors, very brave, great
runners and very good bowmen. It was by a part of these tribes that [
and our two canoemen were taken in the following way :

We scrupulously said our morning and evening prayers every day
on embarking, and the Angelus at noon, adding some paraphrases on
the Response of Saint Bonaventure in honor of Saint Anthony of Padua.
In this way we begged of God to meet these Indians by day, for when
they discover people at night, they kill them as enemies, to rob those
whom they murder secretly of some axes or knives which they value
more than we do gold and silver. They even kill their own allies, when
they can conceal their death, so as afterward to boast of having killed
men, and so pass for soldiers.

We had considered the river Colbert,  with great pleasure, and with-
out hindrance, to know whether it was navigable up and down. We
were loaded with seven or eight large turkeys, which multiply them-
selves in these parts. We wanted neither buffalo nor deer, nor beaver,
nor fish, nor bear meat, for we killed those animals as they swam across
the river,

Our prayers were heard when, on the 11th of April, 1680, about
two o’clock in the afternoon, we suddenly perceived thirty-three bark
canoes, manned by a hundred and twenty Indians, coming down with
extraordinary speed, to make war on the Miamis, Islinois, and Maroa,
These Indians surrounded us, and while at a distance, discharged some
arrows at us; but as they approached our canoe the old men, seeing us
with the calumet of peace in our hands, prevented the young men from
killing us. These brutal men, leaping from their canoes, some on land,
others into the water, with frightful cries and yells, approached us, and
as we made no resistance, being only three against so great a number,
one of them wrenched our calumet from our hands, while our canoe and
theirs were tied to the shore. We first presented them a piece of
French tobacco, better for smoking than theirs, and the eldest among
them uttered the words Miamiha, Miamiha. As we did not understand
their language, we took a little stick, and by signs which we made on
the sand, showed them that their enemies, the Miamis whom they
sought, had fled across the river Colbert to join the Islinois. When
they saw themselves discovered and unable to surprise their enemies,
three or four old men, laying their hands on my head, wept in a lugu-
brious tone. With a wretched handkerchief I had left, I wiped away
their tears, but they would not smoke our peace-calumet. They made
us cross the river with great cries, which all shouted together with tears
in their eyes. They made us row before them, and we heard yells
capable of striking the most resolute with terror. After landing our
canoe and goods, part of which had been already taken, we made a fire
to boil our kettle. We gave them two large wild turkeys that we had
killed. These Indians having called an assembly to deliberate what
they were to do with us, the two head chiefs of the party approaching,
showed us, by signs, that the warriors wished to tomahawk us. This
compelled me to go to the war chiefs with one of my men, leaving the
other by our property, and throw into their midst six axes, fifteen
knives, and six fathom of our black tobacco; then bowing down my
head, I showed them, with an axe, that they might kill us, if they
thought proper. This present appeased many individual members, who
gave us some beaver to eat, putting the three first morsels in our mouth
according to the custom of the country, aud blowing on the meat, which
was too hot, before putting their bark dish before us to let us eat as we
liked. We spent the night in anxiety, because before retiring at night
they had returned us our peace-calumet. Qur two boatmen were, how-
ever, resolved to sell their lives dearly, and to resist if attacked; their
arms and swords were ready. As for my own part, I determined to
allow myself to be killed without any resistance, as [ was going to
announce to them a God, who had been falsely accused, unjustly con-
demned, and cruelly crucified, without showing the least aversion to
those who put Him to death, We watched in turn in our anxiety 5o as
not to be surprised asleep.

In the morning, April 12th, one of their captains named Narrhetoba,
with his face and bare body smeared with paint, asked me for our peace-
calumet, filled it with tobacco of his country, made all his band smoke
first, and then all the others who plotted our ruin, He then gave usto
understand that we must go with them to their country, and they all
turned back with us. Having thus broken off their voyage, I was not
sorry in this conjuncture, to continue our discovery with these people.

The outrages done us by these Indians during our whole route was
incredible, for seeing that our canoe was much larger and more heavily
laden than theirs (for they have only a quiver full of arrows, a bow, and
a wretched dressed skin, to serve, too, as a blanket at night, for it was
still pretty cold at that season, always going north), and that we could
not go faster than they, they put some warriors with us to help us row,
to oblige us to follow them. These Indians sometimes make thirty or
forty leagues, when at war and pressed for time, or anxious to surpris
some enemy. Those who had taken us were of various villages 3"d.°f
different opinions as to us. We cabined every night by the young chief
who had asked for our peace-calumet, and put ourselves under his pro-
tection, but jealousy arose among the Indians, so that the chief of the
party, named Aquipaguetin, one of whose sons had been killed by the
Miamis, seeing that he could not avenge his death on that nation as he
had wished, turned all his rage on us. He wept through almost every
night him he had lost in war, to oblige those who had come¢ out to
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LA SALLE'S PARTY BUILDING THE “GRIFFIN.”

The illustration, taken from Father Hennepin’s * Description de Louisiane,” depicts the construction of the little ship in which La Salle and his followers cruised west-
ward through the (ireat l.akes to the headwaters of the Mississippi. Hennepin's account says: On the twenty-second of January, 1679, we proceeded to a point two leagues

above the great Falls of Niagara.

There we put up stocks to build the vessel we needed for our voyage ¢ * Qur bark wasin a short time ready to be launched, and hav-

ing blessed it with the cerermonies prescribed by the church, it was launched into the water, although it was not yet gntirc]y finished, in order to secure it from the ﬁrc. vg‘_hh
which it was threatened. 1t was named the Griffin. \We fired three salutes with our cannons and sang the Te [Deum in thanksgiving, which was followed by several 'Vive
tE

le Roy.

avenge him to kill us and seize all we had, so as to be able to pursue
his enemies ; but those who liked European goods were much disposed
to preserve us, so as to attract other Frenchmen there and gct iron,
which is extremely precious in their eyes, but of which they knew the
great utility only when they saw one of our French boatmen kill three
or four bustards or turkeys at a single shot, while they can scarcely kill
only one with an arrow. In consequence, as we afterward learned, that
the words Manza Quakanche mean “*iron that has understanding,’” and
so these nations call a gun which breaks a man’s bones, while their
arrows only glance through the flesh they pierce, rarcely breaking the
bones of those whom they strike, and consequently producing wounds
more casily cured than those made by our European guns, which often
cripple those whom they wound.

We had some design of going to the mouth of the river Colbert,
which more probably enters into the Gulf of Mexico than into the Red
Sea, but the tribes that scized us gave us no time to sail up and down
the river.

We had made about two hundred leagues by water since leaving
the Islinois, and we sailed with the Indians who took us during some
nineteen days, sometimes north, sometimes northwest, according to the
dircction which the river took. By the estimate which we formed,
during that time, we made about two hundred and fifty leagues, or even
more on Colbert River, for these Indians row in great force from early
in the morning till evening, scarcely stopping to eat during the day.
To oblige us to keep up with them, they gave us every day four or five
men to increase the crew of our little vessel, which was much heavier
lhag theirs., Sometimes we cabined when it rained, and when the

weather was not bad we slept on the ground without any shelter. This
gave us all time to contemplate the stars and the moon when it shone,

These Indians at times sent their fleetest by land to chase the
buffalo on the water side. As these animals crossed the river they
sometimes killed forty or fifty, merely to take the tongue and most
delicate morsels, leaving the rest with which they would not burthen
themselves, so as to go on more rapidly. We sometimes, indecd, ate
good pieces, but without bread, wine, salt, or other seasoning. During
our three years’ travels we had lived in the same way, sometimes in
plenty, at others compelled to pass twenty-four hours, and often more,
without eating—because in these little bark canoes you can not take
much of a load. and with every precaution you are, for most part of the
time, deprived of all necessaries of life. If a religious in Europe under-
went many hardships and labors and abstinences like those we were
often obliged to suffer in America, no other proof would be needed for
his canonization. It is true that we do not always merit it in such
cases, and suffer only because we cannot help it.

During the night some old men came to weep piteously, often
rubbing our arms and whole bodies with their hands, which they then
put on our heads. Besides being hindered from sleeping by these tears,
I often did not know what to think, nor whether these Indians wept
because some of their warriors would have killed us, or out of pure com-
passion at the ill treatment shown us,

Having arrived on the nincteenth day of our navigation five leagues
below Saint Anthony’s falls, these Indians landed usin a bay and assem-
bled to deliberate about us. They distributed us scparately, and gave us
to three heads of families in place of three of their children who had

e

v

—

3




34 HISTORY OF THE LOUISIANA PURCIHASE EXPOSITION.

been killed in war. They first seized all our property, and broke our
canoe to pieces, for fear we should return to their enemies. Their own
they hid in some alders to use when going to hunt; and though we
might easily have reached their country by water, they compelled us to
go sixty leagues by land, forcing us to march from daybreak to two
hours after nightfall, and to swim over many rivers, while these Indians,
who are often of extraordinary height, carried our habit on their head;
and our two boatmen, who were smaller than myself, on their shoulders,
because they could not swim as I could. On leaving the water, which
was often full of sharp ice, I could scarcely stand; our legs were all
bloody from the ice which we broke as we advanced in lakes which we
forded, and as we ate only once in twenty-four hours some picces of
meat which these barbarians grudgingly gave us, I was so weak that [
often lay down on the way, resolved to die there rather than follow
these Indians, who marched on and continued their route with a celerity
which surpasses the power of the Europeans. To oblige us to hasten
on, they often set fire to the grass of the prairies where we were pass-
ing, so that we had to advance or burn. I had then a hat which I
reserved to shield me from the burning rays of the sun in summer, but
I often dropped it in the flame which we were obliged to cross.

After five days’ march by land, suffering hunger, thirst, and out-
rages, marching all day long without rest, fording lakes and rivers, we
descried a number of women and children coming to mect our little
army. All the elders of this nation assembled on our account and we
saw cabins and bundles of straw hanging from the posts of them, to
which these savages bind those whotn they take as slaves, and burn
them ; and seeing that they made the Picard, du Gay, sing, as he held
and shook a gourd full of litile round pebbles, while his hair and face
were filled with paint of different colors, and a tuft of white feathers
attached to his head by the Indians, we not unreasonably thought that
they wished to kill us, as they performed many of the ceremonies usually
practised, when they intend to burn their enemies. The worst of it
was, too, that not one of us three could make himself understood by
these Indians; nevertheless, after many vows, which every Christian
would make in such straits, one of the principal Issati chiefs gave us
his peace-calumet to smoke, and accepted the one we had brought. He
then gave us some wild rice to eat, presenting it to us in large bark
dishes, which the Indian women had seasoned with whortleberries,
which are black grains which they dry in the sun in summer, and are
as good as currants. After this feast, the best we had for seven or eight
days, the heads of families who had adopted us, instead of their sons
killed in war, conducted us separately each to -his village, marching
through marshes knee-deep in water, for a league, after which the five
wives of the one who called me Mitchinchi, that is to say, lis son,
received us in three bark canoes, and took us a short league from our
starting place to an island where their cabins were.

On our arrival, which was about Easter, April 21, 1680, one of
these Indians who seemed to me decrepit, gave me a large calumet to
smoke, and weeping bitterly, rubbed my head and arms, showing his
compassion at seeing me so fatigued that two men were often obliged to
give me their hands te help me to stand up. There was a bearskin ncar
the fire, on which he rubbed my legs and the soles of my feet with
wild cat oil. .

Aquipaguetin’s son, who called me his brother, paraded about with
our brocade .chasuble on his bare back, having rolled up in it some dead
man’s bones, for whom these people had a great veneration., The
priest’s girdle made of red and white wool, with two tassels at the end,
served him for suspenders, earrying thus in triumph what he called
«Pere Louis Chinnien,”” which means ‘‘ the robe of him who is called
the sun.”” After these Indians had used this chasuble to cover the
bones of their dead, they presented it to some of their allies, tribes sit-
uated about five hundred leagues west of their country, who had sent
them an embassy and danced the calumet.

The day after our arrival Aquipaguetin, who was the head of a
large family, covered me with a robe made of ten large dressed beaver
skins, trimmed with porcupine quills. This Indian showed me five or
six of his wives, telling them, as 1 afterwards learned, that they should
in future regard me as’one of their children. He set before me a bark
dish full of fish, and ordered all those assembled that each should call
me by the name I was to have in the rank of our near relationship; and
seeing that I could not rise from the ground but by the help of two
others, he had a sweating cabin made, in which he made me enter
naked with four Indians. This cabin he covered with buffalo skins, and
inside he put stones red to the middle. He made me a sign to do as
the others before beginning to sweat, but I merely concealed my naked-

ness with a handkerchief.  As soon as these Indians had several times
breathed out quite violently, he began to sing in a thundering voice, the
others seconded him, all putting their hands on me, and rubbing me,
while they wept bitterly. I began to faint, but I came out, and could
scarcely take my habit to put on. When he had made me sweat thys
three times a week, I felt as strony as ever,

[ often spent sad hours among these savages; for, besides their only
giving me a little wild rice and smoked fish roes five or six times g
week, which they boiled in earthen pots, Aquipaguetin took me to a
neighboring island with his wives and children to till the ground, in
order to sow some tobacco seed, and seeds of vegetables that I had
brought, and which this Indian prized extremely. Sometimes he
assembled the elders of the village, in whose presence he asked me fora
compass that I always had in my sleeve; sceing that [ made the needle
turn with a key, and believing justly that we Europeans went all over
the habitable globe, guided by this instrument, this chief, who was very
cloquent, persuaded his people that we were spirits, and capable of doing
anything bevond their reach. At the close of his address, which was
very animated, all the old men wept over my head, admiring in me
what they could not understand. I had an iron pot with three lion-paw
feet, which these Indians never dared touch, unless their hand was
wrapped up in some robe, The women hung it to the branch of a tree,
not daring to enter the cabin where it was. [ was sometimes unable to
make myself understood by these people, but feeling myself gnawed by
hunger, I began to compile a dictionary of their language by means of
their children, with whom I made myself familiar in order to learn,

During our stay amonyg the Issati or Nadouessiou, we saw Indians
who came as ambassadors from about five hundred leagues to the west.
They informed us that the Assenipoulacs were then only seven or eight
days distant to the northeast of us; all the other known tribes on the
west and northwest inhabit immense plains and prairies abounding in
buffalo and peltries. where they are sometimes obliged to make fires
with buffalo dung for want of wood.

Three months after. all these nations assembled, and the chiefs
having rcgulalgd the places for hunting the buffalo, they dispersed in
several bands so as not to starve each other. Aquipaguetin, one of the
chiefs who had adopted me as his son, wished to take nie to the west
with about two hundred families; I made answer that I awaited spirits
(so they called Frenchmen), at the river Quisconsin, which empties
into the river Colbert, who were to join me to bring merchandise. and
that if he went that way I would continue with him: he would have
gone but for those of his nation. In the beginning of July, 1680, we
descended in canoes, southward with the great chief named Ouasicoude:
that is to say. the Pierced-pine, with about eighty cabins. composed of
more than a hundred and thirty families, and about two hundred and
fifty warriors. Scarcely would the Indians give me a place in their
little fleet, for they had only old canoes. They went four leagues lower
down to get birch bark to make some more. Having made a hole in
the ground to hide our silver chalice and our papers till we returned
from the hunt, and keeping only our breviary, so as not to be loaded, I
stood on the bank of a lake formed by the river we had called Saint
Francis and stretched out my hand to the canoes as they rapidly passed
in succession; our Frenchmen also had one for themselves, which the
Indians had given them; they would not take me in, Michael Ako say-
ing that he had taken me along enough to satisfy him, I was hurt at
this answer, sceing myself thus abandoned by Christians, to whom I
had always done good, as they both often acknowledged; but God hav-
ing never abandoned me in that painful voyage, inspired two Indians to
take me in their little canoe, where I had no other employment than
to bail out with a little bark tray the water which entered by little
holes. This I did not do without getting all wet. The boat might,
indeed, be called a death box, from its lightness and fragility. These
canoes do not generally weigh over fifty pounds; the least motion of
the body upsets them, unless you are long habituated to that kind of
navigation. On disembarking in the evening, the Picard, as an excuse,
told me that their canoe was half rotten, and that, had we been three in
it, we should have run a great risk of remaining on the way. In spite
of this excuse I told him that, being Christians, they should not act so,
especially among Indians, more than eight hundred leagues from the
French scttlements; that if they were well received in this country, it
was only in consequence of my bleeding some asthmatic Indians, and
my giving them some orvietan and other remedies which I kept in my
sleeve, and by which I had saved the lives of some Indians bit by rattle-
snakes, and because I had neatly made their tonsure, which Indian
children wear to the age of eightecen or twenty, but have no way of
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making except by burning the hair with red-hot flat stones. [ reminded
them that by my ingenuity I had gained the friendship of these people,
who would have killed us or made us suffer more had they not discov-
ered about me those remedies which they prize, when they restore the
sick to health. However, the Picard only, as he retired to his host’s,
apologized to me.

Four days after our departure for the buffalo hunt, we halted eight
leagues above Saint Anthony of Padua’s Falls on an eminence opposite
the mouth of the river Saint Francis; here the Indian women made
their cane frames while waiting for those who were to bring bark to
make the canoes. The young men.went to hunt stag, deer and beaver,
but killed so few animals for such a large party that we could very
rarely get a bit of ineat, having to put up with a broth once in every
twenty-four hours. The Picard and myself went to look for haws,
gooscberries, and little wild fruit, which often did us more harm than
good; this obliged us to go alone, as Michael Ako refused, in a wretched
canoe to Ouiconsin River, which was more than a hundred leagues off,
to see whether the Sieur de L.a Salle had sent to that place a reinforce-
ment of men, with powder, lead, and other munitions, as he had prom-
ised us on our departure from the Islinois.

The Indians would not have suffered this voyage had not one of
the three remained with them; they wished me to stay, but Michael
Ako absolutely refused. Our whole stock was fifteen charges of powder,
a gun, a wretched earthen pot which the Indians had given us, a knife,
and a beaver robe, to make a journey of two hundred leagues, thus
abandoning ourselves to Providence. As we were making the portage
of our canoce at Saint Anthony of Padua’s falls, we perccived five or
six of our Indians who had taken the start; one of them was up in an
oak, opposite the great fall, weeping bitterly, with a well-dressed beaver
robe, whitenced inside and trimmed with porcupine quills, which he was
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offering as a sacrifice to the fall, which is in itself admirable and fright-
ful. 1 heard him, while shedding copious tears, say, as he spoke to the
great cataract; ‘“‘Thou who art a spirit, grant that our nation may
pass here quietly without accident, may kill buffalo in abundance,
conquer our enemties, and bring in slaves, some of whom we will put to
death before thee; the Messenecyz (so they call the tribe named by the
French Outouagamis) have killed our kindred ; grant that we may
avenge them.”” In fact, after the heat of the buffalo hunt, they invaded
their enemies, killed some, and brought others as slaves. If they suc-
ceed a single time, cven after repeated failures, they adhere to their
superstition.  This robe offered in sacrifice served one of our French-
men, who took it as we returned.

A league below Saint Anthony of Padua’s falls the Picard was
obliged to land and get his powder-horn, which he had left at the falls.
On his return I showed him a snake about six feet long crawling up a
straight and precipitous mountain, and which gradually gained upon
some swallows’ nests to eat the young ones. At the foot of the moun-
tain we saw the feathers of those he had apparently eaten, and we pelted
him down with stones.

While seeking the Ouisconsin River, Aquipaguetin, that savage
father whom I had left, and whom I believed more than two hundred
leagues off, suddenly appeared with ten warriors, on the 11th of July,
1680. We believed that he wad coming to kill us, because we had left
him, with the knowledge, indeed, of the other Indians, but against his
will, He first gave us sowe wild rice and a slice of buffalo meat to eat,
and asked whether we had found the Frenchmen wlo were to bring us
goods ; but not being satisfied with what we satd he started before us
and went to Ouisconsin to try and carry off what he could from the
French., This savage found none there, and rejotned us three days
after. The Picard had gone on the prairie to hunt and I was alone in a

LA SALLE AND FATITER HENXNEPIN ON THE MISSISSIPPL

From a sketch made by the Rev. Louis Hennepin, S. J., and published by him in 1683, in his
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little cabin on the bank of the river, which I had made to screen us
from the sun, with a blanket that an Indian had given me back. Aqui-
paguetin, seeing me alone, came up, tomahawk in hand. I laid hold of
two pocket pistols, which the Picard had got back from the Indians,
and a knife, not intending to kill my pretended Indian father, but only
to frighten him and prevent his crushing me in case he had that inten-
tion. Aquipaguetin reprimanded me for exposing myself thus to the
insults of their enemies, saying that I should at least take the other
shore to be more in safety, He wished to take me with him, telling
me that he was with three hundred hunters, who killed more buffalocs
than those to whotn I had abandoned myself. I would have done well
to follow his advice, for the Picard and myself, ascending the river
almost eighty leagues away, ran great risk of perishing a thousand times,

The next day the Indians whom we had left with Michael Ako came
down from Buffalo River with their flotilla of canoes loaded with meat.
Aquipaguetin had, as he passed, told how exposed the Picard and I
were on our voyage, and the Indian chiefs represented to us the coward-
ice of Michael Ako, who had refused to undertake it for fear of dying
by hunger. IfI had not stopped him the Picard would have insulted him,

On the 25th of July, 1680, as we were ascending the river Colbert
after the buffalo hunt, to the Indian villages, we met the Sicur de Luth,
who came to the Nadouessious with five French soldiers. They joined
us about two hundred and twenty leagues distant from the country of
the Indians who had taken us. As we had some knowledge of their
language, they begged us to accompany them to the village of those
tribes, to which I readily agreed, knowing that these Frenchmen had
not approached the sacraments for two years. The Sicur de Luth, who
acted as captain, seeing me tired of tonsuring the children and bleeding
asthmatic old men to get a mouthful of meat, told the Indians that I
was his elder brother, so that, having my subsistence sccured, I labored
only for the salvation of the Indians.

Toward the end of September, having no implements to begin an
establishment, we resolved to tell these people that, for their benefit, we
would have to return to the French settlements. The grand chief of the
Issati, or Nadouessious, consented, and traced in pencil on a paper I
gave him the route we should take for four hundred leagues. With this
chart we set out, eight Frenchmen, in two canoes, and descended the
rivers Saint Francis and Colbert. Two of our men took two beaver
robes at Saint Anthony of Padua’s falls, which the Indians had hung
in sacrifice on the trees.

We stopped near Quisconsin River to smoke some meat. Three
Indians, coming from the nations we had left, told us that their great
chief, named Pierced-pine, having heard that one of the chiefs of the
nation wished to pursue and kill us, had entered his cabin and toma-
hawked him, to prevent his pernicious design. We regaled these three
Indians with meat, of which we were in no want then.

Two days after, we perceived an army of one hundred and forty
canoes, filled with about two hundred and fifty warriors. We thought
that those who brought the preceding news were spies, for instead of
descending the river on leaving us, they ascended to tell their people.
However, the chiefs of the little ariny visited us and treated us very
kindly, and the same day descended the river as we did to the Ouis-
consin. We found that river as wide as the Seignelay [Illinois], with a
strong current. After sailing sixty leagues, we came to a portage of
half a league, which the Nadouessious chiefs had marked for us. We
slept there to leave marks and crosses on the trunks of the trees. The
next day we entered a river which widens wonderfully, for, after six
hours’ sailing, we found ourselves opposite the place where we started.
One of our men, wishing to kill a swan on the wing, capsized his canoe,
fortunately not beyond his depth.

We passed four lakes, two pretty large, on the banks of which the
Miamis formerly resided. We found Maskoutens, Kikapous and Quta-
ougamy there, who sow Indian corn for their subsistence. All this
country is as fine as that of the Islinois.

We made a portage at a rapid called Kakalin, and, after about four
hundred leagues’ sail from our leaving the country of the Issati and
Nadouessious, we arrived safely at the extremity of the Bay of the
Fetid, where we found Frenchmen trading, contrary to orders, with the
Indians. They had some little wine in a tin flagon, which enabled me
to say mass. I had then only a chalice and altar stone, but Providence
supplied me with vestments, for some Islinois, flying from the tyranny
of the Iroquois, who had destroyed a part of their nation, took the
vestments of the chapel of Father Zenobius Membre, Recollect, who
was with the Islinois in their flight. They gave me all they took,
except the chalice, which they promised to give back in a few days for
a present of some tobacco.

One of our Frenchmen gave a gun for a canoe larger than ours
with which, after sailing a hundred leagues, we reached Missilimackz
inac, where we were obliged to winter,  To employ the time usefully,
I preached every holy day and on Sundays of Advent and Lent, The
Ottawas and Hurons were often present, rather from curiosity than
from any inclination to live according to the Christian maxims. These
last Indians said, speaking of our discovery, that they were men, but
that we Frenchmen were spirits, because had they gone so far the
strange nations would have killed them, while we went fearlessly
everywhere,

We left Missilimackinac in Easter week, 1681, and were obliged to
drag our provisions and canoes on the ice, more than ten leagues, on
Lake Orleans. Having advanced far enough on this fresh-water sea, and,
the ice breaking, we embarked after Low Sunday, which we celebrated,
having some little wine which a Frenchman had fortunately brought,
and which served us quite well during the rest of the voyage. After a
hundred leagues on Lake Orleans, we passed the strait [Detroit] for
thirty leagues and I.ake Saint Clare, which is in the middle, and entered
Lake Conty, where we killed, with sword and axe, more than thirty
sturgeon which came to spawn on the banks of the lake. On the way
we met an Ottawa chief, called Talon, six persons of whose family had
died of starvation, not having found a good fishery or hunting ground.
This Indian told us that the Iroquois had carried off a family of twelve
belonging to his tribe, and begged us to deliver them, if yet alive.

We sailed along l.ake Conty, and after a hundred and twenty
leagues we passed the strait of the great falls of Niagaraand Fort Conty,
and, entering Lake Frontenac, coasted along the southern shore, After
thirty leagues from Lake Conty, we reached the great Seneca village
about Whitsunday, 1681.

Atthe mouth of Lake Frontenac the current is strong, and the more
you descend the more it increases ; the rapids are frightful. In two days
and a half we descended the river Saint Laurence so rapidly that we
reached Montreal (sixty miles from the fort), where the Count de
Frontenac, Governor-General of all New France, then was. This Gov-
ernor received me as well as a man of his probity can receive a mis-
sionary. As he believed me killed by the Indians, he was for a time
thunderstruck, believing me to be some other religious. He beheld me
wasted, without a cloak, with a habit patched with pieces of buffalo-
skin. He took me with him for twelve days to recover, and himself
gave me the meat I was to eat, for fear I should fall sick by eating too
much after so long a diet. I rendered him an exact account of my
voyage, and represented to him the advantage of our discovery.

Returning in 1680, La Salle found that a war party of
five hundred Iroquois had played havoc among the Indians
about Creve Cceur; that a mutiny had occurred in the
fort, and that Tonti and the garrison had disappeared.
After spending some time in negotiations with the Indians, he
went back for more supplies, found Tonti at Mackinaw, in
the spring of 1681, concluded his preparations for the voyage
to the Gulf and, about the close of 1681, reached the mouth
of the Chicago River, where Chicago now stands.

On February 6, 1682, La Salle’s party entered the Mis-
sissippi from the Illinois, and on April gth, at the mouth of the
great river, drew up a proces verbal, fired salvos of musketry,
planted a cross with the arms of his King, and took formal
possession of the river's entire watershed *“ in the name of the
most high, mighty, invincible and victorious Prince Louis
the Great, by the Grace of God, King of France and Navarre.”
And thereupon he named the territory Louisiana. Thenotary
whom La Salle had taken with him made this detailed report
of the event:

Jacques de La Metairie, Notary of Fort Frontenac in New France,
commissioned to exercise the said function of Notary during the voyage
to Louisiana, in North America, by M. de La Salle, Governor of Fort
Frontenac for the King, and commandant of the said discovery by the
commission of his Majesty, given at Saint Germain, on the 12th of
May, 1678,

To all those to whom these presents shall come, greeting: Know
that, having been requested by the said Sieur de La Salle to deliver to
him an act, signed by us and by the witnesses therein named, of pos-
session by him taken of the country of Louisiana, near the three mouths
of the River Colbert, in the Gulf of Mexico, on the gth of April, 1682.
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In the name of the most high, mighty, invincible and victorious
Prince, Louis the Great, by the grace of God King of France and of
Navarre, fourteenth of that name, and of his heirs, and the successor of
his crown, we, the aforesaid Notary, have delivered the said act to the
said Sieur de La Salle, the tenor whereof follows:

On the 27th of December, 1681, M. de L.a Salle departed on foot to
join M. de Tonty, who had preceded him with his followers and all his
equipage forty leagues into the Miamis country, where the ice on the
River Chekagou, in the country of the Mascoutens, had arrested his
progress, and where, when the ice became stronger, they used sledges
to drag the baggage, the canoes, and the wounded Frenchiman. through
the whole length of this river, and on the Illinois, a distance of seventy
leagues. At length, all the French being together, on the 25th of January,
1682, we came to Pimiteoui. From that place, the river being frozen
only in some parts, we continued our route to the River Colbert, sixty
leagues, or thereabouts, from Piniteoui, and ninety leagues, or there-
abouts, from the village of the Illinois. We reached the banks of the
River Colbert on the 6th of January, and remained there until the 13th,
waiting for the savages, whose progress had been impeded by the ice,
On the 13th, all having assembled, we renewed our voyage, being
twenty-two French, carrying armis, accompanied by the Reverend
Father Zenobe Membre, one of the Recollect missionaries, and followed
by eighteen New England savages and several women, Ilgonquines,
Otchipoises and Huronnes.

On the 14th we arrived at the village of Maroa, consisting of a
hundred cabins without inhabitants, Proceeding about one hundred
leagues down the river Colbert we went ashore to hunt on the 26th of
February., A Frenchman was lost in the woads, and it was reported to
M. de La Salle that a large number of savages had been seen in the
vicinity. Thinking that they might have seized the Frenchman, and
in order to observe these savages, he marched through the woods
during two days, but without finding them, because they had all been
frightened by the guns which they had heard, and had fled.

Returning to camp, he sent in every direction French and savages
on the search, with orders, if they fell in with savages, to take them
alive without injury, that he might gain from themn intelligence of this
Frenchman. Gabriel Barbie, with two savages, having met five of the
Chikacha nation, captured two of them. They were rdceived with all
possible kindness, and, after he had explained to them that he was
anxious about the Frenchman who had been lost, and that he only
detained them that he might rescue him from their hands, if he was
really among them, and afterwards make with them an advantageous
peace (the French doing good to.everybody), they assured him that
they had not scen the man whom we sought, but that peace would be
received with the greatest satisfaction. Presents were then given to
them, and, as they had signified that one of their villages was not more
than a half a day’s journey distant, M. de I.a Salle set out the next day
to go thither; but, after traveling till night, and having remarked that™
they often contradicted themselves in their discourse, he declined going
farther without more provisions. Having pressed them to tell the
truth, they confessed that it was yet four days’ journey to their villages ;
and perceiving that M. de La Salle was angry at having been deccived,
they proposed that one of them should remain with him, while the
other carried the news to the village, whence the elders would come
and join them four days’ journey below that place. The said Sieur de
La Salle returned to the camp with one of these Chikachas; and the
Frenchman, whom we sought, having been found, he continued his
voyage, and passed the river of the Chepontias, and the village of the
Metsigameas. The fog, which was very thick, prevented his finding
the passage which led to the rendezvous proposed by the Chikachas,

On the 12th of March we arrived at the Kapaha village of Akansa.
Having established a peace there, and taken posscssion, we passed, on
the 15th, another of their villages, situate on the border of their river,
and also two others, farther off in the depth of the forest, and arrived at
that of Imaha, the largest village in this nation, where peace was con-
firmed, and where the chief acknowledged that the village belonged to
his Majesty., Two Akansas embarked with M. de La Salle to conduct
him to the Talusas, their allies, about fifty lcagues distant, who inhabit
eight villages upon the borders of a little lake. On the 19th we passed
the villages of Tourika, Jason and Kouera ; but as they did not border on
the river, and were hostile to the Akansas and Taensas, we did not stop
there, .
On the 20th we arrived at the Taensas, by whom we were exceed-
ingly well received, and supplied with a large quantity of provisions.
M. de Tonty passed a night at one of their villages, where there were
about seven hundred men carrying arms, assembled in the place. Here
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again a peace was concluded. A peace was also made with the Koroas,
two leagues distant from that of the Natches. The two chiefs accom-
paniced M. de La Salle to the banks of the river. Here the Koroa chief
embarked with him to conduct him to his village, where peace was
again concluded with this nation, which, besides the five other villages
of which it is composed, is allied to nearly forty others. On the 31st,
we passed the village of the Oumas without knowing it, on account of
the fog and its distance from the river,

On the 3d of April, at about ten o’clock in the morning, we saw
among the canes thirteen or fourteen canoes. M. de La Salle landed,
with several of his people. Footprints were scen, and also savages, a
little lower down, who were fishing, and who fled precipitately as soon
as they discovered us. Others of our party then went ashore on the
borders of a marsh formed by the inundation of the river. M. de
l.a Salle sent two Frenchmen, and then two savages, to reconnoitre,
who reported that there was a village not far off, but that the whole of
this marsh, covered with canes, must be crossed to reach it; that they
had been assailed with a shower of arrows by the inhabitants of the
town, who had not dared to engage with them in the marsh, but who
had then withdrawn, although neither the French nor the savages with
themr had fired, on account of the orders they had received not to act
unless in pressing danger. Presently we heard a drum beat in the
village, and the cries and howlings with which these barbarians are
accustomed to make attacks. We waited three or four hours, and, as we
could not encamp in this marsh, and seeing no one and no longer hear-
ing anything, we embarked.

An hour afterwards we came to the village of Maheouala, lately
destroyed, and containing dead bodies and marks of blood. Two leagues
below this place we encamped. We continued our voyage till the 6th,
when  we discovered three channels by which the river Colbert
[ Mississippi] discharged itself into the seca. We landed on the bank of
the most western channel, about three leagues from its mouth. On the
7th M. de l.a Salle went to reconnoitre the shores of the neighboring
sea, and M. de Tonty likewise examined the great middle channel.
They found these two outlets beautiful, large and deep. On the 8th, we
reascended the river, a little above its confluence with the sea, to find a
dry place, beyond the reach of inundations. The elevation of the North
Pole was here about 27°. Here we prepared a column and a cross, and
to the said column were affixed the arms of France, with this inscription:

Louis le Grand, Roi de France et de Navarre, Regne;
Le Neumeine Avril, 1682.

The whole party, under arms, chanted the Te Deum, the Exaudiat.
the Domine salvum fac Regem ; and then, after a salute of fircarms and
cries of ““Vive le Roi,”” the column was erected by M. de La Salle,
who, standing near it, said, with a loud voice, in French: *In the
name of the most high, mighty, invincible and victorious Prince, Louis
the Great, by the grace of God King of France and of Navarre, four-
teenth of that name, this ninth day of April, one thousand, six hundred
and eighty-two, I, in virtue of the commission of his Majesty which 1
hold in my hand, and which may be seen by all whom it may concern,
have taken, and do now take, in the name of his Majesty and of his
successors to the crown, possession of this country of Louisiana, the
seas, harbors, ports, bays, adjacent straits; and all the nations, people,
provinces, cities, towns, villages, mines, minerals, fisheries, streams
and rivers, comprised in the extent of said Louisiana, from the mouth
of the great river Saint Louis on the eastern side, otherwise called Ohio,
Alighin, Sipore, or Chukagona, and this with the consent of the
Chaouvanons, Chikachasm and other people dwelling therein, with
whom we have made alliance; as also along the River Colbert, or
Mississippi, and rivers which discharge themselves therein, from its
source beyond the country of the Kious or Nadouessious, and this with
their consent, and with the consent of the Motantees, Illinois, Mesiga-
meas, Natches, Koroas, which are the most considerable nations dwell-
ing therein, with whom also we have made alliance, either by ourselves
or by others in our behalf; as far as its mouth at the sea, or Gulf of
Mexico, about the twenty-seventh degree of the elevation of the North
Pole, and also to the mouth of the River of Palms; upon the assurance
which we have received from all these nations that we are the first
Europeans who have descended or ascended the said river Colbert ; hereby
protesting against all those who may in future undertake to invade any
or all of these countries, people, or lands, above described, to the preju-
dice of the right of his Majesty, acquired by the consent of the nations
herein named. Of which, and of all that can be needed, I hereby take
to witness those who hear me, and demand an act of the Notary, as
required by law.”’
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To which the whole assembly responded with shouts of Vive le Roi,
and with salutes of firearms. Moreover, the said Sieur de La Salle
caused to be buried at the foot of the tree, to which the cross was at-
tached, a leaden plate, on one side of which were engraved the arms of
France, and the following Latin inscription:

LYDOVICYVS MAGNVS REGNAT,
NONO APRILIS CID 103 LXXXII.

ROBERTVS CAVELIER, CVM DOMINO DE TONTY, LEGATO, R. P.
2ENOBIO MEMBRE, RECOLLECTO, ET VIGINTI GALLIS, PRIMVS
HOC FLVMEN, INDE AB ILINEORVM PAGO, ENAVIGAVIT, EJVSQVE
OSTIVM FECIT PERVIVM, NONO APRILIS ANNI CID 10D LXXXIL.

After which the Sjeur de La Salle said that his Majesty, as eldest
son of the church, would -annex no country to his crown without
making it his chief care to establish the Christian religion therein, and
that its symbol must now be
planted; which was accord-
ingly done at once by erecting a
cross, before which the Vexilla
and the Dominie salvum fac
Regem were sung. Where-
upon the ceremony was con-
cluded with cries of Vive le Roi.

Of all and every of the
above, the said Sieur de La
Salle having required of us an
instrument, we have delivered
to him the same, signed by us,
and by the undersigned wit-
nesses, this ninth day of April,
one thousand, six hundred and
eighty-two.

ILA METAIRIE,
Notary.

De La Salle; P. Zenche,
Recollect Missionary; Henry
De Thnty; Francois De Bois-
rondet; Jean Bourdon; Sieur
D’Autray; Jacques Caudhois;
Pierre You; Gilles Meucret;
Jean Michel, Surgeon; Jean
Mas; Jean Dulignon; Nicolas
de La Salle.

On his return voyage,
La Salle left Tonti in
command of the posts of
the Illinois, and forwarded
a report of his operations
by the hand of Father
Membre, to France, where
it was published in Hen-
nepin’'s book in 1683, La
Salle following the report
as soon as possible. The
memorial which the ex-
plorer sent to the French
Court is of unusual inter-
est at the present time

STATUE OF LA SALLE.

the government of the forts, which he should erect on his route,
together with certain privileges as an indemnification for the great
outlay which the expedition would impose on him. Such grant was
made to him by letters patent of the 12th of May, 1678.

In order to execute this commission he abandoned all his own pur-
suits which did not relate to it. He did not omit anything necessary
for success, notwithstanding dangerous sickness, considerable losses,
and other misfortunes which he suffered, which would have discouraged
any other person not possessed of the same zeal with himself, and the
same industry in the performance of the undertaking. He has made
five voyages under extraordinary hardships, extending over more than
five thousand leagues, most commonly on foot, through snow and
water, almost without rest, during five years. He has traversed more
than six hundred leagues of unknown country, among many barbarous
and cannibal nations [anthropophages), against whom he was obliged

to fight almost daily, although
he was accompanied by only
thirty-six men, having noother
consolation before him than a
hope of bringing to an end an
enterprise which he believed
would be agreeable to his
Majesty.

After having happily ex-
ecuted this design, he hopes
Monseigneur will be pleased to
continue him in the title and
government of the fort which
he has had erected in the
country of his discovery, where
he has placed several French
settlers—and has brought to-
gether many savage nations,
amounting to more than eigh-
teen thousand in number, who
have built houses there and
sown much ground—to com-
mence a powerful colony.

This is the only fruit of an
expenditure of one hundred
and ffty thousand ecus—the
only means of satisfying his
creditors who advanced to him
the aid which he required after
very considerable losses.

He believes that he has
sufficiently established the
truth of his discovery by the
official instrument signed by
all his companions, whiclh was
placed last year in the hands
of Monseigneur Colbert by the
Count de Frontenac—as also
by a report drawn up by the
Reverend Father Zenobe, mis-
sionary, who accompanied him
during this voyage, and who
is at this time guardian of
Bapaume—by the testimony of
three persons who accom-
panied him, and whom he has

beca H Flanking the main avenue of the LExposition stood louis A. Gudebrod’s statue of Robert H H
use Of the prophetlc Cavelier, Sieur de La Salle, in which the intrepid explorer is shown in such an attitude as he brought with him to France’

visio R may have assumed when, in the name of his King, he took possession of the country he had and who are now in Paris—
n which foresaw the found and named it Louisiana. The features of the statue are modelled from the profile drawing d .
development of an empire belonging to the Public Library at Rouen. France, [.a Salle’s birthplace. which was made an by the testimony of many

during the lifetime of the famous Frenchman.

trackless wilderness :

Memoir of the Sieur de La Salle reporting to Monscigneur de
Siegnelay the discoveries made by him under the order of his Majesty.

Monseigneur Colbert was of opinion, with regard to the various
propositions which were made in 1678, that it was important for the
glory and service of the King to discover a port for his vessels in the
Gulf of Mexico.

The Sieur de La Salle offered to undertake the discovery at his own
expense, if it should please his Majesty to grant to him the Seignory of

The building in the back ground is the Palace of :
where others had seen Olll)' Mincs and Metallurgy: the statue, with many other portrait statues like it. lined the approach to other persons who came this
the Colonnade of States on the left side in front of the German House in the main picture.

year from Canada, and who
have scen one Cital, sent by
M. de la Barre to collect information respecting him on the spot,
and who has confirimed the truth of the discovery.

All these proofs are sufficient to contradict whatever may have
been written to the contrary by persons who have no knowledge of the
country where the discovery was made—never having been there. But
he hopes to remove all these prejudices by carrying into execution the
design which he entertains, under the favor of Monseigneur, of return-
ing to the country of his discovery by the mouth of the river in the
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Gulf of Mexico, since he must have lost his sense, if, without being
certain of the means of arriving where he proposes, he exposed not
only his own fortune and that of his friends to manifest destruction, but
his own honor and reputation to the unavoidable disgrace of having
imposed on the confidence of his Majesty and of his ministers. Of
this there js less likelihood, because he has no interest to disguise the
truth, since, if Monseigneur does not think it convenient to undertake
any enterprise in that direction, he will not ask anything more from his
Majesty until his return from the Gulf of Mexico confirms the truth of
what he has alleged. With reference to the assertion that his voyage
would produce no profit to France, he replies that if he proposed it as
a thing to be done, and on that account sought for assistance to under-
take the enterprise, or reward after having succeeded in it, its useful-
ness would deserve consideration; but, being here only in order to
render an account of the orders he received, he does not think himself
to be responsible for anything but their execution, it not being his duty
to examine the intentions of Monseigneur Colbert. Having, however,
observed great advantage which both France and Canada may derive
from his discovery, he believes that he owes this detail to the glory of
the King, the welfare of the kingdom—to the honor of the Ministry of
Monseigneur, and to the memory of him who employed him upon this
expedition. He does this the more willingly, as his request will not
expose him to a suspicion of self-interest; and, as the influence which
he has acquired over the people of that continent places him in a posi-
tion to execute what he proposes, the things which he states will find
greater credit in the minds of those who shall investigate them,

Firstly, the service of God may be established there by the preach-
ing of the Gospel to numerous docile and settled nations, who will be
found more willing to receive it than those of other parts of America,
upon account of their greater cjvilization. They have already temples
and a form of worship.

Secondly, we can effect there for the glory of our King very
important conquests, both by land and by sea; or, if peace should oblige
us to delay the execution of them, we might, without giving any cause
of complaint, make preparations to render us certain of success whenever
it shall please the King to command it.

The provinces which may be seized are very rich in silver mines,
they adjoin the River Colbert [the Mississippi], they are far removed
from succor, they are open everywhere on the side on which we should
attack them, and are defended only by a small number of persons, so
sunk in effeminacy and indolence as to be incapable of enduring the
fatigue of wars of this description.

The Sieur de La Salle binds himself to have this enterprise ripe for
success within one year after his arrival on the spot, and asks only for
this purpose one vessel, some arms and munitions, the transport, main-
tenance and pay of two hundred men during one year. Afterwards he
will maintain them from the produce of the country, and supply their
other wants through the credit and confidence which he has obtained
among those nations, and the experience which he has had of those
regions. He will give a more detailed account of this proposal when it
shall please Monseigneur to direct him,

Thirdly, the river is navigable for more than a hundred leagues for
ships, and for barks for more than five hundred leagues to the north,
and for more than eight hundred from east to west. Its three mouths
are as many harbors, capable of receiving every description of ships
where those of his Majesty will always find a secure retreat, and all that
may be necessary to refit and revictual, which would be a great economy
to his Majesty, who would no longer find it necessary to send the things
needed from France at a great expense, the country producing the
greater part of them. We could even build there as many ships as we
should desire, the materials for building and rigging them being in
abundance, with the exception of iron, which may, perhaps, be discovered.

In the first place we should obtain there everything which has
enriched New England and Virginia, and which constitute the founda-
tion of their commerce and of their great wealth—timber of every
kind, salted meat, tallow, corn, sugar, tobacco, honey, wax, rosin and
other gums; immense pasturages, hemp and other articles with which
more than two hundred vessels are every year freighted in New England
to carry elsewhere.

The newly discovered country has, besides its other advantages,
that of the soil, which, being only partly covered with wood, forms a
champaign of great fertility and extent, scarcely requiring any clearing.
The mildness of the climate is favorable to the rearing of a large num-
ber of cattle, which cause great expense where the winter issevere. There
is also a prodigious number of buffaloes, stags, hinds, roes, bears, otters,

lynxes. Hidesandfurs are to be had there almost for nothing, the savages
not yet knowing the value of our commaditics. There are cotton, cochi-
neal, nuts, turnsols, entire forests of mulberry trees, salt, slate, coal, vines,
apple trees; so that it would be casy to make wine, cider, oil of nuts, of
turnsols, and of olives also, if olive trees were planted there; silk and
dye woods. It will not be necessary to import from Europe horses,
oxen, swine, fowls or turkeys, which are to be found in different parts
of the country, nor import provisions for the colonists, who would
quickly find subsistence.

Whilst other colonies are open and exposed to the descents of for-
eigners by as many points as their coasts are washed by the sea, whereby
they are placed under a necessity of having many persons to watch
these points of access, one single post, established towards the lower
part of the river, will be sufficient to protect a territory extending
more than eight hundred leagues from north to south, and still farther
from east to west, because its banksare only accessible from the sea through
the mouth of the river, the remainder of the coast being impenetrable
inland for more than twenty leagues, in consequence of woods, bogs,
reeds, and marshes through which it is impossible to march; and this
may be the reason why the exploration of that river has been neglected
by the Spaniards, if they have had any knowledge of it. This country
is equally well defended in the interior against the irruptions of neigh-
boring Europeans by great chains of mountains stretching from east to
west, from which branches of the river take their source.

It is truc that the country is more open towards the southwest,
where it borders on Mexico, where the very navigable river—the
Secignelay, which is one of the branches of the Colbert [the Mississippi]—
is only separated by a forest of three or four days’ journey in depth.
But, besides that, the Spaniards there are feeble and far removed from
the assistance of Mexico, and from that which they could expect by sea.
This place is protected from their insults by a great number of warlike
savages, who close this passage to them, and who, constantly engaged
with them in cruel wars, would certainly inflict greater evil when sus-
tained by some French, whose more mild and humane governing will
prove a great means for the preservation of the peace made between
them and the Sieur de La Salle.

To maintain this establishment, which is the only one required in
order to obtain all the advantages mentioned, two hundred men only
are needed, who would also construct the fortifications and buildings,
and effect the clearings necessary for the sustenance of the colony,
after which there would be no further expenditure. The goodness of
the country will induce the settlers to remain there willingly. The
ease in which they will live will make them attend to the cultiva-
tion of the soil, and to the production of articles of commerce, and will
remove all desire to imitate the inhabitants of New France, who are
obliged to seek subsistence in the woods under great fatigues, in hunt-
ing peltries, which are their principal resource. These vagrant courses,
common in New France, will be easily prevented in the new country,
because, as its rivers are all navigable, there will be a great facility for
the savages to come to our settlements, and for us to go to them in
boats which can ascend all branches of the river.

If foreigners anticipate us they will deprive France of all the
advantages to be expected from the success of the enterprise. They
will complete the ruin of New France, which they already hem in
through Virginia, Pennsylvania, New England and the Hudson’s Bay.
They will not fail to ascend the river as high as possible, and to estal?-
lish colonies in the places nearest to the savages who now bring their
furs to Montreal ; they will make constant inroads into the countries
of the latter, which could not be repressed by ordinances of his Majesty.
They have already made several attempts to discover this passage, and
they will not neglect it now that the whole world knows that it is dis-
covered, since the Dutch have published it in their newspapers upwards
of a year ago. Nothing more is required than to maintain the posses-
sion taken by the Sicur de La Salle, in order to deprive them of such a
desire, and to place ourselves in a position to undertake enterprises
against them glorious to the arms of his Majesty, who will probably
derive the greatest benefit from the duties he will levy there, as in our
other colonies.

Even if this affair should prove hurtful to New France, it will
contribute to its security, and render our commerce in furs more con-
siderable.

There will be nothing to fear from the Iroquois when the nations
of the south, strengthened through their intercourse with the French,
shall stop their conquests and prevent their being powerful, by carryif}g
off a great number of their women and children, which they can eastly
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do from the inferiority of the weapons of their enemies. As respects
commerce, that post will probably increase our trafhic still more than
has been done by the establishment of Fort Frontenac, which was built
with success for that purpose, for if the Illinois and their allies were to
catch the beavers, which the Iroquois now kill in their neighborhood
in order to carry to the English, the latter, not being any longer able to
get them from their own colonies, would be obliged to buy them from
us, to the great benefit of those who have the privilege of this traffic.

These were the views which the Sieur de La Salle had in placing
the settlement where it is. The colony has already felt its effects, as all
our allies, who had fled after the departure of M. de Frontenac, have
returned to their ancient dwellings, in consequence of the confidence
caused by the fort, near which they have defcated a party of Iroquois,
and have built four other forts to protect themselves from hostile incur-
sions. The Governor, M. de La Barre, and the Intendant, M. de Meulles,
have told the Sieur de La Salle that they would write to Monsiegneur
to inform him of the importance of that fort in order to keep the
Iroquois in check, and that M. de Lagny had proposed its establishment
in 1678. Monseigneur Colbert permitted Sieur de La Salle to build it,
and granted it to him as a property. In order to prove to Monseigneur
the sincerity of his intentions still more, and that he had no other
motive in selecting this site than the protection of the men he has leit
there, and whom he did not think right to place in such small number,
within the reach of the Spaniards, and without cannon and munition,
or to leave in so distant a country, where, in case
of sickness, they could expect no assistance nor
return home from thence without danger—he offers
again to descend the river a hundred leagues lower
down, and nearer the sea, and to establish there
another fort, demolishing the first, in the expecta-
tion, however, that Monseigneur would consider
the expenses incurred in its establishment.

It may be said, firstly, that this colony might
injure the commerce of Quebec, and cause the
desertion of its inhabitants; but the answer is, that
by descending lower down no beavers will be found.
Thus the first difficulty will be removed, which
again would not have any foundation, even i{ Fort
Saint Louis were to remain. The Illinois will
only kill the beaver, which after their departure,
would fall to the share of the Iroquois only, as no
other nation dares to approach those districts.
There is also no likelihood that deserters would
choose a long and difficult route, at the end of
which they would be still subject to be apprehended
and punished, whilst they have another much
shorter and easier one to New England, where they
are quite secure, and which many take every year.

A second objection would be, that the goodncss
of the country would attract so many people as to
diminish the population of France, as it is said
Mexico and Peru have depopulated Spain; but,
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besides, there is every appearance that the current of the river has
formed these kind of dikes by shoving on both sides the mud with
which the winds fill the neighboring creeks, because those causeways
are to the right and left of the river, forming for it a bed, as it were,
by their separation. Nor can it be believed that these levees will ever
change their position, since they consist of hard soil, covered with
pretty large trees, following regularly the banks of the river, which
form the bed of it for more than six leagues into the sea.

In the memoir respecting New Biscay, the difficulty has been dealt
with respecting the inconstance of the savages. They know too well
how important it is to them to live on good terms with us to fail in
their fidelity, in which they have never becn known to fail in New
France. Such an event is still less to be apprehended from those who
are obedient and submissive to their caciques, whose good will it is
sufficient to gain, in order to keep the rest in obedience.

This visit to Paris is involved with the alleged mission
of Penalosa, a renegade Spaniard, who had been Governor of
New Mexico, and who, it is said, was offering to head a force
to wrest that country and its mines from Spain and annex it
to Louisiana. Therefore, it is said, the landing of La Salle’s
fleet at Matagorda Bay, instead of at the mouth of the Mis-
sissippi, was to establish a better base for the alleged New
Mexican enterprise ; that Penalosa was to
join La Salle in due time with a detachment
of French troops ; that otherwise La Salle,
who could not have mistaken Matagorda
Bay for the mouth of the Mississippi,
would not have abandoned the ships till
they reached the proper destination.

However this may be, it is certain that
La Salle was supplied with the means of
establishing a post, seven priests, one
hundred soldiers, 180 mechanics and labor-
ers, some with families, and left France in
July, 1684, with four ships, to be com-
manded while at sea by Captain Beaujeau,
of the French Navy; that the announced
destination was the mouth of the Mississippi,
and that, either by accident or design, the
ships passed the mouth of the river and
landed La Salle in Matagorda Bay, one of
the ships being wrecked at the entrance.
Not a trace has been discovered of any
reinforcements, under Penalosa, or any one
else, sent to join La Salle. On the contrary,

besides that, France is more peopled than Spain LoThe great explorer who took possession of the known circumstances of La Salle’s dis-
has ever been, and that the expulsion of one (e Niv {,h.,i?,f,',';,c,ﬁfRéuifl’rf?;n:{:o?g:f“:nd astrous failure pretty clearly indicate that

KN H was murdered in Louisis in 1687. The iilus- H
million, eight hundred thousand Moors, added to e pred i g;‘l‘"ﬂ:; tl:; a3 Al ﬁc;‘:‘;' there was a quarrel between him and Beau-

the great wars she had to sustain, is the real cause after the portrait in “"Voyages des Francois.” by

of its diminished population, it is certain that the i;:gc“,i:;:,;ﬁ,l‘:‘:,f,?,;1},","{??"\';‘:—:)?_-,1'1}1"}&}:;

N copy of this painting was exhibiied by (he Marooning him on a savage coast, deserted

number of the few Spaniards in these kingdoms,

jeau, and that the latter, after practically

R Society in their section in the Anthropolc H H . ..
who are not above forty thousand, is not a number  Building at the Louisiana Purchase Exposition, him and disappeared with the remaining

of emigrants sufficient to make any perceptible

change in France, which already counts more than one hundred thousand
settlers in foreign countries. It would be even desirable that instead of
peopling other foreign kingdoms, the riches of the country newly dis-
covered should attract them to it. Morcover, this objection has already
been answered, when it was said that the country can be defended by
one or two forts, for the protection of which only from four hundred to
five hundred men are required, a number comprising only one half of
the crew of a large vessel.

Whatever has been imagined respecting the mud and breakers,
which are supposed to stop the mouth of the river [Mississippi], is
casily disproved by the experience of those who have been there, and
who found the entrance fine, deep and capable of admitting the largest
vessel. It would appear that the land, or levees de terre, are covered in
many parts with good growing along the channel of the river very far
into the sea; and where the sea is deep they would not be suspected,
because even the creeks of the sea are tolerable deep at that distance, and

ships and part of his outfit in the night.
Beaujeau reported that he was under orders to return as soon
as he landed La Salle, and that he did not leave until La
Salle had declined his offer to bring needed supplies from
the West Indies.

With pieces of the wreck brought up on canoes, and with
timber dragged from a prairie grove a league away, La Salle
erected a fort on the banks of the Lavaca, a small stream
entering the bay on the west side. Here, for two years from
January, 1685, his command suffered from lack of food, and
from malarial fevers and Indian hostilities, while he, with his
scouting parties, made continued vain efforts to find his way
to the Mississippi. Hopeless suffering and dissension
engendered a mutinous spirit, and the killing of La Salle’s
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nephew by one of the men, was followed by his own assassi-
nation, one of his men luring him to a spot on a branch of
the Trinity, where two others shot him from ambush in the
presence of the astonished priest, Father Anastasius, on March
19, 1687. In his report to his superior of the Jesuit Order,
Father Anastasius Douay told of the murder in these words:

After having passed these nations, the most disheartening of all our
misfortunes overtook us. It was the murder of Monsieur de l.a Salle,
of the Sieur de Moranget, and of some others. Our prudent Com-
mander finding himself in a2 country full of game, after all the party had
recruited and lived for several days on every kind of good meat, sent
the Sieur Moranget, his lackey Sager, and seven or eight of his people,
to a place where our hunter, the Shawnee Nika, had left a quantity of
buffalo meat [beeuf] to dry, so as not to be obliged to stop so often to
hunt.

The wisdom of Monsieur de La Salle had not been able to foresee
the plot which some of his people would make to slay his nephew, as
they suddenly resolved to do, and actually did on the 17th of March, by
a blow of an axe dealt by one whom charity does not permit me to
name [Liotot]. They also killed the valet of the Sieur de l.a Salle, and
the Indian, Nika, who, at the risk of his life, had supported them for
more than three years. The Sieur de Moranget lingered for about two
hours, giving every mark of a death precious in the sight of God, par-
doning his murderers and embracing them ; and making acts of sorrow
and contrition, as they themselves assured us, after they recovered from
the unhappy blindness, He was a perfectly honest man, and a good
Christian, confessing every week or fortnight on our march. I have
every reason to hope that God has shown him mercy.

The wretches resolved not to stop here, and not satisfied with this
murder, formed a design of attempting their commander’s life, as they
had reason to fear his resentment and chastisement. We were {ull two
leagues off ; the Sieur de La Salle, troubled at the delay of the Sieur de
Moranget and his people, from whom he had been separated now for
two or three days, began to fear that they had been surprised by the
Indians. Asking me to accompany him, he took two Indians and set
out. All the way he conversed with me of matters of piety, grace and
predestination ; expatiating on all his obligations to God for having
saved him from so many dangers during the last twenty years that he
had traversed America. He seemed to me peculiarly penetrated with a
sense of God’s benefits to him. Suddenly I saw him plunged into a
deep melancholy, for which he himself could not account; he was so
troubled that I did not know him any longer ; as this state was far from
being usual, I roused him from his lethargy. Two leagues after we
found the bloody cravat of his lackey; he perceived two eagles flying
over his head, and at the same time discovered some of his people on
the edge of the river, which he approached, asking them what had
become of his nephew. They answered us in broken words, showing
us where we should find him. We proceeded some steps along the
bank to the fatal spot, where two of these murderers were hidden in the
grass, one on each side with guns cocked ; one missed Monsieur de La
Salle, the one firing at the same time shot him in the head; he died an
hour after, on the 1gth of March, 1687. ’

I expected the same fate, but this danger did not occupy my
thoughts, penetrated with grief at so cruel a spectacle. I saw him fall a
step from me, with his face all full of blood. I watered it with my tears,
exhorting him, to the best of my power, to die well. He had confessed
and fulfilled his devotions just before we started; he had still time to
recapitulate a part of his life, and I gave him absolution. During his
last moments he elicited all the acts of a good Christian, grasping my
hand at every word I suggested, and especially at that of pardoning his
enemies. Meanwhile, his murderers, as much alarmed as I, began to
strike their breasts, and detest their blindness. I could not leave the
spot when he had expired without having buried him as well as I could,
after which I raised a cross over his grave.

Thus died our wise commander, constant in adversity, intrepid,
generous, engaging, dexterous, skillful, capable of everything. He
who for twenty years had softened the fierce temper of countless savage
tribes was massacred by the hands of his own domestics, whom he had
loaded with caresses. He died in the prime of life, in the midst of his
course and labors, without having seen their success.

Occupied with these thoughts, which he had himself a thousand
times suggested to us, while relating the events of the new discoveries,
I unceasingly adored the inscrutable designs of God in this conduct of
his providence, uncertain still what fate he reserved for us, as our des-

peradoes plotted nothing less than our destruction.  We at last entered
the place where Monsieur Cavelier was; the assassins entered the cabin
unceremoniously, and seized all that was there. I hadarrived a moment
before them. I had no need to speak, for as soon as he beheld my
countenance all bathed in tears, the Sieur Cavelier exclaimed aloud,
“Ah, my poor brother is dead.”” This holy ecclesiastic, whose virtue has
been so often tried in the apostolic labors of Canada, fell at once on his
knees ; his nephew, the Sieur Cavelier, myself, and some others, did the
same, to prepare to die the same death, but the wretches, touched by
some sentintents of compassion at the sight of the venerable old man,
and, besides, half penitent for the murders they had committed, resolved
to spare us on condition that we should never return to France; but, as
they were still undecided, and many of them wished to return home, we
licard them often say that they must get rid of us; that otherwise we
would accuse them before the tribunals if we once had them in the
kingdom.,

They clected as chief the murderer of the Sieur de La Salle [Du-
haut], and, at last, after many deliberations, resolved to push on to that
fanmous nation of the Ceenis, Accordingly, after marching together for
several days, crossing rivers and rivers, everywhere treated by these
wretches as servants, having nothing but what they left, we reached the
tribe without accident,

Meanwhile the justice of God accomplished the punishment of these
men in default of human justice. Jealousy and desire of command arose
between Hiens and the Sieur de La Salle’s murderer; each one of the
guilty band sided on one side or the other. We had passed the Ceenis,
after some stay there, and were already at the Nassonis, where the four
deserters, whom I mentioned in the first expedition, rejoined us. On
the eve of Ascension seeing all together, and our wretches resolved to
kill each other, I made them an exhortation on the festival, at which
they scemed affected, and resolved to confess; but this did not last.
Those who most regretted the murder of their commander and leader,
had sided with Hiens, who, seizing his opportunity two days after,
sought to punish crime by crime. In our presence he shot the mur-
derer of La Sall~ through the heart with a pistol; he died on the spot,
unshriven, unable even to utter the names of Jesus and Mary. Another
who was with Hiens shot the murderer of the Sieur de Moranget
[Liotot], in the side with a musket ball. He had time to confess, after
which a Frenchman fired a blank cartridge at his head. His hair, and
then his shirt and clothes, took fire and wrapped him in flames, and in
this torment he expired. The third author of the plot and murder
fled. Hiens wished to make way with him, and thus completely avenge
the death of the Sieur de La Salle, but the Sieur Joutel conciliated them
and it stopped there,

By this means Hiens remained chief of the wretched band. We had
to return to the Ccenis where they had resolved to settle, not daring to
return to France for fear of punishment.

The devoted Lieutenant Tonti, made anxious by his failure
to hear any tidings from his chief, went from the Illinois to
the mouth of the Arkansas, in 1687, where he established a
post and began a strenuous and persistent search for his lost
friend. In 1689, after a long exploration of the wilderness,
he left, at an Indian village on the river, a letter for La Salle,
written on bark, and concluding with the words: “It is a
great sorrow to me that we must return under the misfortune
of not having found you, after two canoes have skirted the
coast of Mexico for thirty leagues, and the coast of Florida
for twenty-five.”” When Le Moyne d'Iberville and his brother
Bienville were hunting for the Mississippi ten years later, they
landed at this Indian village, obtained this * speaking bark ”
and a prayer book from the Indians, and thus identified the
river they were traversing as the Mississippi. The loyal,
truthful and heroic Tonti ended a life of invaluable pioneer
service by dying of fever, at Mobile, in 1704.

Only six of the Matagorda colonists ever returned to civ-
ilization, several by way of Tonti’s Arkansas post. A few
others were “‘ rescued ”” by Spanish troops after the Indians
had been employed or permitted to massacre all the men,
women and children left on the Lavaca. A few survivors
were needed to tell what the Indians did, and how the
Spaniards arrived too late to * rescue ”’ any more.
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When La Salle landed at Matagorda Bay, the Rio Grande
del Norte or Rio Bravo was the half-way landmark between
Matagorda and Panuco, the most eastern Spanish settlement
in Mexico. Therefore, France claimed that river as the
western boundary of Louisiana, and still claimed it when the
territory was ceded to the United States, in 1803. Other
French posts were established later in Texas, although Spain
disputed the French claim. The United States continued to
assert its claim to Texas under the Louisiana purchase treaty,
and on occasion sent troops there to assert this claim, until
1819, when we gave Texas to Spain, in part pay for East and
West Florida, and for all of Spain’s incontrovertible first dis-
covery claims to the Pacific coast north of latitude forty-two
degrees.

The explorations of Joliet, Marquette, La Salle and Hen-
nepin opened the way for Canadian fur traders and their
“couriers of the woods,”” into the valleys of the Upper Mis-
sissippi and Ohio. They found their way westward in small
but increasing numbers to
these streams, and all their
northern and eastern tribu-
taries. Wherever the hunter
could pilot the missionary to
some Indian village awaiting
conversion, some zealous
Jesuit or Recollect father was
ready to accompany him.

The mission established by
Marquette at Kaskaskia in
1678 had in 1700 become
quite a French village, and
so had near-by Cahokia, op-
posite the present site of St.
Louis. The noted mission
and trading post at Vin-
cennes, on the “St. Jerome,”
or Wabash River, was estab-
lished in 1702, and others
were being scattered far apart
on the lakes and rivers. The
missionary father was the
patriarch and practically the
only lawgiver and judge in
these isolated little settle-
ments, the referee in all con-

their Atlantic Coast colonies. The wars which each of the
rivals accused the other of provoking, and the Indian massa-
cres which each accused the other of instigating on the Atlan-
tic slope, merely postponed the date of migration from east
to west,

But the navigation of the St. Lawrence was closed by ice
for five months or more every year, and those who dreamed
of extending ‘“New France'’ into the Mississippi Valley soon
saw that communication with the outside world by way of the
Mississippi and Gulf of Mexico was a condition precedent to
the successful cultivation of the soil, and the introduction of
a permanent civilization in the new territory. Louis XIV
became aware of its possibilities too late in his life to develop
them as he might have done, if the resources and genius wasted
during his long reign in making himself *‘the Grand Monarch’’
of FEurope had from the first been exerted in peopling his
American territories, and fostering the arts of peace. The
work he took up in the decrepitude of his last years soon fell

into the feeble hands of the
Orleans regency during the
long minority of Louis XV,
and the opportunity of France
had passed away forever when,
in a subsequent reign, the
thirteen English colonies
began to swarm over the
Alleghanies in that resistless
march to the Pacific so graph-
ically described long after by
de Tocqueville.

The men who, under orders
from Louis XIV, opened up
the Mlississippi from posts
established at its mouth, were
three American brothers, born
in Montreal of French descent.

Pierre le Moyne d'lber-
ville, bom July 16, 1661,
became a midshipman in the
French navy in 1675, served
in the overland expedition
against the English forts on
Hudson’s Bay in 16go, and
was a leader in the retaliatory
Quebec expedition of 1692.

troversies, the christener of
the babes, and the sole teacher
of old and young. A little
more intelligence, and the

JEAN BAPTISTE LE MOYNE, SIEUR DE BIENVILLE IIL

Born in Montrea! on February 23, 1680, Bienville, the most famous and best beloved
of the French Governors of Louisiana, accompanicd his older brother, Iberville, on his
colonizing expedition in 1699, and on the death of his brother Sauvolle, on July 23, 1701,
became Governor under the French King and ruled the colony until the concessions to
Crozat and Law placed the power of Government in the hands of the financiers, Bien-
ville became Governor again in 1718, and in that year founded the city of New Orleans,

He was given command of a
frigate in 1697, and had a high
standing as a skillful officer of
the navy when, in 1608, the

missionary’s influence over

which he named after the Duc d'Orlcans, then Regent of France. In 1722 he again King gave him command of

these simple white wood-  relinquished the reins of office, but ten years later, when Law’s monopo? was_finally the expedition sent to plant
b

surrendered, again became Governor, but resigned in 17?1 and returne
rangers, were all that differen- where he died at the age of eighty-eight, the last years o
3

to France,
his life being spent in the

efforts to prevent the French King from ceding Louisiana t(:'Spain.f The illustr:m'onf permanent and fortified col-
tiated the latter from their I8 from a comtemporary portrait in the collection of the late Dicrre M arnryha copy o onies at the mouth of the

which was exhibited in the Historical Section at the Louisiana Purchase

Indian acquaintances. The
fur trader needed this influence in his business, and if he did
not establish his post at a mission, he soon got a mission
established at his post. Even the white ‘“‘squaw man,” living
with a wife of some distant Indian tribe, felt bound to visit
these missions at intervals to make his confession, sell his
peltries, and have his young half-breeds christened.

These remote and feeble germs of our present civilization
were but indirectly affected by the frequent wars between
France and England, or by the frequent collisions between

xposition.

Mississippi, and to establish
direct commercial intercourse between its valley and France.
His expedition arrived in Mobile Bay January 31, 1609.
Associated with him in all his operations in carrying out the
purposes of his mission was his younger brother, Jean Baptiste
le Moyne DBienville, born in Mlontreal February 23, 1680,
who, young as he was, soon became and long remained
prominent in Louisiana affairs.

Settlements were made first on Ship Island and Dauphin
Island, and in Marcl, 1699, Iberville explored the river from
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its mouth to Red River, and made his way back through the
Iberville River and lakes Maurepas and Ponchartrain, thus
circumnavigating that “Island of New Orleans,” which has
since figured so prominently in treaties and boundary contro-
versies. He named the lakes after two of the French minis-
ters. Other settlements were made on the mainland at the
head of Biloxi Bay, Bay St. Lonis and the west bank of
Mobile River. Further explorations of the surrounding coun-
try were made, and a fort built with twelve cannon on its
bastions at Biloxi. Iberville then sailed back to France for
more colonists and supplies in May, 1700, leaving Lieutenant
Bienville, his brother, in charge of further explorations, and
leaving the supreme authority to his other brother, Le Moyne
Sauvolle, whom he afterwards induced the King to commis-
sion as Governor.

Sauvolle was born in Montreal in 1671, and on account of
his brilliant talents and accomplishments was known in France
as ‘“‘the American prodigy.” Racine predicted that he would
be a great poet; Bossuet that he wouid be a great orator;
Villars that he would be a Marshal of France. DBut he died
at Bifoxi, July 22, 1701.

In the meantime Bienville had been continuing his explor-
ations of the rivers, bays and adjacent country. On one of
these trips with his soldiers in open boats, he encountered an
English ship, commanded by Captain Barr, ascending the
river at a bend below where New Orleans was afterwards
built. He made the captain turn and go back to the Gulf,
telling him that the country was in possession of a French
garrison, under strict orders to expel all intruders under any
foreign flag. The captain went back, and that bend is to this
day marked on the river maps as “‘English Tum."”

Towards the beginning of 1701, Iberville returned from
France with two ships loaded with colonists and supplies, and
announced that Sauvolle had been appointed Governor of
Louisiana Province, Bienville Lieutenant-Governor, and Bots-
briant major of the fort. Among those arriving at this time
came Leseuer, the geologist, and St. Denis, afterwards a brave
leader in many of the enterprises of the infant colony.

Leseuer ascended the Mississippi to the Falls of St.
Anthony, and thence up the St. Peters and the Blue Earth,
which he called Green River, and on the latter built Fort
Thuilier. There he collected ores with which he returned to

Yiloxi, and later to France, leaving a small garrison to hold
Fort Thuilier. The garrison remained until 1704, when, driven
away by the Sioux, they returned to Biloxi.

During his stay in 1701, Iberville founded a town and
started the building of Fort Rosalie on the Mississippi near
Natchez, established another post at the Leseuer mines, now
Mankato, Minnesota, and planted a colony at Mobile. In
1702 he was called away to take command of a line-of-battle
ship, but remained a staunch friend of the colony while serving
with distinction elsewhere, and died at Havana, July, 17086,
while preparing for a cruise on the Carolina coast.

After the death of Sauvolle and the departure of Iberville,
the young Governor Bienville had many difficulties to encoun-
ter. The colonists were mostly unacclimated “tenderfeet,”
untrained in the practical work of making homes in a wilder-
ness infested by wild beasts and savages. Tlhe coast settle-
meits were made on sandy barrens, at Biloxi, especially, and
Bienville moved his headquarters to Mobile in 1702. The
work of exploring in search of better locations went on. He
soon learned that the chief town should be on the Mississippi
River. He tried to make the colony self-sustaining by agri-
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culture; tried Indian labor and, when it failed, recommendeqd
the bringing of slaves from San Domingo, as the colonists
still had to look to France and San Domingo for supplies,

Spain established a post at Pensacola to prevent the French
from encroaching on land east of the Perdido, and when war
broke out between Lngland and Spain, Bienville thought it
agreeable to the ** Bourbon Family Compact” to aid the
Spaniards at D’ensacola with arms and other reinforcements,
Insuing troubles with the Alabama Indians were supposed to
have been instigated by the English of the Atlantic colonies
in retaliation. In 1704 a big French man-of-war brought a
cargo of provisions, military stores, seventy-five soldiers, five
more priests, two nuns for hospital service, and twenty-three
young women of good character. They were immediately
provided with husbands, and in due time the first white child
of Louisiana, Jean Frangois Le Camp, was born.

The record of the colonies near the gulf was, during the
first eighteen years of the eighteenth century, a story of poverty
and sickness, of many explorations and of Indian troubles,
with but little growth in population or production. When
Anthony Crozat, an eminent and wealthy French merchant,
acquired a monopoly of the trade of Louisiana Province,
September 26, 1712, with substantial control over its govern-
ment, he named his own governor, Antoine de la Mothe
Cadillac, and took possession of an imperial domain con-
taining only three hundred and sixty whites, twenty negro
slaves and seventy-five soldiers,

It was expected that, with great commercial skill and
financial resources, Crozat would make his monopoly im-
mensely valuable by developing prosperous industries, and
thus attracting colonists. But he undertook to protect his
monopoly by restrictions on commerce that discouraged
enterprise and repelled immigrants. Governor Cadillac applied
himself to the discovery of mines, and sent forth many explor-
ing expeditions. Bienville was sent to complete Fort Rosalie,
which he finished in 1716, and was then sent on ill-advised
campaigns against Indians, which created enduring enmities
and ultimately bore bitter fruits. La Harpe and Saint Denis
were sent at the head of other expeditions to establish posts
in Texas, and keep the Spaniards west of the Rio Grande.
But after losing money continually and heavily for five years,
Crozat surrendered his grant in 1717, having added less than
three hundred to the population of three hundred and eighty
with which he began operations at Mobile, Biloxi, Natchez
(Rosalie), and the two islands.

This brings us to the era of John Law's famous “Com-
pagnie des Indes,” and his no less famous * Mississippi
Scheme,” or “‘South Sea Bubble.” The romantic features of
this man’s character and career do not belong to the history
of Louisiana, and the merits and demerits of his system and
achievements have been the theme of volumes written by M.
Thiers and other eminent statesmen and publicists, who have
given him credit for marvelous financial skill, and for honest
faith in the efficacy of his plan to relieve France from her
burdens and restore her prosperity. But his methods evoked
a storm of speculation which he could not control. Ina few
years it defeated him, bankrupted his company, and filled the
cities of France with broken speculators whose fury drove him
forth without a dollar in his pocket, to die in poverty in Italy.

In the height of his power and success, on September 6.v
1718, the control of Louisiana commerce was granted to 11‘15
company, which bound itself to send to Louisiana siX
thousand white colonists and three thousand negro slaves.
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The Western Company took up the work vigorously, and
there was greater activity and progress, until Law’s over-
throw, in 1720, left the Company’s affairs in feebler hands
and much hampered by embarrassments. Hundreds of
German and other colonists were promptly sent over to
cultivate twelve miles square of land granted to John Law,
on the Arkansas, and other lands of the province. Francis
Renault was sent over, in 1718, with two hundred white
miners from France, and five hundred negro slaves from
San Domingo, to work the Sainte Genevieve mines. They
opened mines which are valuable properties to this day, but
they did not have the diamond drill and transportation
facilities which have in recent years made that region of
disseminated ores the greatest lead-producing district in the
world. The cultivation of rice, indigo and sugar in Lower
Louisiana, and of cereals in Upper Louisiana, was begun on
such a scale as to make the province soon self-supporting,
and the permanence of its communities had been assured by
Law’s vigorous measures be-
fore its progress was checked
by his downfall in 1720, and
by the financial depression at-
tending that event.

In 1718, Bienville, after
M. de L’Epenay had for a
short time superseded Cadillac,
again became governor, and
that same year founded New
Orleans, named after the Duc
{'Orleans, then Regent. But
several years elapsed before it
was decided whether the pro-
vincial capital should be New
Orleans, Manchac or Natchez,
where a rival settlement was
made in 1720. Fort Chartres,
near Kaskaskia, was estab-
tished in 1718, In 1721 M.
Du Bourgmont establishad the
trading post of Fort Orleans
on an island in the Missouri
River, at the mouth of the
Osage, and Kaskaskia was
made the capital of the newly-
created District of Illinois,
with Boisbriant as vice-gov-
ernor. In 1722 it was found
that there were twenty-one
hundred negro slaves in the
province. That year Indians

JEAN PHILIPPE FRANCOIS RENAULT.

(Saint Louis del Carlorette) in Texas, about two hundred
and fifty miles from Nachitoches, and from this fort had
explored the Arkansas, descending that river to its mouth.
Without enumerating all these expeditions, that branch of the
subject may be dismissed with the incontrovertible statement
that France at no time ever hesitated to assert and defend her
claim to the Rio Grande as the southwestern boundary of
Louisiana, until she ceded the latter to Spain. The United
States also officially reasserted, and firmly defended through
all administrations, this French claim from 1803, until we ceded
Texas to Spain, in 1819, in payment for the transfer to us of
Florida, and of Spain’s paramount discovery claims to the
Pacific coast north of latitude forty-two degrees.

Spain’s claim to Texas, like her claim that Florida was
extended to the Mississippi and the Ohio by De Soto’s and
Pifieda’s explorations, was never conceded by any other
nation. She had just as much right to claim the rest of
Louisiana on account of Coronado’s expedition in 1540. But
the expedition she sent to
establish a post on the Missouri
in 1720, was utterly destroyed
by the Indians, and she never
afterwards took possession east
of the New Mexican mount-
ains, till the United States
“dismembered the Louisiana
Purchase’” (as Benton said,
and as Jefferson and Jackson
held) by giving her a new
boundary, including Texas and
other Louisiana territory in
1819.

After Law left France, the
efforts to people Louisiana and
develop its industries slack-
ened. They almost ceased
when the company became
bankrupt in 1722, DBut the
monopoly remained an incubus
until itwas surrendered in 1732.
In the meantime the popula-
tion had been largely increased
and made more self-sustain-
ing, in spite of the financial
depression in France, in spite
of much sickness and loss of
life in war with the Indians.
Bienville had been succeeded
as colonial governor by Bois-
briant and Perrier, and in 1727

surprised and burned Fort
Orleans, and massacred the

This statue, by A. S. Calder of Philadelphia, stood upon the east approach to the
Terrace of States, near the (German louse, Renault was the agent of one of John
Law’s Companies, the Company of Saint PPhilips, and came to Lousiana from France in
1719. e brought two hundred artificers and miners, stopped at San Domingo and

the latter hegan a levee thirty-
six miles long to protect New

occupants. But it was reoccu-
pied, and from it M. Du Bourgmont explored the Missouri
River a long way up in 1724. In 1722 Governor Dienville
settled the capital question by removing the government
offices to New Orleans. In the meantime, he had sent
St. Denis, in 1718, with a force that explored Texas as
far as to the Presidio of Saint John the Baptist, on the
lower Rio Grande del Norte. Saint Denis had been sent
to prevent the Spaniards from establishing a post at Nachi-
toches in 1716, and later he built a fort there and was com-
mandant of it. La Harpe, in 1720, had built another fort

bought five hundred slaves to work in the mines—the l.a Motte lead mines in Missouri.

Orleans. In 1729 occurred the
awful Rosalie massacre, when the Natchez Indians sur-
prised and murdered two hundred male settlers, and made
prisoners of five hundred women, children and negro slaves.
A war followed in which the Natchez Indians were completely
exterminated. The rescued female orphans of this massacre
were cared for in the new Ursuline Convent, at New Orleans,
until they could be provided with homes among the people.
This convent was sent over from France in 1727, and still
remains one of the venerable institutions of that city.
When the monopoly was surrendered in 1732, the colonists
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in Louisiana numbered about seven thousand, including three
thousand slaves, and had learned how to cultivate the soil
successfully. The King proclaimed the commerce of the
province equally free to all his subjects, and a new era of slow
but self-sustaining progress was begun. Bienville again
became and remained Governor until 1742, when, after two
unsuccessful campaigns against the Chickasaw Indians, he
was superseded by Pierre Rigaud, Marquis de Vaudreuil. At
the age of sixty-two, after more than forty years of service,
the veteran ‘‘father of the colony,” much regretted by the
people for whom he had labored and fought so long, retired to
France, and died there in 1765, after France had surrendered
both Canada and Louisiana, both his birthplace and the
beloved province to which
e had nobly devoted all
the best years of his long
life.

Two years before Bien-
ville retired in 1742, a
trading post was estab-
lished at New Madrid, and
local tradition claims
that Sainte Genevieve had
been founded in 1735, but
authentic records of the
town do not antedate 1754.
He had seen new settlers
beginning to arrive every
year, and the settlements
become self-supporting,
producing abundant crops
of cereals, indigo and
tobacco for home con-
sumption, and something
to export besides peltries.
He had seen French trad-
ing posts extended from
the Great Lakes across the
Missouri Valley to the
Yellowstone, and north-
ward into the Winnipeg
country. 